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United States

Securities and Exchange Commission
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of ta Securities Exchange Act of 193
For the fiscal year ended January 1, 2011
Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) bthe Securities Exchange Act of 193
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-31410

COTT CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

CANADA 98-0154711
(State or Other Jurisdiction (IRS Employer
of Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)
6525 VISCOUNT ROAD L4V 1H6

MISSISSAUGA, ONTARIO

5519 WEST IDLEWILD AVENUE
TAMPA, FLORIDA, UNITED STATES 33634

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code(905) 672-1900 and (813) 313-1800
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) diie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
COMMON SHARES WITHOUT NOMINAL OR NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE
PAR VALUE TORONTO STOCK EXCHANGE

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) t¢iie Act: NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edBéturities Act.  Yed No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes[d No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranthés filed all reports required to be filed by Sewxti3 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofah$or such shorter period that the registrans wemjuired to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementsie past 90 days. Ye&l No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldsnstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&eb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsio Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8 232.405 of tthapter) during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the regigtwas required to submit and post such file¥es [ No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiélers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is oontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowdgdig definitive proxy or information statementsanporated by reference in Part Il of this
form 10-K or any amendment to this form 10-K1

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, noa-accelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See the definitions of “largeederated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “small@porting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filel]] Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer[] Smaller reporting compan
(Do not check if a smaller reporting compe

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a shethpany (as defined in Rule 12b-12 of the Actyes [ No

The aggregate market value of the common equity Inglihonaffiliates of the registrant as of July 3, 2010sgxh on the closing sale pri
of $5.67 for the registrant’'s common stock as reggbon the New York Stock Exchange on July 3, 20143 $461.6 million.

(Reference is made to the last paragraph of Pdteth 5 for a statement of assumptions upon wtiiehcalculation is made).
The number of shares outstanding of the regissammmon stock as of March 8, 2011 was 94,750,120.
Documents incorporated by reference
Portions of our definitive proxy circular for th@21 Annual Meeting of Shareowners, to be filed with20 days of January 1, 2011,



incorporated by reference in Part lll. Such prokgudar, except for the parts therein which haverbspecifically incorporated by
reference, shall not be deemed “filed” for the msgs of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with United States (“U.S.”) generaltgepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) in U.S. dollars. Unless otherwise indicdtall amounts in this report are in U.S. dolland &.S. GAAP.

Any reference to 2010, 2009 and 2008 correspondsitéiscal years ended January 1, 2011, Janué&912), and December 27, 2008,
respectively.

Forward-looking statements

In addition to historical information, this repand the reports and documents incorporated byemderin this report may contain
statements relating to future events and futureliesThese statements are “forward-looking” witthie meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and applicable Caradsecurities legislation and involve known andnown risks, uncertainties, future
expectations and other factors that may causelaesialts, performance or achievements of Cott Ga@ipon to be materially different from
any future results, performance or achievementsesspd or implied by such forwalabking statements. Such statements include, leunai
limited to, statements that relate to projectiohsates, earnings, earnings per share, cash flrapstal expenditures or other financial items,
discussions of estimated future revenue enhancemaendtcost savings. These statements also relate tiusiness strategy, goals and
expectations concerning our market position, fuaperations, margins, profitability, liquidity adpital resources. Generally, words such as
“anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “end®vor,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “will” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “should”
and similar terms and phrases are used to idefotifyard-looking statements in this report and ie ttocuments incorporated in this report by
reference. These forward-looking statements refleatent expectations regarding future events gadating performance and are made only
as of the date of this report.

The forward-looking statements are not guarantéésgture performance or events and, by their natare based on certain estimates
and assumptions regarding interest and foreignamg rates, expected growth, results of operatsréprmance, business prospects and
opportunities and effective income tax rates, whith subject to inherent risks and uncertaintiesteMal factors or assumptions that were
applied in drawing a conclusion or making an estins®t out in forward-looking statements may inelugut are not limited to assumptions
regarding management’s current plans and estimatesbility to remain a low cost supplier, andeetfive management of commodity costs.
Although we believe the assumptions underlyingeatfesward-looking statements are reasonable, atlyesie assumptions could prove to be
inaccurate and, as a result, the forwlaking statements based on those assumptions poaVe to be incorrect. Our operations involve s
and uncertainties, many of which are outside ofamntrol, and any one or any combination of théslesrand uncertainties could also affect
whether the forward-looking statements ultimataigve to be correct. These risks and uncertaintielside, but are not limited to, those
described in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” angesthere in this report and those described frora tortime in our future reports filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)@adadian securities regulatory authorities.

We undertake no obligation to update any infornmationtained in this report or to publicly reledse tesults of any revisions to
forward-looking statements to reflect events ocwinstances of which we may become aware of afedalte of this report. Undue reliance
should not be placed on forward-looking statements.

All future written and oral forward-looking statents attributable to us or persons acting on oualieie expressly qualified in their
entirety by the foregoing.
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PART I

ITEM1. BUSIN ESS
Our Company

Cott Corporation, together with its consolidatetisdiaries (“Cott,” “the Company,” “our Company,Cbtt Corporation,” “we,” “us,or
“our”), is the world’s largest retailer brand beage company. Our product lines include carbonatéidisinks (“CSDs"), clear, still and
sparkling flavored waters, energy-related drink&d, juice-based products, bottled water and reéadirink teas.

We operate in five operating segments—North Ameidaich includes our U.S. reporting unit and Canegsorting unit), United
Kingdom (“U.K.”) (which includes our United Kingdomeporting unit and our Continental European repgrtinit), Mexico, Royal Crown
International (“RCI”) and All Other (which includesir international corporate expenses and our ¥egiarting unit, which ceased operations
at the end of fiscal 2008).

On August 17, 2010, we completed the acquisitibe {Cliffstar Acquisition”) of substantially all dhe assets and liabilities of Cliffstar
Corporation (“Cliffstar”) and its affiliated compgss pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement dalied,J2010 for approximately $500.0
million payable in cash, $14.0 million in deferreahsideration to be paid over three years and mgaitit consideration of up to $55.0 million.

We incorporated in 1955 and are governed by thea@aBusiness Corporations Act. Our registered Ganaffice is located at 333
Avro Avenue, Pointe-Claire, Quebec, Canada HIR BWWBour principal executive offices are locate8%#9 W. Idlewild Avenue, Tampa,
Florida, United States 33634 and 6525 Viscount Rb&ssissauga, Ontario, Canada L4V 1H6.

Competitive Strengths

We believe that our competitive strengths will deals to maintain our position as one of the warldading retailer brand beverage
providers and capitalize on future opportunitiegiiwe sustainable and profitable growth in theglaan.

Leading Producer of Retailer Brand Beverages witlivBrse Product Portfolic

We currently have the number one private label etagkare in each of the United States, Canad&Jiited Kingdom and Mexico by
annual volume of cases produced. Our product lm#ade CSDs, clear, still and sparkling flavoredters, energy-related drinks, juice, juice-
based products, bottled water and ready-to-driak.té/e believe our proven ability to innovate aadaiop our product portfolio to meet
changing consumer demand will position us welldotmue to serve our retailer customers and th@isamers. During 2010, we launched
more than 100 new product stock keeping units (“S¥lncluding new flavor profiles based on sucéealssew product launches by the
national brands, new package types and new pradtegory introductions for our retailer partners.

We market or supply over 500 retailer, licensed @nthpany-owned brands in our four core geograpggenents. We sell CSD
concentrates and non-carbonated concentrates ilOvauntries. We believe that our leadershiptosiour broad portfolio offering and
our existing infrastructure will enable us to cont to further penetrate the private-label mankbgther it is winning new customers,
launching new product SKUs with existing customerssupplying retailers who currently self-manutaet

Following completion of the Cliffstar Acquisitiome broadened our product portfolio to include sisédible juices such as apple juice,
grape juice, cranberry juice and juice-blends, aB &s functional and new age beverages, whichalidw us to further penetrate the private-
label market.

Extensive, Flexible Manufacturing Capabilitie

Our leading position in the privatabel market is supported by our extensive manufagj network and flexible production capabiliti
Our manufacturing footprint encompasses 33 streddlgilocated beverage
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manufacturing and fruit processing facilities, irdihg 21 in the United States, five in Canada, fauhe United Kingdom and two in Mexic
as well as a vertically-integrated global concastraanufacturing facility in Columbus, Georgia.

We are the only dedicated private-label beveragdymer with a manufacturing footprint across Ndéktherica. Manufacturing
flexibility is one of our core competencies andrtisical to private-label industry leadership, as products will typically feature customized
packaging, design and graphics for our key retailstomers. Our ability to produce multiple SKUsl grackages on our production lines and
manage complexities through quick-line changeovecgsses differentiates us from our competition.

High Customer Service Level and Strong Customerdgtation

Private-label industry leadership requires a hatel of coordination with our retailer partnersaineas such as supply chain, product
development and customer service. In additionficiehtly managing increased product manufactudomplexity, we have a proven track
record of maintaining high service levels acrossaustomer base. We also partner closely with ecosts on supply chain planning and
execution to minimize freight costs, reduce workdagital requirements and increase in-store proavailability. We work as partners with
our retailer customers on new product developmedtpackaging designs. Our role includes providiragkat expertise as well as knowledge
of category trends that may present opportunite®fir retailer customers. A high level of custoiméegration and partnership coupled wi
nationwide manufacturing footprint is critical fttve development of successful private-label program

Strategic Importance to Blu-Chip Retailers

We have longstanding partnerships with many ofithdd’s leading retailers in the grocery, mass-rhardise and drug store channels,
enabling retailers to build their private-label grams with high-quality, affordable beverages. \Wethe sole supplier for a majority of our
clients due to our competitive advantages, inclgdin

» private-label expertise

« vertically integrated, low cost production platfgr

e onestop sourcing

e category insights and marketing expert

« supply chain and high quality consistency in prasiuand

» product innovation and differentiatio

For 2010, our top 10 customers accounted for 5o#ddtal revenue. Waldart was the only customer that accounted for ntioae 10%

of our total revenue for the period. We have eshbH long-standing relationships with most of tmyr 10 customers. As a result of our high

product quality and commitment to service, coupldtth a national manufacturing footprint, we beliave will continue to play a meaningful
role in helping our customers develop retailer Orammategies to build loyalty with consumers.

Business Strategy

Our primary goal is to maintain long-term profititipiand enhance our position as the market leaddrpreferred supplier of retailer
brand beverages in the markets where we operatginQed leadership in our core markets will enalsl¢o sustain and grow profitability as
we drive for increased private-label penetratiod sinare growth within our core product categoh®s.believe that the following strategies
will help us to achieve our goal.

Maintain Customer Focus

Customer relationships are important for any bussinbut at Cott, where our products bear our custeirand names, we must
maintain particularly close partnerships with oustomers. We will continue to provide

3
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our retailer partners with high quality productsl @meat service at an attractive value that wilplikem provide quality, value-oriented
products to their consumers.

We will continue to focus on our high customer smx\evels as well as core private-label innovagithirough the introduction of new
packages, flavors and varieties of beverages. Wevieeour focus on our customers will enable uket@rage our existing relationships and to
develop new ones in existing and new markets. fastfollower of innovative products, our goalasidentify new products that are
succeeding in the marketplace and develop simitadycts of high quality for our retailer partnepsofffer their customers at a better value.

Control Operating Costs

As a retailer brand producer, we understand thatomg-term success will be closely tied to outdigbto remain a low-cost supplier.
Effective management of commodity costs is crittoabur success, including entering into contrachmitments with suppliers of key raw
materials such as aluminum sheet metal and higitdsa corn syrup (“HFCS”). On an ongoing basis eeaw our fixed overhead and
manufacturing costs for opportunities for furtheductions. In 2009, we significantly reduced ovarheosts, and in 2010, we implemented
more modest cost reductions.

Control Capital Expenditures and Rigorously Manad®orking Capital

Consistent with our status as a low-cost suppherwill leverage our existing manufacturing capaeihd maintain an efficient supply
chain. We are committed to carefully prioritizingracapital investments that provide the best fir@meturns for Cott and for our retailer
partners, while maintaining safety, efficiency augherior product quality. Our manufacturing faikt operate according to the highest
standards of safety and product quality. We perfaggular third-party audits of our facilities ane aubject to quality audits on behalf of our
customers. We will continue to evaluate growth atiger opportunities, while remaining mindful of datal capital expenditure targets.

In 2010, our capital expenditures have been devoteshintenance of existing beverage productioiiitias, equipment upgrades in the
U.S. and Canada, and expanded can and energyardi@té& production capability in the United Kingdom

Cash Flow Management

We believe that a strong financial position wilbdte us to capitalize on opportunities in the mipleee. As a result, we continuously
review and improve the effectiveness of our cashageament processes. We strive to achieve the rmptistal working capital level,
rationalize our capital expenditures and continlyodsve operating cost improvements to enhancé fiasv.

Pursue Select Acquisition

We believe that opportunities exist for us to erteaour scale, reduce fixed manufacturing costsbanaden our product portfolio. On
August 17, 2010, we completed the Cliffstar Acdiosi, which provides us with a foothold in the NoAmerica private label juice market.
We intend to continue to evaluate and pursue gfi@gpportunities if we believe they would enhanoe industry position, strengthen our
business and build value for our shareholders.

Principal Markets and Products

We estimate that as of the end of 2010, on a pmoddasis, we produced (either directly or throthgid party manufacturers with
whom we have co-packing agreements) 60.0% and 58fEbretailer brand CSDs and juice, respectiyebid in the U.S., and 55.6% of all
retailer brand CSDs sold in the U.K.
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We have a diversified product portfolio across majverage categories, including beverages thairateend with consumer demand.
In 2010, CSDs, concentrate, juice, and all othedpcts represented 49.7%, 2.1%, 13.1% and 35.1%pascentage of revenue respectively.
We began reporting “Juice” as a separate produegoay in 2010 following the Cliffstar Acquisition 2009, CSDs, concentrate, and all
other products represented 60.0%, 1.9%, and 38&%% ,percentage of revenue, respectively. In 2088s, concentrate, and all other
products represented 59.0%, 2.1%, and 38.9%, escamtage of revenue, respectively.

We believe that opportunities exist to increasesaf beverages in our core markets by leveragiisgireg customer relationships,
capitalizing on cross-selling and up-selling oppoities across our CSD and juice customers, olnginew customers, exploring new
channels of distribution and introducing new praduc

Restructuring Initiatives

From 2006 through 2007, we implemented our NortheAoan Realignment and Cost Reduction Plan (thettNamerican Plan”) to
consolidate the management of our Canadian anddusthesses to a North American basis, rationgliaduct offerings, eliminate
underperforming assets and focus on high potesti@unts. We paid the remaining lease terminatistscunder the North American Plan in
2010. We also implemented plans in 2008 (the “Resdelan”) and 2009 (the “2009 Restructuring Pldaha resulted in a partial reduction of
our workforce in those years.

We do not anticipate incurring any additional clesrgelated to the North American Plan, the Refédan or the 2009 Restructuring
Plan.

Financial Information about Segments

For financial information about operating segmemtd geographic areas, see Note 9 to the consdaliflatncial statements containec
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Manufacturing and Distribution Network

Substantially all of our beverages are manufacturddcilities that we, or third-party manufactuwseavith whom we have long-term co-
packing agreements, either own or lease. We relpiod parties to produce and distribute produetareas or markets where we do not have
our own production facilities, such as in Contirstiurope, or when additional production capadtyeiquired.

Our products are either picked up by our custoraeair facilities or delivered by us, a common iegyior thirdparty distributors to oL
customers’ distribution centers or to retail looas.

Ingredient and Packaging Supplies

In addition to water, the principal raw materiasjuired to produce our products are polyethylereptehalate (“PET") bottles, PET
caps and preforms, aluminum cans and ends, latsatens and trays, concentrates, sweetenerscmdentrates and fruit. The cost of these
raw materials can fluctuate substantially.

Under many of our supply arrangements for thesematerials, the price we pay fluctuates along wéltain changes in underlying
commodity costs, such as aluminum in the caser,a&sin in the case of PET bottles and capscamdin the case of HFCS. We believe
that we will be able to either renegotiate consatith these suppliers when they expire or findralhtive sources for supply. We also believe
there is adequate supply of the ingredient andqging materials used to produce and package odupts.

Generally, we bear the risk of increases in théscokthe ingredient and packaging materials usgadaduce our products, including the
underlying costs of the commodities used to mariufachem and, to some extent, the costs of cangetttose commaodities into the
materials we purchase.
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Aluminum for cans, resin for PET bottles, preforamsl caps, and corn for HFCS are examples of uridgrbommodities for which we
bear the risk of increases in costs. In additiba,dontracts for certain of our ingredient and paakg materials permit our suppliers to
increase the costs they charge us based on insrigatbeir cost of converting the underlying comiitied into the materials we purchase. In
certain cases those increases are subject to atgblimits. Changes in the prices we pay for idgnet and packaging materials occur at
times that vary by product and supplier, but taleee principally on a monthly or annual basis.

Crown Cork & Seal USA, Inc. (“CCS") supplies us wvdluminum cans and ends under a contract entet@éhi 2010 with a multi-year
term. The contract provides that CCS will supply aluminum cans and ends requirements worldwidgjestito certain exceptions. The
contract contains a pricing mechanism for certaatamals and representations, warranties, indeeménd termination events (including
termination events related to bankruptcy or insotyeof either party) that we believe to be custgmhbr 2010, we entered into fixed price
commitments for a majority of our forecasted alummrequirements for 2010 as well as more thandfair requirements for 2011.

PET resin prices have fluctuated significantlyéoant years as the price of oil has fluctuateddemdand for synthetic fibers has
increased. Because PET resin is not a traded coiyma@ have limited ability to obtain price protemn.

Corn has a history of volatile price changes. Waeekthat corn market prices will continue to fluatie as a result of an increase in the
demand for corn-related products such as HFCS010 2we entered into fixed price commitments fonaority of our HFCS requirements
for 2010 and 2011.

Fruit prices have been, and we expect them tomoatio be, subject to significant volatility. Whftit is available from numerous
independent suppliers, these raw materials aresuty fluctuations in price attributable to, amanther things, changes in crop size and
federal and state agricultural programs.

Trade Secrets, Copyrights, Trademarks and Licenses

We sell the majority of our beverages under ret&ifands to customers who own the trademarks associvith those products. We a
own registrations, or applications to registerjmas trademarks that are important to our worldwidsiness, includingott®, Red Rairf anc
Orient Emporium Tea Cd™ in the U.S., Canada and the U.Btars & Stripe®, Vess®, Vintage®, So Clear® , Shanst& , Harvest Classic
® Chadwick Bay and Golden Crowin the U.S.Red Rave™hn CanadaEmerge® , Red Roostér , Cartérs , Ben Shaavel the H2
family of brands in the U.KStars & Stripe®in Mexico, andRC®in more than 100 countries and territories outsidsorth
America. Moreover, we are licensed to use certaidemarks such aarritos ®in Mexico. The licenses to which we are a partyairearying
terms, including some that are perpetual. Traderoarership is generally of indefinite duration whaarks are properly maintained in
commercial use.

Our success depends in part on our intellectugderty, which includes trade secrets in the forraafcentrate formulas for our
beverages and trademarks for the names of thedmm&ve sell. To protect this intellectual propentg rely principally on registration of
trademarks, contractual responsibilities and ret&bris in agreements (such as indemnification, rsmhasure and confidentiality agreements)
with employees, consultants and customers, ande@ndmmon law and statutory protections affordelademarks, copyrights, trade secrets
and proprietary “know-how.” We also closely monitbe use of our trademarks and vigorously pursyepanty that infringes on our
trademarks, using all available legal remedies.

Seasonality of Sales

The beverage market is subject to some seasonativas. Our beverage sales are generally higheéngithe warmer months and also
can be influenced by the timing of holidays and tiweafluctuations. This seasonality also causesmmuiking capital needs to fluctuate with
inventory being higher in the first half of the yéa meet the peak summer demand and accountyabbeideclining in the fall as customers
pay their higher-than-average outstanding balafioes the summer deliveries.
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Customers

A significant portion of our revenue is concentdaite a small number of customers. Our customeisidigcmany large national and
regional grocery, mass-merchandise, drugstore,aghé# and convenience store chains. For 2010, teaW#al-Mart accounted for 31.0%
(2009—33.5%, 2008—35.8%) of our total revenue, @ our North America operating segment reven@992-39.4%, 2008—42.1%),
16.6% of our U.K. operating segment revenue (2009-+%, 2008—21.1%) and 38.9% of our Mexico operasegment revenue (2009—
18.4%, 2008—22.2%). Wal-Mart was the only custothat accounted for more than 10% of our total rexein that period. Sales to our top
ten customers in 2010, 2009 and 2008 accountesbid®s, 60.0% and 62.0%, respectively, of our taenue. We expect that sales of our
products to a limited number of customers will douné to account for a high percentage of revenuéhioforeseeable future. The loss of any
customers that individually or in the aggregateespnt a significant portion of our revenue, oealide in sales to these customers, would
have a material adverse effect on our operatingjteeand cash flow.

On January 27, 2009, we received written noticenfklal-Mart stating that Wal-Mart was exercisingritght to terminate, without
cause, our exclusive supply contract dated Decethet998, between our wholly owned subsidiary Betterages Inc. and Wal Mart Sto
Inc. (“the Exclusive U.S. Supply Contract”). Thertgnation is effective on January 28, 2012. This thee effect of returning our relationship
to more typical market terms over time, and alldal-Mart to introduce other suppliers in the futufet so desires. The termination
provision of the Exclusive U.S. Supply Contractyides for our exclusive right to supply CSDs to Wrt in the U.S. to be phased out over
a period of three years following notice of terntioa (the “Notice Period”). Accordingly, we had tegclusive right to supply at least two-
thirds of Wal-Marts total CSD volumes in the U.S., during the firdtmionths of the Notice Period, and we had the siaburight to supply ¢
least one-third of Wal-Mart’s total CSD volumediire U.S. during the second 12 months of the NdRieod. During the final 12 months of
the Notice Period, there is no minimum supply regmient. Notwithstanding the notice of terminatidnihe Exclusive U.S. Supply Contract,
we continue to supply Wal-Mart with all of its paite label CSDs in the U.S. However, should Wal-Madose to introduce an additional
supplier to fulfill a portion of its requirementsrfits private label CSDs, our operating resultsldde materially adversely affected.

Research and Development

We engage in a variety of research and developadivities. These activities principally involveetidevelopment of new products,
improvement in the quality of existing productspimvement and modernization of production procesaas the development and
implementation of new technologies to enhance ttadity and value of both current and proposed pecotines. Consumer research is
excluded from research and development costs ahadied in other marketing costs. Research and dprent costs were $3.1 million in
2010, $3.0 million in 2009 and $2.2 million in 2088d are reported as selling, general and admatiigrexpenses.

Competition

We compete against a wide range of companies tbdtipe and sell private-label beverages, includiB@s, clear, still and sparkling
flavored waters, energy-related drinks, juice, gdiased products, bottled water and ready-to-deak. While CSDs and CSD concentrate
accounted for 71.7% of our 2010 case volume, tleepunted for 51.8% of our 2010 revenue. The non-@&iducts generated 28.3% of our
2010 case volume and 48.2% of our 2010 revenue.

The non-alcoholic beverage category is highly cditipe in each region in which we operate, and cetitipn for incremental volume
is intense. The brands owned by the four majoonatisoft drink companies, Coca-Cola, Pepsi, Né&tters North America and Dr. Pepper
Snapple (formerly Cadbury Schweppes), control 84%@aggregate take-home volume of the liquidegiment beverage category. These
companies have significant financial resourcesspahd heavily on promotional programs. They alse lthrect store delivery systems in
North America, which enable their personnel totvisiailers frequently to promote new items, stskklves and build displays. We also f
competition in the juice category from juice brasdsh as Welch’s, Ocean Spray and Mott’s.
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In addition, we face competition in North Ameritlae United Kingdom and Mexico from regional beveraganufacturers who sell
aggressively-priced brands and, in many casessalsply retailer brand products. A few larger UeSailers also self-manufacture products
for their own needs and consistently approach atiterlers seeking additional business.

We seek to differentiate ourselves from our contpesiby offering our customers efficient distrimrtimethods, high-quality products,
category management strategies, packaging and timayletrategies, and superior service.

Government Regulation and Environmental Matters

The production, distribution and sale in the U.f8many of our products are subject to the Fedesal-Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the
Federal Trade Commission Act, the Lanham Act, statesumer protection laws, federal, state and lvcakplace health and safety laws,
various federal, state and local environmentalguotidn laws and various other federal, state aodl Istatutes and regulations applicable tc
production, transportation, sale, safety, advewgisiabeling and ingredients of such products. datthe U.S., the production, distribution :
sale of our many products and related operatiomslap subject to numerous similar and other gataimd regulations.

A number of states have passed laws setting foatimiwg or labeling requirements relating to produnfide for human consumption.
For example, the California law known as “Propositb5”requires that a specific warning appear on anyymbsbld in California containir
a substance listed by that state as having beew frsucause cancer or reproductive toxicity. Thig,land others like it, expose all food and
beverage producers to the possibility of havingrwv/ide warnings on their products. The detectibeven a trace amount of a listed
substance can subject an affected product to theéresment of a warning label, although productstaiming listed substances that occur
naturally or that are contributed to such prodsolely by a municipal water supply are generallgrapt from the warning requirement. From
time to time over the past several years, certhoubcustomers have received notices allegingttf@tabeling requirements of the relevant
state regulation would apply to products manufaatloy us and sold by them. There can be no assuthatwe will not be adversely
affected by actions against our retailer partnenssaelating to Proposition 65 or similar “failui@warn” laws.

We currently offer and use non-refillable recyctabbntainers in the U.S. and other countries ardhi@dvorld. We also offer and use
refillable containers, which are also recyclablegal requirements apply in various jurisdictionshie U.S. and other countries requiring that
deposits or certain ecotaxes or fees be chargatidmale, marketing and use of certain non-réfiidoeverage containers. The precise
requirements imposed by these measures vary. @ibes of beverage container-related deposit, rewy,cbcotax and/or product stewardship
statutes and regulations also apply in variousglictions in the U.S. and overseas. We anticigateadditional, similar legal requirements
may be proposed or enacted in the future at Istatle and federal levels, both in the U.S. andisee.

All of our beverage production facilities and otloperations are subject to various environmentatiggtion statutes and regulations,
including those of the U.S. Environmental Protatt#mency, which pertain to the use of water resesiand the discharge of waste water.
Failure to comply with these regulations can hargosis consequences, including civil and admintistegpenalties. Compliance with these
provisions has not had, and we do not expect sogtpliance to have, any material adverse effectwwrCmmpany’s capital expenditures, net
income or competitive position. However, as diseddselow, changes in how the Ontario Ministry @& Environment enforces the Ontario
Environmental Protection Act could result in usingvto make material expenditures for environmeodahpliance.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the appléecablicies, we are insured against product lighiiaims and product recalls that
could result from the injury, illness or death ohsumers using our products, contamination of oodycts, or damage to or mislabeling of
our products. We believe that our insurance coversgdequate.
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The Ontario Environmental Protection Act (“OEPA”)

OEPA regulations provide that a minimum percentaige bottler's soft drink sales within specifiecéas in Ontario must be made in
refillable containers. The penalty for non-comptiars a fine of $50,000 per day beginning upon wherfirst offense occurs and continues
until the first conviction, and then increasingbtt00,000 per day for each subsequent convictioas@lfines may be increased to equal the
amount of monetary benefit acquired by the offeradea result of the commission of the offense.

We, and we believe other industry participants,careently not in compliance with the requiremenitthe OEPA. To comply with the
requirements we, and we believe many other indymrticipants, would have to significantly increasées in refillable containers to a
minimum refillable sales ratio of 30%. We do nopegt to be in compliance with these regulationtheforeseeable future. Ontario is not
enforcing the OEPA at this time, despite the fhat ft is still in effect and not amended, but i€hooses to enforce it in the future, we could
incur fines for non-compliance and the possiblénioition of sales of soft drinks in non-refillabd®ntainers in Ontario. We estimate that
approximately 3% of our sales would be affectedhgypossible limitation of sales of soft drinksion-refillable containers in Ontario if the
Ontario Ministry of the Environment initiated artiaa to enforce the provisions of the OEPA agairsstMoreover, the Ontario Ministry of
the Environment released a report in 1997 statiagjthese OEPA regulations are “outdated and uratdek’ However, despite the
“unworkable” nature of the OEPA regulations, theyé not yet been revoked.

We believe that the magnitude of the potentialditiet we could incur if the Ontario Ministry oftlEnvironment chose to enforce th
regulations is such that the costs to us of nonpdiamce could be, although are not contemplatdsetanaterial. However, our management
believes that such enforcement is very remote.

Employees

As of January 1, 2011, we had 3,957 employeeshoihm2,894 were in the North America operating sagnié€lL6 were in the U.K.
operating segment, 334 were in the Mexico operategment and 13 were in the combined RCI/All Otimarating segments. We have
entered into numerous collective bargaining agregsneovering 820 employees in the United Statera@a and Mexico that we believe
contain terms that are typical in the beveragestiguAs these agreements expire, we believe thaybe renegotiated on terms satisfactol
us. We consider our relations with employees tgédagerally good.

Availability of Information and Other Matters

We are required to file annual, quarterly and aurreports, proxy statements and other informatiih the SEC and Canadian
securities regulatory authorities. The public megd and copy any materials that we file with th€ $Ethe SEC’s Public Reference Room at
100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Inforomath the Public Reference Room may be obtainechlijng the SEC at 1-800-553090.

In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet sité¢ tloatains reports, proxy and information statersieamad other information regarding issuers
that file with the SEC at www.sec.gov. Informatilad with the Canadian securities regulatory atties is available at www.sedar.com.

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly repomsFmrm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amemdmto reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(dy@&ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended|sweavailable free of charge on our
website at www.cott.com, as soon as reasonablyipaste after such material is electronically filwith, or furnished to, the SEC. The
information found on our website is not part oktbr any other report that we file with, or furnishthe SEC or to Canadian securities
regulatory authorities.

We are responsible for establishing and maintaiaiheguate internal control over financial reportisgequired by the SEC. See
“Management’s Report on Internal Control over FiziahReporting” on page 52.
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ITEM 1A. RISKFACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth imstreport, you should carefully consider the fafilog factors, which could materially
affect our business, financial condition or futuesults. The risks described below are not the oskg that we face. Additional risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or thatouerently deem to be immaterial also may materiatlyersely affect our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

We may not realize the expected benefits of the @&Btar Acquisition because of integration difficulies and other challenges.

The ultimate success of the Cliffstar Acquisitioifl elepend, in part, on our ability to realize ail some of the anticipated benefits from
integrating Cliffstar's business with our existibgsinesses. The integration process may be compisity and time-consuming. The
difficulties of integrating the operations of C#tér’'s business include, among others:

» failure to implement our business plan for the coratl business
e unanticipated issues in integrating manufacturiogistics, information, communications and othestsyns;

» resolving inconsistencies in standards, contratscgdures and policies, and compensation strucha®geen Cliffstar’s structure
and our structure

» failure to retain key customers and suppli

* unanticipated changes in applicable laws and régulks

» failure to retain key employee

» operating risks inherent in Cliffs’s business and our business;
* unanticipated issues, expenses and liabili

We may not be able to maintain the levels of reeeearnings or operating efficiency that each dt &od Cliffstar had achieved or
might achieve separately. In addition, we may mobanplish the integration of Cliffstar’s businesso®thly, successfully or within the
anticipated costs or timeframe. If we experiendtcdities with the integration process, the argatied benefits of the Cliffstar Acquisition
may not be realized fully, or at all, or may takader to realize than expected.

We face risks associated with our Asset Purchase Aggment in connection with the Cliffstar Acquisition.

As a result of the Cliffstar Acquisition, we assuhseibstantially all of the liabilities of Cliffstand its affiliated companies that were
satisfied on or prior to the closing date. There in@ liabilities that we underestimated or did distover in the course of performing our due
diligence investigation of Cliffstar that may arisethe future. Under the Asset Purchase Agreentleatseller provided us with a limited se
representations and warranties. Our sole remedy fne seller for any breach of those representsitiol warranties is an action for
indemnification, which may only be brought in cérteircumstances and within certain time periodglemnification payments may not
exceed $50.0 million. Damages resulting from a d&inezf a representation or warranty could have a&rnstand adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.

We are still in the process of assessing the systefrinternal control over financial reporting maintained by Cliffstar as a part of our
integration efforts, and we may need to make changeéndentified as a result of that assessment oncengpleted.

Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, we achsiibstantially all of the assets and liabilibé€liffstar and its affiliated
companies. None of these companies have previbegly subject to periodic reporting as a public camgpand thus have not been required
to maintain a system of internal control over ficiah
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reporting mandated by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act oR288tablishing, testing and maintaining an effextystem of internal control over
financial reporting requires significant resouraesl time commitments on the part of our manageuediour finance and accounting staff,
may require additional staffing and infrastructimeestments, and may increase our costs of doismbss. If our ongoing evaluation of
Cliffstar’s internal controls identifies deficiems or areas for improvement, we will need to deftiher resources to remedying them. We
cannot be certain that our remedial measures wiiffective. Any failure to implement required nemimproved controls, or difficulties
encountered in their implementation, could harmaperating results or increase our risk of mateviehknesses in internal controls.

We incurred substantial indebtedness in order to fiance the Cliffstar Acquisition, which could adversly affect our business and limit
our ability to plan for or respond to changes in ou business.

In connection with the Cliffstar Acquisition, wesised $375.0 million of senior notes that are duSeptember 1, 2018 (the “2018
Note¢"). Additionally, we refinanced our existing asbeised lending facility and drew down a substaatiabunt of indebtedness under that
facility in order to fund the Cliffstar Acquisitio\s a result, we have substantially more indeldsedrihan has been the case for us
historically.

Our ability to make payments on and to refinancedalot obligations and to fund planned capital exiiteres depends on our ability to
generate cash from our future operations. Thig,dertain extent, is subject to financial, compatijtlegislative, regulatory and other factors
that are beyond our control. In addition, if we mahservice our indebtedness, we may have to tetik@na such as selling assets, seeking
additional equity or reducing or delaying capitgpenditures, strategic acquisitions, investmentsadiiances, any of which could impede the
implementation of our business strategy, preverftam entering into transactions that would otheewbenefit our business and/or have a
material adverse effect on our financial conditém results of operations. We may not be ablefinanece our indebtedness or take such
other actions, if necessary, on commercially reaBlenterms, or at all.

We may be unable to compete successfully in the hig competitive beverage category.

The markets for our products are extremely competitn comparison to the major national brand lbage manufacturers, we are a
relatively small participant in the industry. Weéacompetition from the national brand beverageufaturers in all of our markets and from
other retailer brand beverage manufacturers. Itounpetitors reduce their selling prices, increghsefrequency of their promotional activiti
in our core market or enter into the productiop¥ate-label products, or if our customers doallicate adequate shelf space for the
beverages we supply, we could experience a deidioar volumes, be forced to reduce pricing, fopgice increases required to offset
increased costs of raw materials and fuel, increapéal and other expenditures, or lose marketeskzany of which could adversely affect our
profitability.

We may not be able to respond successfully to comaar trends related to carbonated and non-carbonatetieverages.

Consumer trends with respect to the products weasekubject to change. Consumers are seekingased variety in their beverages,
and there is a growing interest among consumeldicpliealth officials and government officials rediag the ingredients in our products, the
attributes of those ingredients and health andnee# issues generally. In addition, some researdhealth advocates and dietary guidelines
are encouraging consumers to reduce consumptisagair-sweetened beverages, including those sweengtieHFCS or other nutritive
sweeteners. As a result, consumer demand has @edtin full-calorie CSDs and consumer demand hereased for products associated with
health and wellness, such as reduced-calorie O8&tey, enhanced water, teas and certain other adoooated beverages, including juices.
Consumer preferences may change due to a varietthef factors, including the aging of the gene@ulation, changes in social trends, the
real or perceived impact that the manufacturingwfproducts has on the environment, changes isutnar demographics, changes in travel,
vacation or leisure activity patterns, negativeljmitly resulting from regulatory

11



Table of Contents

action or litigation against companies in the irtdysor a downturn in economic conditions. Any lbése changes may reduce consumers’
demand for our products. There can be no assuthatee can develop or be a “fast follower” of inative products that respond to
consumer trends. Our failure to develop innovapiraducts could put us at a competitive disadvaniagiee marketplace and our business
and financial results could be adversely affected.

Because a small number of customers account for @sificant percentage of our sales, the loss of eeduction in sales to any
significant customer could have a material adverseffect on our results of operations and financial @ndition.

A significant portion of our revenue is concentdaite a small number of customers. Our customeisidigcmany large national and
regional grocery, mass-merchandise, drugstore,aght# and convenience store chains in our coreatsaok North America, U.K. and
Mexico. Sales to Wal-Mart, our top customer in 202@09 and 2008 accounted for 31.0%, 33.5% and@5.8spectively, of our total
revenue. Sales to our top ten customers in 201@Y ad 2008 accounted for 55.0%, 60.0% and 62.68pgectively, of our total revenue. We
expect that sales of our products to a limited nemah customers will continue to account for a higincentage of our revenue for the
foreseeable future.

On January 27, 2009, we received written noticenfiVal-Mart stating that Wal-Mart was exercisingritght to terminate, without
cause, our Exclusive U.S. Supply Contract, effectim January 28, 2012. Pursuant to the terms dExbRisive U.S. Supply Contract, we are
the exclusive supplier to Wal-Mart of retailer bia®SDs in the United States. The termination promisf the Exclusive U.S. Supply
Contract provides for exclusivity to be phasedaudr a period of three years following notice ahtaation. Accordingly, we had the
exclusive right to supply at least two-thirds of Mi#art’s total CSD volume in the United States digrihe first 12 months of the Notice
Period, and we had the exclusive right to supplgadt one-third of Wal-Mart’s total CSD volumetire U.S. during the second 12 months of
the Notice Period. Notwithstanding the terminatidrthe Exclusive U.S. Supply Contract, we contitmsupply Wal-Mart and its affiliated
companies, under annual non-exclusive supply agegatsnwith a variety of products in the United 8¢aiCanada, U.K. and Mexico,
including CSDs, clear, still and sparkling flavonsdters, juice, juice-based products, bottled wateergy drinks and ready-to-drink teas.

The loss of Wal-Mart or any significant customarcostomers that in the aggregate represent disaymi portion of our revenue, or a
material reduction in the amount of business weettafte with any such customer or customers, coame la material adverse effect on our
operating results and cash flows. Furthermore, auddcbe adversely affected if Wal-Mart or any sfigmaint customer reacts unfavorably to
any pricing of our products or decides to de-emizleasr reduce their product offerings in the categgowith which we supply them. At
January 1, 2011, we had $274.5 million of custoraktionships recorded as an intangible assetp&hmanent loss of any customer inclu
in the intangible asset would result in impairmienthe value of the intangible asset or acceleratedrtization and could lead to an
impairment of fixed assets that were used to sertfiat client.

Our ingredients, packaging supplies and other costare subject to price increases and we may be unahlo effectively pass rising costs
on to our customers.

We bear the risk of changes in prices on the ingrednd packaging in our products. The majoritpaf ingredient and packaging
supply contracts allow our suppliers to alter thiegs they charge us based on changes in theafa$ts underlying commaodities that are u
to produce them. Aluminum for cans and ends, resiRPET bottles, preforms and caps, and corn fo€CHRre examples of these underlying
commodities. In addition, the contracts for cer@fiour ingredient and packaging materials permitsuppliers to increase the costs they
charge us based on increases in their cost of comg¢hose underlying commodities into the matlsribat we purchase. In certain cases
those increases are subject to negotiated limdsiarother cases, they are not. These changée iprices that we pay for ingredient and
packaging materials occur at times that vary bylpobd and supplier, but are principally on a montimyannual basis.
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We are at risk with respect to fluctuating aluminprites. In 2010, we entered into fixed price cotrments for a majority of our
forecasted aluminum requirements for 2010, as agethore than half of our requirements for 2011.aBee PET resin is not a traded
commodity, no fixed price mechanism has been impleed, and we are accordingly also at risk witpeesto changes in PET prices. Fruit
prices have been, and we expect them to continbe,teubject to significant volatility. While frug available from numerous independent
suppliers, these raw materials are subject todatains in price attributable to, among other teinchanges in crop size and federal and state
agricultural programs. Corn, and thus HFCS, alsoahhistory of volatile price changes. We typicgllychase HFCS requirements for North
America under 12 month contracts. If the cost ahowdities for which we have entered into fixed praommitments decreases, we will not
be able to take advantage of such decreased costs.

Accordingly, we bear the risk of fluctuations iretbosts of these ingredient and packaging mateimmlsiding the underlying costs of
the commaodities used to manufacture them and, e sxtent, the costs of converting those commaiti® the materials we purchase. We
currently do not use derivatives to manage thls ffghe cost of these ingredients or packagingemials increases, we may be unable to pass
these costs along to our customers through adjussnme the prices we charge. If we cannot passiesetincreases to our customers on a
timely basis, they could have a material adverfecebn our results of operations. If we are ablpdss these costs on to our customers
through price increases, the impact those increpseés could have on our volumes is uncertain.

Our beverage and concentrate production faciliteesa significant amount of electricity, naturad gad other energy sources to opel
Fluctuations in the price of fuel and other enesgyrces for which we have not locked in long-termmipg commitments or arrangements
would affect our operating costs, which could intpaar profitability.

If we fail to manage our operations successfully,us business and financial results may be materialland adversely affected.

In recent years, we have grown our business anerage offerings primarily through the acquisitidrother companies, developmen
new product lines and growth with key customers.B&keve that opportunities exist to increase saldseverages in our markets by
leveraging existing customer relationships, obrajmew customers, exploring new channels of digtiti, introducing new products or
identifying appropriate acquisition or strategitiaaice candidates. The success of this stratedyne@pect to acquisitions depends on our
ability to manage and integrate acquisitions afidrades, including Cliffstar, into our existing less. Furthermore, the businesses or pr¢
lines that we acquire or align with may not be gnéged successfully into our business or proveitatw®. In addition to the foregoing factors,
our ability to expand our business in foreign coiestis also dependent on, and may be limited by ability to comply with the laws of the
various jurisdictions in which we may operate, &dl\&s changes in local government regulationspatidies in such jurisdictions. If we fail
to manage the geographic allocation of productapacity surrounding customer demand in North Anagree may lose certain customer
product volume or have to utilize co-packers tdilfuldur customer capacity obligations, either dfigh could negatively impact our financial
results.

Our geographic diversity subjects us to the risk oturrency fluctuations.

We are exposed to changes in foreign currency exggheates, including those between the U.S. dahdrthe pound sterling, the Euro,
the Canadian dollar, the Mexican peso and othe@enaies. Our operations outside of the United Stateounted for 34.2% of our 2010 sa
Accordingly, currency fluctuations in respect of autstanding notd.S. dollar denominated net asset balances magt afte reported resul
and competitive position.

Furthermore, our foreign operations purchase kggeitients and packaging supplies in U.S. dollanés €xposes them to additional
foreign currency risk that can adversely affect imported results.
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Our hedging activities, which are designed to mirérand delay, but not to completely eliminate,effects of foreign currency
fluctuations may not sufficiently mitigate the ingbaf foreign currencies on our financial resulRactors that could affect the effectiveness of
our hedging activities include accuracy of salesdasts, volatility of currency markets, and thailability of hedging instruments. Our futt
financial results could be significantly affectegithe value of the U.S. dollar in relation to tloegign currencies in which we conduct
business. The degree to which our financial resultsaffected for any given time period will depémgbart upon our hedging activities.

If we are unable to maintain relationships with ourraw material suppliers, we may incur higher supplycosts or be unable to deliver
products to our customers.

In addition to water, the principal raw materiagguired to produce our products are PET bottlgss ead preforms, aluminum cans and
ends, labels, cartons and trays, fruit, concergratel sweeteners. We rely upon our ongoing rekstips with our key suppliers to support
operations.

We typically enter into annual or multi-year supplyangements with our key suppliers, meaningdbasuppliers are obligated to
continue to supply us with materials for one-yeamalti-year periods, at the end of which we mustex renegotiate the contracts with those
suppliers or find alternative sources for supplyefie can be no assurance that we will be ablgheraienegotiate contracts (with similar or
more favorable terms) with these suppliers wheg thgire or, alternatively, if we are unable toegatiate contracts with our key suppliers,
there can be no assurance that we could replaoe iWe could also incur higher ingredient and pagi@gupply costs in renegotiating
contracts with existing suppliers or replacing #eappliers, or we could experience temporary gigsas in our ability to deliver products to
our customers, either of which could have a mdtadsaerse effect on our results of operations.

With respect to some of our key packaging supptiash as aluminum cans and ends, and some of gundpedients, such as
sweeteners, we have entered into loerga supply agreements, the remaining terms of wkdage from 12 to 72 months, and therefore wi
assured of a supply of those key packaging supalidsngredients during such terms. CCS suppligsiaum cans and ends under a contract
with a multi-year term. The contract provides 6&S will supply our aluminum can and end requirets@oridwide, subject to certain
exceptions. In addition, the supply of specificredjent and packaging materials could be adveedédgted by many factors, including
industry consolidation, energy shortages, govertat@ontrols, labor disputes, natural disastessdportation interruption, political
instability, acts of war or terrorism and othertéas.

We identified material weaknesses in our internal @ntrols over financial reporting; failure to remediate the material weaknesses cou
negatively impact our business.

We concluded that material weaknesses existedrimternal controls over financial reporting aslahuary 1, 2011. More specifically,
we concluded that we did not maintain effectivetomla over the communication and evaluation of riade customer’s discount and pricing
programs, which resulted in immaterial errors in financial statements for the third quarter of @0th response to the identified material
weaknesses, and with oversight from our Audit Cottamj we are focused on improving our internal cdstover financial reporting and
remedying the identified material weaknesses. Begmin January 2011, management began to desijmgiement certain remediation
measures to address the above-described mateahess and enhance our system of internal conteslf;mancial reporting, including
conducting expanded reviews and evaluations ofifspeastomer accounts receivable aging and proonati activities reports and re-
assigning senior accounting personnel to oversesghcific customer activities. We cannot assutetlzat we will be able to do so on a
timely basis or at all.

If we fail to remediate these material weaknesses,our internal controls over financial repodirequired under Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are inadequate in theduit could negatively impact our business dragrice of our common shares.
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We have a significant amount of outstanding debt, hich could adversely affect our financial health ad future cash flows may not be
sufficient to meet our obligations.

As of January 1, 2011, our total debt was $62212ami Our present debt and any future borrowingsld have important adverse
consequences to us and our investors, including:

e requiring a substantial portion of our cash floanfroperations to make interest payments on thig

* making it more difficult to satisfy debt servicedamther obligations

» increasing the risk of a future credit ratings dgvatle of our debt, which would increase future deists;

» increasing our vulnerability to general adverseneooic and industry condition

» reducing the cash flow available to fund capitglenditures and other corporate purposes and to guowusiness

» limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes in our business and the indu

» placing us at a competitive disadvantage to ourpsgitors that may not be as highly leveraged,

« limiting our ability to borrow additional funds ageded or take advantage of business opporturstiel, as acquisitions, as they
arise, pay cash dividends or repurchase commoR.¢

To the extent we become more leveraged, the risgsribed above would increase. In addition, ouracetash requirements in the
future may be greater than expected. We cannoteagsu that our business will generate sufficiergtcflow from operations, or that future
borrowings will be available to us in amounts stiéfnt to enable us to pay our debt or to fund dheroliquidity needs.

If we fail to generate sufficient cash flow frontdive operations to meet our debt service obligatiere may need to refinance all or a
portion of our debt on or before maturity. We caremsure you that we will be able to refinance @ingur debt on attractive terms,
commercially reasonable terms or at all. Our futyverating performance and our ability to serviceefinance our debt will be subject to
future economic conditions and to financial, bussiand other factors, many of which are beyondtontrol.

Our asset based lending (“ABL”") facility, the inderture governing the 2017 Notes, and the indenture gerning the 2018 Notes each
contain various covenants limiting the discretion bour management in operating our business, whichould prevent us from
capitalizing on business opportunities and taking@ame corporate actions.

Our ABL facility, the indenture governing the $25nillion of senior notes that are due on Novermifer2017 (the “2017 Notes”), and
the indenture governing the 2018 Notes each impiggeficant operating and financial restrictionsum These restrictions will limit or
restrict, among other things, our ability and thdity of our restricted subsidiaries to:

* incur additional indebtednes

* make restricted payments (including paying dividead, redeeming, repurchasing or retiring our eaptbck);
* make investment:

» create liens

» sell assets

* enter into agreements restricting our subsidi’ ability to pay dividends, make loans or transfesess to us

* engage in transactions with affiliates; ¢

e consolidate, merge or sell all or substantiallyo&lbur assets

15



Table of Contents

These covenants are subject to important exceptindgjualifications. In addition, our ABL faciliglso requires us, under certain
circumstances, to maintain compliance with a fim@nmovenant. Our ability to comply with this covartt may be affected by events beyond
our control, including those described in this ‘IRizactors” section. A breach of any of the covesaontained in our ABL facility, including
our inability to comply with the financial covenarbuld result in an event of default, which woalbbw the lenders under our ABL facility
declare all borrowings outstanding to be due aryélipi@, which would in turn trigger an event of défainder the indenture governing the
2017 Notes and the indenture governing the 201@&%Nand, potentially, our other debt. At maturityrothe event of an acceleration of
payment obligations, we would likely be unable &y pur outstanding debt with our cash and cashvatgrits then on hand. We would,
therefore, be required to seek alternative soustésding, which may not be available on commédlgigeasonable terms, terms as favorable
as our current agreements or at all, or face baéyulf we are unable to refinance our debt od fafternative means of financing our
operations, we may be required to curtail our oji@ma or take other actions that are inconsistetit @ur current business practices or
strategy. For additional information about our ABicility, see “Managemerg’Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults o
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

A portion of our debt is variable rate debt, and clanges in interest rates could adversely affect uytwausing us to incur higher interes
costs with respect to such variable rate debt.

Our ABL facility subjects us to interest rate ridihe rate at which we pay interest on amounts kardounder such facility fluctuates
with changes in interest rates and our debt lewerAgcordingly, with respect to any amounts fromeito time outstanding under our ABL
facility, we are and will be exposed to changemmiarest rates. If we are unable to adequately g@oar debt structure in response to cha
in the market, our interest expense could increab&h would negatively impact our financial conalit and results of operations. As of
January 1, 2011 our variable rate debt represe®tedf our total debt.

Our financial results may be negatively impacted byglobal financial events.

In recent years, global financial events have teduh the consolidation, failure or near failufeecumber of institutions in the bankil
insurance and investment banking industries and kalsstantially reduced the ability of companieshitain financing. These events also
adversely affected the financial markets. Thesatsveould continue to have a number of differefeéa$ on our business, including:

e areduction in consumer spending, which could téswd reduction in our sales volurr

e anegative impact on the ability of our customersrhely pay their obligations to us or our vendursimely supply materials, th
reducing our cash flow

e anincrease in counterparty ri

* anincreased likelihood that one or more membemiobanking syndicate may be unable to honoratsraitments under our
ABL facility; and

» restricted access to capital markets that may konitability to take advantage of business oppadties) such as acquisitior

Other events or conditions may arise or persigtotly or indirectly from the global financial everthat could negatively impact our
business.

We may not fully realize the expected cost savingsd/or operating efficiencies from our restructuring activities.

During the last five years we have implemented, rmag in the future implement, restructuring ackdstto support the implementation
of key strategic initiatives designed to achieveghterm sustainable growth. These activities atenithed to maximize our operating
effectiveness and efficiency and to reduce ourscd¥e cannot
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be assured that we will achieve or sustain theetathbenefits under these programs or that thefibereyen if achieved, will be adequate to
meet our long-term growth expectations. In addijtibe implementation of key elements of these #is; such as employee job reductions
and plant closures, may have an adverse impactiobusiness, particularly in the near-term.

Substantial disruption to production at our beverage concentrates or other beverage production faciliés could occur.

A disruption in production at our beverage conaass production facility, which manufactures almadbof our concentrates, could
have a material adverse effect on our businesaddition, a disruption could occur at any of ourestfacilities or those of our suppliers,
bottlers or distributors. The disruption could ocfar many reasons, including fire, natural disestereather, manufacturing problems,
disease, strikes, transportation interruption, gowent regulation or terrorism. Alternative fad¢dg with sufficient capacity or capabilities
may not be available, may cost substantially monmay take a significant time to start productieach of which could negatively affect our
business and financial performance.

Our success depends, in part, on our intellectualrpperty, which we may be unable to protect.

We possess certain intellectual property that goirtant to our business. This intellectual propértjudes trade secrets, in the form of
the concentrate formulas for most of the beverdysswe produce, and trademarks for the namesedbdirerages that we sell. While we own
certain of the trademarks used to identify our bages, other trademarks are used through licensesthird parties or by permission from
our retailer brand customers. Our success depengart, on our ability to protect our intellectymbperty.

To protect this intellectual property, we rely mipally on registration of trademarks, contract@asponsibilities and restrictions in
agreements (such as indemnification, nondiscloandeconfidentiality agreements) with employeessattants and customers, and on
common law and statutory protections affordedadémarks, trade secrets and proprietary “know-hénvaddition, we vigorously protect
our intellectual property against infringementangsany and all legal remedies available. Notwithdtiag our efforts, we may not be
successful in protecting our intellectual propdailya number of reasons, including:

e our competitors may independently develop intellatproperty that is similar to or better than o

« employees, consultants or customers may not alyidiedir contractual agreements and the cost ofreimig those agreements may
be prohibitive, or those agreements may prove torfemforceable or more limited than anticipa

» foreign intellectual property laws may not adeqlyapeotect our intellectual property rights; a
» our intellectual property rights may be succesgfaifiallenged, invalidated or circumvent

If we are unable to protect our intellectual prapeour competitive position would weaken and walddace significant expense to
protect or enforce our intellectual property righfté January 1, 2011, we had $45.0 million of righhd $7.8 million of trademarks recorded
as intangible assets.

Occasionally, third parties may assert that we @rejay be, infringing on or misappropriating thietellectual property rights. In these
cases, we intend to defend against claims or reggdicenses when we consider these actions apatepintellectual property cases are
uncertain and involve complex legal and factualstjoas. If we become involved in this type of lgtgpn, it could consume significant
resources and divert our attention from businessaijons.

If we are found to infringe on the intellectual pesty rights of others, we could incur significalatmages, be enjoined from continuing
to manufacture, market or use the affected produdie required to obtain a license to continue ufezturing or using the affected produc
license could be very expensive to obtain or maybecavailable at all. Similarly, changing produatgrocesses to avoid infringing the rights
of others may be costly or impracticable.
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Our products may not meet health and safety standas or could become contaminated and we could be ltiee for injury, iliness or
death caused by consumption of our products.

We have adopted various quality, environmentalltheand safety standards. However, our products stilynot meet these standard:
could otherwise become contaminated. A failure éznthese standards or contamination could occomriroperations or those of our
bottlers, distributors or suppliers. This couldulen expensive production interruptions, recalfsl liability claims. We may be liable to our
customers if the consumption of any of our prodgetsses injury, illness or death. Moreover, negapiblicity could be generated from fa
unfounded or nominal liability claims or limitedcals. Any of these failures or occurrences coaldeha material adverse effect on our res
of operations or cash flows.

Litigation or legal proceedings could expose us ignificant liabilities and damage our reputation.

We are party to various litigation claims and legadceedings. We evaluate these claims and praugeth assess the likelihood of
unfavorable outcomes and estimate, if possibleatheunt of potential losses. We may establish evesas appropriate based upon
assessments and estimates in accordance with caurging policies. We base our assessments, essmaatl disclosures on the information
available to us at the time and rely on legal amshagement judgment. Actual outcomes or losses fiffgy thaterially from assessments and
estimates. Actual settlements, judgments or reisoisiof these claims or proceedings may negatiaébct our business and financial
performance. For more information, see “ltem 3.dlé@yoceedings.”

Changes in the legal and regulatory environment ithe jurisdictions in which we operate could increas our costs or reduce our
revenues, adversely affect demand for our productsr result in litigation.

As a producer of beverages, we must comply witfouarfederal, state, provincial, local and forelgws relating to production,
packaging, quality, labeling and distribution, inding, in the United States, those of the fedeoald; Drug and Cosmetic Act, the Fair
Packaging and Labeling Act, the Federal Trade Casimm Act, the Nutrition Labeling and Education Aad California Proposition 65. We
are also subject to various federal, state, praainiocal and foreign environmental laws and wadake regulations. These laws and
regulations include, in the United States, the @ational Safety and Health Act, the Unfair Labaarftards Act, the Clean Air Act, the Cle
Water Act, the Comprehensive Environmental RespaBsmpensation, and Liability Act, the Resource $&owmation and Recovery Act, the
Federal Motor Carrier Safety Act, laws governing&pemployment opportunity, customs and foreigdertaws and regulations, laws relai
to the maintenance of fuel storage tanks, lawginglédo water consumption and treatment, and varather federal statutes and regulations.
These laws and regulations may change as a rdqudtitical, economic, or social events. Such regaiy changes may include changes in
food and drug laws, laws related to advertisingpaating standards, taxation requirements, conipetiaws and environmental laws,
including laws relating to the regulation of watights and treatment. Changes in laws, regulatiwrgovernment policy and related
interpretations may alter the environment in whighdo business, which may impact our results aesme our costs or liabilities.

A number of states have passed laws setting foatimiwg or labeling requirements relating to produnfide for human consumption.
For example, the California law known as “Propesitb5” requires that a specific warning appear on anyymbsold in California containir
a substance listed by that state as having beew frsucause cancer or reproductive toxicity. Thig,land others like it, expose all food and
beverage producers to the possibility of havingrwvzide warnings on their products. The detectibeven a trace amount of a listed
substance can subject an affected product to theéresment of a warning label, although productstaiming listed substances that occur
naturally or that are contributed to such prodsclely by a municipal water supply are generallgrapt from the warning requirement. From
time to time over the past several years, certhoubcustomers have received notices allegingttf@tabeling requirements of the relevant
state regulation would apply to products manufaatloy us and sold by them. There can be no assuthatwe will not be adversely
affected by actions against our retailer partnenssaelating to Proposition 65 or similar “failui@warn” laws: were any such claim to be
pursued or succeed, we might in some cases baeddgoi
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indemnify our customers for damages, and our prisduwéght be required to bear warning labels in ptdde sold in certain states. Any
negative media attention, adverse publicity oraacérising from allegations of violations could adsely impact consumer and retailer
perceptions of our products and harm our business.

Proposed taxes on CSDs and other drinks could haws adverse effect on our business.

Federal, state, local and foreign governments kamsidered imposing taxes on soda and other sulgeus. Any such taxes could
negatively impact consumer demand for our prodactshave an adverse effect on our revenues.

We are not in compliance with the requirements oftie Ontario Environmental Protection Act (“OEPA”) and, if the Ontario
government seeks to enforce those requirements anplements modifications to them, we could be advesy affected.

Certain regulations under the OEPA provide thairdmum percentage of a bottler’s soft drink saléthin specified areas in Ontario
must be made in refillable containers. The perfaltynon-compliance is a fine of $50,000 per dayiteigg when the first offense occurs and
continuing until the first conviction, and then ieasing to $100,000 per day for each subsequertatimm. These fines may be increased to
equal the amount of monetary benefit acquired byofifender as a result of the commission of therafé. We, and we believe other industry
participants, are currently not in compliance with requirements of the OEPA. We do not expectetmlzompliance with these regulations
in the foreseeable future. Ontario is not enfor¢img OEPA at this time, but if it chose to enfotivte OEPA in the future, we could incur fines
for non-compliance and the possible prohibitiosaks of soft drinks in non-refillable containargdntario. We estimate that approximately
3% of our sales would be affected by the possibiédtion on sales of soft drinks in non-refillaldentainers in Ontario if the Ontario
Ministry of the Environment initiated an actiondgnforce the provisions of the OEPA against us. pnil2003, the Ontario Ministry of the
Environment proposed to revoke these regulatiofiaviar of new mechanisms under the Ontario WasteiBion Act to enhance diversion
from disposal of CSD containers. On December 2032the Ontario provincial government approvedithglementation of the Blue Box
Program plan under the Ministry of Environment Véa3tversion Act. The Program requires those pawies are brand owners or licensees
of rights to brands which are manufactured, pacttagedistributed for sale in Ontario to contribtethe net cost of the Blue Box Program.
We generally manufacture, package and distribuddymts for and on behalf of third party custom@&teerefore, we do not believe that we
will be responsible for direct costs of the Progr&towever, our customers may attempt to pass tests, or a portion of them, on to us. We
do not believe that the costs for which we maymatiely be responsible under this Program will heaweaterial adverse effect on our results
of operations; however, we cannot guarantee thisoowe. The Blue Box Program does not revoke anfiemfegulations mentioned above
under the OEPA regarding refillable containerd)algh the industry anticipates that they will beersed in the future.

Adverse weather conditions could affect our supplghain and reduce the demand for our products.

Severe weather conditions and natural disastech, @sifreezes, frosts, floods, hurricanes, tornadtosights or earthquakes and crop
diseases may affect our facilities and our supphae materials such as fruit. If the supply of arfyour raw materials is adversely affectec
weather conditions, it may result in increased naaterial costs and there can be no assurance ¢hailllbe able to obtain sufficient supplies
from other sources. In addition, the sales of agodpcts are influenced to some extent by weatheditons in the markets in which we
operate. Unusually cold or rainy weather duringghmmer months may reduce the demand for our ptedmel contribute to lower revenu
which could negatively impact our profitability.

Global or regional catastrophic events could impacbur operations and financial results.

Our business can be affected by large-scale tstracis, especially those directed against theedr8tates or other major industrialized
countries in which we do business, major natursdstiers, or widespread outbreaks of infectiousadese Such events could impair our ability
to manage our business, could disrupt our supply of
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raw materials, and could impact production, transgion and delivery of products. In addition, sesents could cause disruption of regional
or global economic activity, which can affect com&us’ purchasing power in the affected areas ddefore, reduce demand for our
products.

Our success depends in part upon our ability to racit, retain and prepare succession plans for our EO, CFO, senior management
and key employees.

The performance of our CEO, CFO, senior managearahbther key employees is critical to our succ@ssplan to continue to invest
time and resources in developing our senior manageand key employee teams. Our long-term succiissepend on our ability to recruit
and retain capable senior management and othezrkployees, and any failure to do so could havetanmahadverse effect on our future
operating results and financial condition. Furtliiene fail to adequately plan for the successibouwr CEO, CFO, senior management and
other key employees, our operating results coulddwersely affected.

Changes in future business conditions could caus@iness investments and/or recorded goodwill, indiefte life intangible assets or
other intangible assets to become impaired, resutt§ in substantial losses and writedowns that wouldegatively impact our results of
operations.

As part of our overall strategy, we will, from tin@time, make investments in other businessess& lmwestments are made upon
careful target analysis and due diligence proceddesigned to achieve a desired return or stratdyjective. These procedures often involve
certain assumptions and judgment in determiningstment amount or acquisition price. After acqigisior investment, unforeseen issues
could arise that adversely affect anticipated resuar that are otherwise not recoverable as arsgua@nt to the purchase price. Even after
careful integration efforts, actual operating résuatay vary significantly from initial estimateso@will accounted for $130.2 million of our
recorded total assets as of January 1, 2011. Waatgahe recoverability of recorded goodwill amtsuannually, or when evidence of
potential impairment exists. The annual impairntest is based on several factors requiring judgraedtcertain underlying assumptions.
only intangible asset with an indefinite life relatto the 2001 acquisition of intellectual propéroym Royal Crown Company, Inc. including
the right to manufacture our concentrates, withiedited inventions, processes, technologies, teahand manufacturing information, know-
how and the use of the Royal Crown brand outsid¢asth America and Mexico (the “Rights”). This assghich has a net book value of
$45.0 million, is more fully described in Note 1ttee Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of January 1, 2011, other intangible assets %8&6.1 million, which consisted principally of $23 million of customer
relationships that arose from acquisitions andemsarks of $7.8 million. Customer relationshipsareortized on a straight-line basis for the
period over which we expect to receive economielits) which is up to 15 years. We review the eatiad useful life of these intangible
assets annually, taking into consideration theifipewet cash flows related to the intangible assatess it is required more frequently due
triggering event such as the loss of a customez.peimanent loss of any customer included in ttangible asset would result in impairment
in the value of the intangible asset or acceleratadrtization and could lead to an impairment xédi assets that were used to service that
client. Principally, a decrease in expected opegasegment cash flows, changes in market condijtloas of key customers and a change in
our imputed cost of capital may indicate poteritighairment of recorded goodwill or the Rights. Bdditional information on accounting
policies we have in place for goodwill impairmesge our discussion under “Critical Accounting Hecand Estimates” in “ltem 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations” of this AnnRajport on Form 10-K and Note 1,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” ineiNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our stock price may be volatile.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stoc&haxge (the “NYSE”) and Toronto Stock Exchange KT)S The market price ¢
our common stock has fluctuated substantially énghst and could fluctuate substantially in thereitbased on a variety of factors, includ
future announcements covering us or our key
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customers or competitors, government regulatiotigation, changes in earnings estimates by arglylsictuations in quarterly operating
results or general conditions in our industry. Rertmore, stock prices for many companies fluctuadiely for reasons that may be unrelated
to their operating results. Those fluctuations gederal economic, political and market conditiagh as recessions or international curr
fluctuations and demand for our services, may ashheaffect the market price of our common stock.

Failure to maintain our stock exchange listings wold adversely affect the trading price and liquidity of our common shares.

We have, in the past, received notice of non-coamgk with NYSE listing requirements due to our shaice trading below $1.00 for
periods of time. While we have cured such defidienidf we are not able to maintain compliance wlith listing requirements of the NYSE
and/or TSX, our shares may be subject to remowat fisting on the NYSE and/or TSX. Trading in oermamon shares after a delisting, if
any, would likely be conducted in the over-the-deamarkets in the Over-The-Counter Bulletin Boardhe “pink sheets” and could also be
subject to additional restrictions. As a conseqaasfa delisting, our shareholders would find itrendifficult to dispose of, or to obtain
accurate quotations as to the market value ofcommmon shares. In addition, a delisting would malkecommon shares substantially less
attractive as collateral for margin and purpos@$odor investment by financial institutions undlegir internal policies or state investment
laws, or as consideration in future capital raising

We may not be able to renew collective bargainingggeements on satisfactory terms, or we could expemce strikes.

As of January 1, 2011, 820 of our employees weversa by collective bargaining agreements in thigddrStates, Canada and Mexi
These agreements typically expire every threevioyears at various dates. We may not be ablenewr®ur collective bargaining agreements
on satisfactory terms or at all. This could regulitrikes or work stoppages, which could impair akility to manufacture and distribute our
products and result in a substantial loss of sdles.terms of existing or renewed agreements calslal significantly increase our costs or
negatively affect our ability to increase operatibefficiency.

We depend on key information systems and third-past service providers.

We depend on key information systems to accuratediefficiently transact our business, provide rimfation to management and
prepare financial reports. We have typically reliedthird-party providers for the majority of ougykinformation systems and business
processing services, including hosting our prindata center. In particular, we are in the procéamplementing a new SAP software
platform to assist us in the management of oummss and are also reorganizing certain processemwur finance and accounting
departments. As a part of the reorganization, veeoatsourcing certain back office transactionadifice processes. Additionally, in connec
with the efforts to integrate the Cliffstar busisegth our operations, we are transforming the Camyfs information technology function
from a nearly 100% outsourced, single vendor m@hstiip to a combination of in-house resources aniti-vendor strategy. If we fail to
successfully implement these projects or if thgquts do not result in increased operational efficies, our operations may be disrupted and
our operating expenses could increase, which caaNersely affect our financial results.

In addition, these systems and services are viifeeta interruptions or other failures resultingrfr, among other things, natural
disasters, terrorist attacks, software, equipmeiglecommunications failures, processing errassmputer viruses, hackers, other security
issues or supplier defaults. Security, backup asalster recovery measures may not be adequatepterivanted properly to avoid such
disruptions or failures. Any disruption or failuséthese systems or services could cause substartias, processing inefficiencies, security
breaches, inability to use the systems or procassactions, loss of customers or other businassptions, all of which could negatively
affect our business and financial performance.
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We also face other risks that could adversely affeéour business, results of operations or financiatondition, which include:
e any requirement to restate financial results inethent of inappropriate application of accountiniggiples or otherwise
e any event that could damage our reputat
» failure of our processes to prevent and detecthiretconduct of employee
« asignificant failure of internal controls overdincial reporting

» failure of our prevention and control systems edab employee compliance with internal policied eggulatory requirements;
and

» failure of corporate governance policies and praces

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLV ED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPE RTIES

We operate twentgix beverage production facilities in North Ameritaenty of which we own and six of which we lea#ée also ow!
and operate a global concentrate manufacturingitfaiti Columbus, Georgia. In the United Kingdome wperate four beverage production
facilities, all of which we own. In Mexico, we ofade two beverage production facilities, one of whie own and one of which we lease.

Total square footage of our beverage productiottitias is approximately 2.3 million square feettire U.S.; 0.9 million square feet in
Canada; 0.9 million square feet in the United Kimggl and 0.3 million square feet in Mexico. This agufootage does not include tweotye
separate leased warehouses and one owned warghatisemprise 1.9 million square feet and four éelasffice spaces that comprise
0.2 million square feet. Lease terms for non-owbegerage production facilities expire between 28id 2022.

The beverage production facilities and square fpo&mounts noted above do not include vacant cgrutitized properties.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEE DINGS

In January 2005, we were named as one of many d&fésin The Consumers’ Association of Canada andeBCran v. Coca-Cola
Bottling Ltd. Et al., a class action suit allegitg unauthorized use by the defendants of contdeygosits and the imposition of recycling 1
on consumers. On June 2, 2006, the British ColurSbjareme Court granted the summary trial applioatichich resulted in the dismissal of
the plaintiffs’ action against us and the otheregefants. On June 26, 2006, the plaintiffs appaaledismissal of the action to the British
Columbia Court of Appeals which was denied, andgpeal to the Supreme Court of Canada was reject&ecember 20, 2007. In Febru
2005, similar class action claims were filed inuaner of other Canadian provinces. Claims file@irebec have since been discontinued, but
it is unclear how the dismissal of the British Guohia case will impact the other cases.

We are subject to various claims and legal procesdith respect to matters such as governmergalagons, income taxes, and other
actions arising out of the normal course of businbsanagement believes that the resolution of theaters will not have a material adverse
effect on our financial position or results fromeogtions.

ITEM 4. RESERVED
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SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM PART I. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following is a list of names, ages, offices @adkgrounds of all of our executive officers addafrch 14, 2011. Our officers do not
serve for a set term.

Office Age
Jerry Fowden Chief Executive Office 54
Neal Cravens Chief Financial Office 58
Michael Creamer Vice Presider—Human Resource 54
Gregory Leiter Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer akekistant Secretal 53
William Reis Senior Vice President, Chief Procurement Off 55
Marni Morgan Poe Vice President, General Counsel and Secre 41
Michael Gibbons Presider—U.S. Business Un 52

Jerry Fowden was appointed Chief Executive OffameFebruary 18, 2009. Prior to this appointmentédmwed as President of our
international operating segments and Interim PesdjdNorth America from May 2008 to February 2088 as Interim President
of our United Kingdom operating segment from Seffiten2007 to May 2008. He served as Chief Exec@ifficer of Trader
Media Group Ltd., a media company, and as a mewitits parent Guardian Media Group plc’s Board @febtors from 2005
until 2007. From 2001 until 2004, he served in Aetg of roles with AB InBev S.A. Belgium, an alagft beverage company,
including President, European Zone, Western, Ceatich Eastern Europe from 2003 to 2004, Global Objgerating Officer from
2002 to 2003 and Chief Executive Officer of Baseviers Ltd., a subsidiary of AB InBev S.A. Belgiuimom 2001 to 2002.

Mr. Fowden was a director of Chesapeake Corpordtiow known as Canal Corporation) when it filedoduntary Chapter 11
petition in the United States on December 29, 2@8May 12, 2009, Chesapeake’s operating business@ssold to a group of
investors and Mr. Fowden resigned from his positiera director. Mr. Fowden currently serves orbibard of directors of
Constellation Brands, Inc., a premium wine compamy.Fowden has served on our board since Marcl92

Neal Cravens was appointed Chief Financial Offaerugust 20, 2009, effective September 8, 2009.®favens sper
approximately 20 years with Seagram Company, thé. beverage, consumer products, and media emi@eat company, where
he served as Vice President, Planning, MergersAgndisitions, Senior Vice President, Finance andCAccounting Officer, an
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offiaethe divisional level. In 2004, Mr. Cravensied Warner Music Group as
Senior Vice President Finance. He then servedarCthief Financial Officer role for Aimatis GmbHgbal chemical company,
during 2006, and Advantage Sales & Marketing, asaarer products broker, from 2007 to 2008. Immetigigor to joining the
Company, Mr. Cravens was a financial consultafNbFacility Maintenance, a facilities maintenancenpany formerly known
as Integrated Process Technolog

Michael Creamer was appointed Vice President of &luResources for International and Tampa, Floridapril 2007 and
promoted to Vice President of Human Resources @it i@ August 2008. Mr. Creamer currently servesasCorporate Human
Resources Vice President. Prior to joining Cott, @irramer was Senior Director of Human Resourca&ipes and International
for Avanade Corporation, a global IT consultancyrfed as a joint venture between Accenture and MaftdCorporation. From
1990 to 2004, Mr. Creamer held several positiorteiwiMicrosoft, including senior global human resms positions

Gregory Leiter was appointed Vice President, CafmController and Assistant Secretary of Cott avéimber 2007, and
appointed Senior Vice President and Controller jmmil22008. Mr. Leiter took on the additional role@hief Accounting Officer in
January 2010. Mr. Leiter currently serves as omi@e/ice President, Chief Accounting Officer andsistant Secretary. Prior to
joining Cott, he served from October 2006 to Octdt#7 as Practice Mana—Governance, Risk & Compliant
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with the international software firm SAP Americaofm January 2003 to September 2006, he held twitiggoswith Graham
Packaging Company, an international manufactureusfom blow-molded plastic containers. From Fetyr@Q06 to September
2006, he served as Graham Packaging’s Vice Prdsidelobal Business Process and from January 206@touary 2006, he
served as Director of Internal Auc

« William Reis was appointed Senior Vice Presidemie€Procurement Officer in March 2007. Prior tinjag Cott, he served from
February 2004 to February 2007 as Senior Vice &easiand Chief Procurement Officer for Revlon. Fiiéabruary 2001 to
February 2004, he served as Vice President of GRtmeurement for Goldman Sacl

* Marni Morgan Poe was appointed Vice President, @i@@ounsel and Secretary in February 2010. Poitver appointment, she
served as Corporate Counsel of the Company frorte8gger 2008 until her appointment. Prior to jointhg Company, Ms. Poe
was the co-founder and Chief Executive Officer ef'& Eat Dinner, Inc., a franchisor of dinner prggi@n kitchens, from 2006 to
2008. From 2000 to 2006, she was a partner atthdilm of Holland & Knight LLP and an associatetbé law firm from 1995 t
2000.

» Mike Gibbons was appointed President of Cott’s biginess unit in October 2010. Prior to his apipeémt, Mr. Gibbons held
several positions with Cott from 2004 to 2010, uthg General Manager of Cott's U.S. business @#hior Vice President /
General Manager of Cott’s Canadian business umit \dce President of Sales of Cott’s Canadian hassirunit. Prior to joining
Cott, he served as Director of Sales for ConA
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PART Il

ITEM5. MARKE T FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREOWNER MATTERS
Our common shares are listed on the TSX undeli¢kertsymbol “BCB,” and on the NYSE under the tickgmbol “COT.”

The tables below show the high and low reportedshare sales prices of common shares on the TSXairadian dollars) and the
NYSE (in U.S. dollars) for the indicated periods 2010 and 200¢

Toronto Stock Exchange (C$)

2010 2009
High Low High Low
First Quarte! $8.9¢ $6.92 $ 1.8¢ $0.8¢
Second Quarte $8.8¢ $5.94 $ 7.37 $1.0¢
Third Quartel $8.6( $5.6€ $ 8.9¢ $5.51
Fourth Quarte $9.0C $7.4¢€ $10.0C $7.2¢
New York Stock Exchange (U.S.$)
2010 2009
High Low High Low
First Quartel $8.6E $6.72 $1.5¢ $0.6E
Second Quarte $8.8¢ $5.5¢ $6.8(C $0.87
Third Quartel $8.42 $5.41 $8.2¢ $5.1¢
Fourth Quarte $9.0¢ $7.3¢ $9.3¢ $6.67

As of March 8, 2011, we had 1,118 shareownersairce This number was determined from records ramiatl by our transfer agent
and it does not include beneficial owners of se@siwhose securities are held in the names obwarilealers or clearing agencies. The
closing sale price of our common shares on Mar@081 was C$8.40 on the TSX and $8.68 on the NYSE.

We have not paid cash dividends since June 19@8damot intend to change that practice at thigtilthere are certain restrictions on
the payment of dividends under our ABL facilityetindenture governing the 2017 Notes and the indergoverning the 2018 Notes. The
ABL facility, the indenture governing the 2017 Netnd the indenture governing the 2018 Notes amugsed in “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpfrations” beginning on page 29.

If we pay dividends to shareowners who are nordesgs of Canada, those dividends will generallgiigect to Canadian withholding
tax. Under current Canadian tax law, dividends jgi@ Canadian corporation to a nonresident shareoare generally subject to Canadian
withholding tax at a 25% rate. Under the currertttaaty between Canada and the U.S., U.S. residemb are entitled to treaty benefits are
generally eligible for a reduction in this withhold tax rate to 15% (and to 5% for a shareowndritha corporation and is the beneficial
owner of at least 10% of our voting stock). Accagly, under current tax law, our U.S. resident shaners who are entitled to treaty
benefits will generally be subject to a Canadiathiaglding tax at a 15% rate on dividends paid hypuavided that they have complied with
applicable procedural requirements to claim theefieaf the reduced rate under the tax treaty. flftie protocol to the tax treaty between
Canada and the U.S. places additional restrictionthe ability of U.S. residents to claim theseumsl rate benefits. U.S. residents generally
will be entitled on their U.S. federal income ta&turns to claim a foreign tax credit, or a
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deduction, for Canadian withholding tax that apptie them, subject to certain applicable limitasiod.S. investors should consult their tax
advisors with respect to the tax consequenceseaqdrements applicable to them, based on theividdal circumstances.

For information on securities authorized for isstaander our equity compensation plans, see IterfSEZurity Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related ShvaesoMatters.”

During 2008, 2009 and 2010, no equity securitiehefCompany were sold by the Company that wereewyistered under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Calculation of aggregate market value of non-affitate shares

For purposes of calculating the aggregate markaewvaf common shares held by nafiiliates as shown on the cover page of this rg
it was assumed that all of the outstanding shaszs Weld by non-affiliates except for outstandihgres held or controlled by our directors
and executive officers. This should not be deerneambhstitute an admission that any of these peramsn fact, affiliates of us, or that there
are not other persons who may be deemed to bet$l For further information concerning sharelngd of officers, directors and principal
stockholders see Item 12, “Security Ownership at&e Beneficial Owners and Management and Rel8teateowner Matters.”

Shareowner return performance graph

The following graph shows changes over our pastfiscal years in the value of C$100, assumingvesitment of dividends, invested
in: (i) our common shares; (ii) the Toronto StocicEange’s S&P/TSX Composite Index; and (iii) a pgerup of publicly-traded companies
in the bottling industry comprised of Coca-Coladfptises Inc., Coca-Cola Bottling Co. Consolidatédtional Beverage Corp., Pepsi
Bottling Group Inc. and PepsiAmericas Inc. The itigrice of Cott's common shares as of JanuaB01]1 on the TSX was C$8.95 and on
the NYSE was $9.01. The following table is in Canadlollars.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

160.00
140.00
2
m 120.00
°
g 100.00
c
®© 80.00
?E 60.00
m
O 40.00
20.00
0.00
12/31/056  12/30/06 12/29/07 12/27/08 1/02/10 1/01/11
—o— Cott Corporation —-S&P/TSX Composite —&— Peer Group
ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON JAN, 01, 2006
ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED
FISCAL YEAR ENDING JAN. 01, 2011
Company/Market/Peer Group 12/31/200! 12/30/2001 12/29/200° 12/27/200: 1/2/201( 1/1/201:
Cott Corporatior $ 100.0( $ 96.9¢ $ 38.21 $ 8.5¢ $ 50.0¢€ $ 52.1¢
S&P/TSX Compositt $ 100.0( $  117.2¢ $ 128.6¢ $ 79.6¢ $116.5: $137.0¢
Peer Groug $ 100.0( $ 107.4¢ $ 119.0¢ $ 81.5: $116.1¢ $116.9¢
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FI NANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data reflects tasults of operations. This information should &ad in conjunction with, and is
qualified by reference to “Management’s Discussiad Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations” and the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto includesizdisre in this report. The financial informatioe@ented may not be indicative of future

performance.

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amaus)

Revenue

Cost of sale:

Gross Profit

Selling, general and administrative exper
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipn

Restructuring, goodwill and asset impairments aherocharges

Restructuring

Gooduwill impairments

Asset impairment

Other charge

Operating income (loss;

Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen
Other expense (income), r

Interest expense, n

Income (loss) before income taxe

Income tax expense (benel

Net income (loss

Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest:
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporation

Net income (loss) per common shat
Basic

Diluted

Financial Condition

Total asset

Shor-term borrowings

Current maturities of lor-term debt
Long-term debi

Equity

Cash dividends pai

1

January 1, January 2, December 27 December 2¢ December 3C
20111 2010 2008 20072 20063
(52 weeks (53 weeks (52 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
$1,803.: $1,596.° $ 1,648.: $ 1,776. $ 1,771
1,537.( 1,346.¢ 1,467.. 1,578.( 1,554.¢
266.: 249.¢ 181.( 198.2 216.¢
166.7 146.¢ 179.¢ 161.¢ 176.1
1.1 0.5 1.3 0.2 —
(0.5) 15 6.7 24.% 20.E
— — 69.2 55.¢ —
— 3.€ 37.C 10.7 15.4
— — — — 2.€
99.( 97.4 (113.0) (54.5) 2.2
(20.9) — — — —
4.C 4.4 4.7 4.7 0.1
36.¢ 29.7 32.% 32.¢ 32.2
78. 63.2 (140.6) (82.6) (30.0
18.€ (22.6) (19.5) (13.9) (16.9)
$ 596 $ 8.1 $ (121.) $ (687 $ (13.7)
5.1 4.€ 1.7 2.7 3.8
$ 547 $ 81E $ (122, $ (714 $ (179
$ 06/ $ 1.1C $ (179 $ (099 $ (0.29
$ 062 $ 106 $ (179 $ (099 $ (0.29
$1,529.: $ 873.¢ $ 873.1 $ 1,144. $ 1,140.
7.S 20.z 107.5 137.C 107.5
6.C 17.€ 7.€ 2.4 2.C
605.5 233.2 294.¢ 269.( 275.2
535.2 401.: 246.5 451.¢ 509.¢

In 2010, we completed the acquisition of substiiptél of the assets and liabilities of Cliffst@orporation, a privately-held

corporation, and its affiliated companies for apgmmately $500.0 million in cash, subject to adjustits for working capital,
indebtedness and certain expenses. Cliffstar idezhto additional contingent consideration ofto@ maximum of $55.0 million; the
first $15.0 million of which is payable upon thengevement of milestones in upgrading certain exjpengrojects in 2010, and the

remainder of which is based on the achievemenedéim performance measures during the fiscal geding January 1, 2011. Cliffstar

is also entitled to $14.0 million of deferred catesition, which will be paid over a th-year period
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2

During 2007, we acquired 100% of the business agdefl Riego, a Mexican water bottler, for $2.2limn. Effective December 31,
2006, we adopted the provisions related to ungetéad positions in Accounting Standards CodificatftASC”) No. 740, “Income
Taxes” and recorded an $8.8 million charge to our shareosvaquity as of the first day of the year endeddbéer 29, 200"

There were no acquisitions during 2006. During 2@@6adopted ASC No. 718-10, “Stock Compensatiosifigithe modified
prospective approach and therefore have not restaseilts for prior periods. This change resultethe recognition of $11.4 million in
shar-based compensation expense, $8.4 million net oft&0.12 per basic and diluted sh:
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

We are the world’s largest retailer brand bevei@gapany. Our objective of creating sustainable {targn growth in revenue and
profitability is predicated on working closely witlur retailer partners to provide proven profitafeducts. As a “fast followersf innovative
products, our goal is to identify which new produate succeeding in the marketplace and develdtasipnivate label products to provide
our retail partners and their consumers with higality products at a better value. This objectétcreasingly relevant in more difficult
economic times.

The beverage market is subject to some seasonativas. Our beverage sales are generally higheénglthe warmer months and also
can be influenced by the timing of holidays, andther fluctuations. This seasonality also causesvorking capital needs to fluctuate with
inventory being higher in the first half of the yéa meet the peak summer demand and accountyabteideclining in the fall as customers
pay their higher-than-average outstanding balafroes the summer deliveries.

Retailer brand suppliers, such as us, typicallyajgeat low margins and therefore relatively sroh#inges in cost structures can
materially impact results. In 2009 and 2010, indusarbonated soft drink (“CSD") sales continuediézline, and ingredient and packaging
costs remained volatile.

Ingredient and packaging costs represent a sigmifiportion of our cost of sales. These costs @gest to global and regional
commodity price trends. Our three largest commeslitire aluminum, polyethylene terephthalate (“PE&$)n, and corn. We attempt to
manage our exposure to fluctuations in ingrediedt@ackaging costs of our products by implemenirice increases as needed and entering
into fixed price commitments for a portion of ongredient and packaging requirements. In 2010, mered into fixed price commitments
a majority of our forecasted aluminum requiremdot2010 as well as more than half of our requiretaéor 2011.

On August 17, 2010 (the “Acquisition Date”), we qalated the acquisition of substantially all of Hesets and liabilities of Cliffstar
Corporation (“Cliffstar”)and its affiliated companies for approximately $80@illion payable in cash, $14.0 million in defegrconsideratio
to be paid over three years and contingent coratiderof up to $55.0 million, the first $15.0 milli of which is payable upon the
achievement of milestones in upgrading of certapaasion projects in 2010, and the remainder otlwis based on the achievement of
certain performance measures during the fiscal geding January 1, 2011 (the “Cliffstar Acquisitipn

The Cliffstar Acquisition was financed through tHesing of a private placement offering by Cott Beages Inc. of $375.0 million
aggregate principal amount of 8.125% senior notes2a018 (the “2018 Notes”), the underwritten pubfiering of 13.4 million of our
common shares (the “Equity Offering”) and borrovengder our asset based lending (“ABL") facilityhish we refinanced in connection
with the Cliffstar Acquisition, to increase the amno available for borrowings to $275.0 million.

Our financial liquidity, as of January 1, 2011, imoyped due to the reduction of outstanding borrowingder our ABL facility to $7.9
million, leaving $248.1 million of availability uret the facility.

In the U.S., we have been supplying Wal-Mart witlvaite label CSDs under an exclusive supply agre¢uigted December 21, 1998,
between our wholly-owned subsidiary Cott Beverdges and Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (the “Exclusive USsipply Contract”). We also supply
Wal-Mart and its affiliated companies with a vayief products on a non-exclusive basis in the WC&nada, United Kingdom and Mexico,
including CSDs, juice, clear, still and sparklingviored waters, juice-based products, bottled wategrgy drinks and ready-to-drink teas. On
January 27, 2009, we received written notice froml-Wart stating that Wal-Mart was exercising itght to terminate, without cause, the
Exclusive U.S. Supply Contract. The terminatioeffective on January 28, 2012. This has the efiéotturning our relationship to more
typical market terms over time, and allows Wal-Marintroduce other suppliers in the future, gdtdesires. The termination provision of the
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Exclusive U.S. Supply Contract provides for ourlasgive right to supply CSDs to Wadart in the U.S. to be phased out over a perioithiefe
years following notice of termination (t“Notice Period”). Accordingly, we had the exclusiight to supply at least two-thirds of Wal-Mat’
total CSD volumes in the U.S. during the first 1@nths of the Notice Period, and we had the exatusght to supply at least one-third of
Wal-Mart's total CSD volumes in the U.S. during 8exond 12 months of the Notice Period. Duringfitied 12 months of the Notice Period,
there is no minimum supply requirement. Notwithgiag the notice of termination of the Exclusive USsipply Contract, we continue to
supply Wal-Mart with all of its private label CSrsthe U.S. However, should Wal-Mart choose toddtrce an additional supplier to fulfill a
portion of its requirements for its private labeb@s, our operating results could be materially esklg affected. Sales to Wal-Mart in 2010,
2009 and 2008, accounted for 31.0%, 33.5% and 35e8¥ectively, of total revenue.

Recent Developments

On August 17, 2010, we completed the Cliffstar Asdion for approximately $500.0 million in cashulgect to adjustments for workil
capital, indebtedness and certain expenses. @lifistentitled to additional contingent considenatdf up to a maximum of $55.0 million; the
first $15.0 million of which is payable upon thengevement of milestones in upgrading certain exjpengrojects in 2010, and the remainder
of which is based on the achievement of certaifopgiance measures during the fiscal year endingalgri, 2011. Cliffstar is also entitled
$14.0 million of deferred consideration, which Wik paid over a three-year period.

Summary financial results

Our net income in 2010 was $54.7 million or $0.é8 giluted share, compared with net income of $&dilbon or $1.08 per diluted
share in 2009.

The following items of significance impacted out @@inancial results:

» the Cliffstar Acquisition contributed $232.2 miltido revenue, and $5.2 million to operating inco

» the transaction costs related to the Cliffstar Asitjon were $7.2 million and integration costs e&6.1 million, which are
included in selling, general and administrati* SG&A");

e gross profit declined to 14.8% in 2010 from 15.6%2009. Gross profit in 2010 included $12.0 millwiCliffstar related
purchase accounting adjustments. Excluding thejsistagents, gross profit was 15.4

* ourrevenue increased 12.9% in 2010 compared t8. Zlfsent foreign exchange impact, revenue incrkae2% in 2010,
primarily due to the Cliffstar Acquisitiot

» our filled beverage 8-ounce equivalents (“beveregge volume”) increased 7.3% driven by a 7.7% as®eén the North America
operating segment, primarily due to the Cliffstaigéisition;

» the interest expense increased 24.2% due to thariss of the 2018 Note

» the income tax expense changed from a benefit 283aillion in 2009 to an expense of $18.6 milliar2010 due primarily to the
fact that the prior year included the utilizatidnvaluation allowances and the utilization of aasurelated to uncertain tax
positions; anc

» our 2010 results were favorably impacted by theicédn of the contingent consideration earn-outaeaoof $20.3 million related
to the Cliffstar Acquisition

The following items of significance impacted oud2@inancial results:

« improved gross profit as a percentage of sale® @ in 2009 from 11.0% in 2008, reflecting the dférof local currency price
increases, improved product mix and lower ingreidéen packaging cost

» our revenue declined 3.1% in 2009 compared to 2BR8luding foreign exchange impact, revenue inard&s4% in 200¢
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the consumer shift toward retailer brand produsta gesult of weak economic conditio

a slight decrease in filled beverage case volurflecterg a 1.2% decrease in our North America ofiegasegment which was
partially offset by a 2.0% increase in our U.K. mgiing segmen

the SG&A cost saving initiatives that resulted mSG&A decrease of $33.0 millio

the weakening value in the Canadian dollar, potedisg and Mexican peso each relative to the ddHar resulted in a $88.1
million adverse impact on revenues, a $12.0 miladwerse impact on gross profit and a $8.0 milfiositive impact on SG&A

the restructuring, severance and lease terminatiets of $1.5 million in connection with the planplemented in 2009 that
resulted in a further reduction of our workforce2®09 (the “2009 Restructuring Plan”) and assegimmpent costs of $3.6 million
relating primarily to the loss of a custom

a loss on the buyback of our senior unsecured miotesn 2011 (th“2011 Note”) of $3.3 million;

a tax benefit resulting primarily from the reverefiaccruals relating to uncertain tax positiodaspnterest and penalties, which
generated a $17.5 million benefit and a $25.0 anilincome tax benefit resulting from the revergdl . valuation allowances.
These valuation allowance reversals were causélebyarryback of net operating losses in the Uu8.td recent changes in tax
law and the utilization in the current year of Ud8ferred tax assets with valuation allowancessg&heenefits were partially offset
by $19.7 million of income tax expense resultingsthofrom current year earnings; a

an extra week in fiscal 2009 that is estimatedawehcontributed 9.1 million additional beverageesa$20.3 million of additional
revenue and $1.3 million of additional operatingame.

The following items of significance impacted oud&@inancial results:

a goodwill impairment of $69.2 million arising frolmwer anticipated operating cash flows relateduoUnited Kingdom
reporting unit;

an asset impairment of $35.4 million for the Rigi¢sdefined below (which are associated with thletsi to manufacture
concentrate formulas, with all the related invemsioprocesses and technical expertise, recordand asangible assets at the cost
of acquisition, including the RC brand outside afrth America and Mexico) arising from the downwénehd of estimated
concentrate productiol

the highly competitive environment and continuetuxte decline in all operating segmer

a decline in revenue attributable to -Mart of 15.4% in the U.S. reporting un

the executive transition costs of $6.8 million (urding $1.9 million of no-cash stock compensation expen

the restructuring severance and lease terminatists ©f $6.7 million in connection with our restiuring initiatives;

an increase in SG&A costs associated with expitiademarks, amortization of software costs, $4J6aniof previously
capitalized software costs and bad debt expe

the decline in the foreign exchange rate comparalet U.S. dollar for the Canadian dollar, poursdistg and Mexican peso that
resulted in a $27.6 million adverse impact on ress;

the accelerated depreciation of $1.5 million résglfrom Wal-Mart’s decision to remove certain afrawending machines from
Wal-Mart stores along with $0.9 million of asset remma@sts; anc

a lower effective income tax rate resulting fromvréte down of United Kingdom reporting unit goodimilith no tax relief and a
valuation allowance on U.S. and Mexico deferre@ime tax assets, offset in part by a settlemenédain tax matters under auc
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Critical accounting policies

Our critical accounting policies require managemenhake estimates and assumptions that affecefieeted amounts in the
consolidated financial statements and the acconipgmptes. These estimates are based on histesipakience, the advice of external
experts or on other assumptions management believ@sreasonable. Where actual amounts differ etimates, revisions are included in
the results for the period in which actuals becémawn. Historically, differences between estimated actuals have not had a significant
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Critical accounting policies and estimates usegrépare the financial statements are discussedowitudit Committee as they are
implemented and include the following:

Impairment testing of goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess purchase priceqfiaer businesses over the fair value of the redtasacquired. Goodwill is not
amortized, but instead is tested at least annfrallynpairment in the fourth quarter or more freqihe if we determine a triggering event has
occurred during the year. Any impairment loss omized in our results of operations. We evalgatadwill for impairment on a reporting
unit basis. Reporting units are operations for Witiscrete financial information is available, avé at or one level below our operating
segments. The evaluation of goodwill for each répgrunit is based upon the following approach. smpare the fair value of a reporting
unit to its carrying amount. Where the carrying amtds greater than the fair value, the implied falue of the reporting unit goodwill is
determined by allocating the fair value of the mtipg unit to all the assets and liabilities of tieporting unit with any of the remainder being
allocated to goodwill. The implied fair value oftheporting unit goodwill is then compared to therging amount of that goodwill to
determine the impairment loss. Any impairment itueds recognized in net income (loss). We had golbdf $130.2 million on our balance
sheet at January 1, 2011, which represents amfarrttse U.S. and Canada reporting units and the ¢gp@tating segment.

We measure the fair value of reporting units usingix of the income approach (which is based ordibeounted cash flow of the
reporting unit) and the public company approach.uste a combination of the two approaches which &liee provides a more accurate
valuation because it incorporates the actual caglkemtion of the company in addition to how a tipiadty market participant would value the
reporting unit. Because the business is assumegtiinue in perpetuity, the discounted future désh includes a terminal value. We used a
weighted average terminal growth rate of 2% for @anada reporting unit in 2010 and 2009, respdytiamd 2% and 0% for our RCI
reporting unit in 2010 and 2009, respectively. Tdreg-term growth assumptions incorporated intodiseounted cash flow calculation reflect
our long-term view of the market (including a deelin CSD demand), projected changes in the salargbroducts, pricing of such products
and operating profit margins. The estimated revatamges in this analysis for the Canada repouigand RCI reporting unit ranged
between -7.9% and 7.2% for 2010 and between -0r8%4.8.8% for 2009.

The discount rate used for the fair value estimates 10% for 2010 and 11% for 2009. This rate veset on the weighted average
of capital a market participant would use if evéilugthe reporting unit as an investment. The figle rate for 2010 was 4.1% and is based on
a 20-year U.S. Treasury Bill as of the valuatioteda

All goodwill in the U.S. reporting unit is attribaible to the Cliffstar Acquisition.

Each year during the fourth quarter, we re-evaltieeassumptions used to reflect changes in thedasenvironment, such as revenue
growth rates, operating profit margins and discoaté. Based on the evaluation performed this y&lizing the assumptions above, we
determined that the fair value of each of our répgrunits exceeded their carrying amount and i@salt further impairment testing was not
required. We analyzed the sensitivity these assomphave on our overall impairment assessmentatalthat as of the January 1, 2011
annual assessment, the fair value for each of ttegseting units was substantially in excess ot#@gying value.
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We determined that as of September 27, 2008, oitetdKingdom reporting unit's goodwill was impairedsed on our estimate of its
fair value. This impairment analysis was triggetde@ to cumulative declines in our cash flows intttmited Kingdom, which was lower than
the forecast used to value this asset in our 2@@airment analysis. This decrease in cash flowpaatly the result of lower than anticipated
volumes and the adverse impact of rising commagliie our raw material costs. Allocating this faatue to the assets and liabilities to the
United Kingdom reporting unit resulted in a $69.®ion goodwill impairment charge.

Impairment testing of intangible assets with an iefinite life

Our only intangible asset with an indefinite litdates to the 2001 acquisition of intellectual @y from Royal Crown Company, Inc.
including the right to manufacture our concentratéth all related inventions, processes, technielgechnical and manufacturing
information, know-how and the use of the Royal Qndwand outside of North America and Mexico (théghRs”) which has a net book val
of $45.0 million. Prior to 2001, we paid a volumesbd royalty to the Royal Crown Company for purehafsconcentrates. There are no legal,
regulatory, contractual, competitive, economicotbrer factors that limit the useful life of thigamgible.

The life of the Rights is considered to be indeérsind therefore not amortized, but instead igtkat least annually for impairment or
more frequently if we determine a triggering evieas occurred during the year. For an intangibletagih an indefinite life, we compare the
carrying amount of the Rights to their fair valuelavhere the carrying amount is greater than thevédue, we recognize in income an
impairment loss. To determine fair value, we useliaf from royalty method which calculates a faiue royalty rate that is applied to a
forecast of future volume shipments of concentratgroduce CSDs. The forecast of future volumdsmised on the estimated inter-plant
shipments and RCI shipments. The royalty reliefirodtis used since the Rights were purchased irtgartoid making future royalty
payments for concentrate to the Royal Crown Compa@hg resulting pro forma cash flows are discountsdg the same assumptions
discussed above for goodwill. No impairment waswalted for the year ended January 1, 2011. Aepfesnber 27, 2008, we recorded an
asset impairment related to the Rights of $27.4ianil triggered primarily by the decline of our NlerAmerica case volume (including
reductions in volume with Wal-Mart) and lower aifigtted overseas concentrate volume in our RCI dipgraegment. We incurred an
additional $8.0 million asset impairment as of Draber 27, 2008 to reflect additional anticipatedwoé declines in our RCI operating
segment for a total impairment of $35.4 million.s&nt any other changes, if our inter-plant coneg@tvolume declines by 1.0% from our
estimated volume, the value of our Rights wouldidedy approximately $0.9 million. If our RCI vahe declines by 1.0% from our
estimated volume, the value of the Rights wouldidedy approximately $1.9 million. If our discoet borrowing rate increases by 100
basis points, the value of the Rights would dedlip@pproximately $3.2 million.

Other intangible assets

As of January 1, 2011, other intangible assets $826.1 million, which consisted principally of $238 million of customer
relationships that arise from acquisitions. Custoreiationships are amortized on a straight-lingidfor the period over which we expect to
receive economic benefits. We review the estimatedul life of these intangible assets annuallgin@into consideration the specific net
cash flows related to the intangible asset, urdagwview is required more frequently due to a &igigg event such as the loss of a customer.
The permanent loss or significant decline in sedeany customer included in the intangible assatldvoesult in
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impairment in the value of the intangible asseaarelerated amortization and could lead to an impait of fixed assets that were used to
service that customer. In 2010, we recorded $246lfbn of customer relationships acquired in coctien with the Cliffstar Acquisition. In
2009, we recorded a $3.5 million customer relatigmémpairment charge for the loss of a customer.

Impairment of long-lived assets

When adverse events occur, we compare the carayimgunt of long-lived assets to the estimated undisted future cash flows at the
lowest level of independent cash flows for the grofilong-lived assets and recognize any impairness in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations, taking into consideration the timingesiting and the asset’s remaining useful life. &kgected life and value of these long-lived
assets is based on an evaluation of the compe#itiveeonment, history and future prospects as gpate. We did not record any
impairments of long-lived assets in 2010 or 2002008, we recorded impairment losses totaling &iilléon for both the Elizabethtown,
Kentucky facility and certain hot-filled producti@ssets that were held-for-sale.

Inventory costs

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, datexchon the first-in, first-out method, or net ieable value. Finished goods and work-
in-process include the cost of raw materials, difgwor and manufacturing overhead costs. As dtrese use an inventory reserve to adjust
our costs down to a net realizable value and tervesfor estimated obsolescence of both raw anshi&d goods. Our accounting policy for
the inventory reserve requires us to reserve aruatiiased on the evaluation of the aging of inugnamd a detailed analysis of finished
goods for high-risk customers.

Income taxes

Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets anitities and reserves for unrecognized tax benefifiect management’s best
assessment of estimated future taxes to be paidré/subject to income taxes in Canada as well aarerous foreign jurisdictions.
Significant judgments and estimates are requiretktermining the consolidated income tax expense.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary diffeesrbetween the tax and financial statement reiogrof revenue and expense. In
evaluating our ability to recover our deferred dassets within the jurisdiction from which they arige consider all available positive and
negative evidence, including scheduled reversatketdrred tax liabilities, projected future taxaisleome, tax planning strategies and recent
financial operations. In projecting future taxalsleome, we begin with historical results adjustedthe results of discontinued operations
changes in accounting policies and incorporaterapsans including the amount of future Canadian fomdign pretax operating income, the
reversal of temporary differences, and the implesatén of feasible and prudent tax planning striggdrhese assumptions require signifi
judgment about the forecasts of future taxablermeand are consistent with the plans and estimatesre using to manage the underly
businesses.

Changes in tax laws and rates could also affecrded deferred tax assets and liabilities in thereu Management is not aware of any
such changes that would have a material effectuomesults of operations, cash flows or financi@ipon.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dieg with uncertainties in the application of cormpltax laws and regulations in a
multitude of jurisdictions across our global opemas.

FASB ASC Topic 740, “Income Taxes” (“ASC 740") pides that a tax benefit from an uncertain tax jpasitnay be recognized when
it is more likely than not that the position wik Isustained upon examination, including resolutafreny related appeals or litigation
processes, based on the technical merits. ASCIgd(eovides guidance on measurement, derecogndiassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and titgors
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We recognize tax liabilities in accordance with ABD and we adjust these liabilities when our judghthanges as a result of the
evaluation of new information not previously avhl& Due to the complexity of some of these unaetitss, the ultimateesolution may rest
in a payment that is materially different from @urrrent estimate of the tax liabilities. Theseealiféinces will be reflected as increases or
decreases to income tax expense in the period ichwhey are determined.

Pension Plans

We account for our pension plans in accordance A8 No. 715-20, “Compensation—Defined Benefit BlafGeneral” (*“ASC 715-
207"). The funded status is the difference betwéerfair value of plan assets and the benefit otitigaThe adjustment to accumulated other
comprehensive income at adoption represents themmetognized actuarial gains or losses and unréoed) prior service costs. Future
actuarial gains or losses that are not recognigateaperiodic benefits cost in the same periodldwirecognized as a component of other
comprehensive income.

We maintain two defined-benefit plans that covetaie employees in the U.K. and certain other erygds under a collective
bargaining agreement at one plant in the U.S. Werdeannual amounts relating to these plans basedloulations specified by GAAP,
which include various actuarial assumptions suctiisount rates (5.4% to 5.7%) and assumed rateswoh (6.9% to 7.0%) depending on
the pension plan. Material changes in pension eoatsoccur in the future due to changes in thesenagtions. Future annual amounts could
be impacted by changes in the discount rate, clsingbe expected long-term rate of return, chaimyése level of contributions to the plans
and other factors.

The discount rate is based on a model portfolidAfrated bonds with a maturity matched to the eated payouts of future pension
benefits. The expected return on plan assets exdbas our expectation of the long-term rates afrrebn each asset class based on the currer
asset mix of the funds, considering the histonietrns earned on the type of assets in the fyptds,an assumption of future inflation. The
current investment policy target asset allocatiiffeis between our two plans, but it is betweer0D%®to 70.0% for equities and 30.0% to
50.0% for bonds. The current inflation assumpt®B.i7%. We review our actuarial assumptions onnawua basis and make modifications to
the assumptions based on current rates and tremeis appropriate. The effects of the modificatioresaamortized over future periods.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemer—see Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statensent
Non-GAAP Measures

In this report, we supplement our reporting of rae determined in accordance with GAAP by excludiregimpact of foreign
exchange to separate the impact of currency exehiaaig changes from Cott’s results of operatios emsome cases, by excluding the
impact of Cliffstar. Additionally, Cott supplemerits reporting of selling, general and administratexpenses, cost of sales, and gross profit
in accordance with GAAP by excluding the impacttef Cliffstar Acquisition. Cott supplements its oging of gross margin in accordance
with GAAP by excluding Cliffstar transaction-reldtamortization and purchase accounting adjustm@&uits.excludes these items to separate
the impact of these items from the underlying besén Because Cott uses these adjusted finanaidtisre@sthe management of its business
and to understand business performance indepeotidr Cliffstar Acquisition, management believieis supplemental information is useful
to investors for their independent evaluation andaustanding of Cott’s core business performandelaa performance of its management.
The non-GAAP financial measures described abovéaaddition to, and not meant to be considereasapto, or a substitute for, Cott’s
financial statements prepared in accordance withBAn addition, the non-GAAP financial measuredtded in this report reflect
management’s judgment of particular items, and beglifferent from, and therefore may not be comiplerto, similarly titled measures
reported by other companies.
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The following table summarizes our Consolidatedesteents of Operations as a percentage of revem291®, 2009 and 2008:

2010 2009 2008
Percent o Percent o Percent of

(in millions of U.S. dollars) Revenue Revenue Revenue
Revenue $1,803.: 100.%  $1,596." 100.(%  $1,648.: 100.(%
Cost of sale: 1,537.( 85.2% 1,346.¢ 84.4% 1,467.. 89.(%
Gross profit 266.: 14.£% 249.¢ 15.6% 181.C 11.(%
Selling, general, and administrative exper 166.7 9.2% 146.¢ 9.2% 179.¢ 10.%
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipn 1.1 0.1% 0.t 0.C% 1.3 0.1%
Restructuring (0.5 0.C% 1.t 0.1% 6.7 0.4%
Goodwill impairments — 0.C% — 0.C% 69.2 4.3%
Asset impairmen — 0.C% 3.€ 0.2% 37.C 2.2%
Operating income (los! 99.C 5.5% 97.4 6.1% (113.0 -6.9%
Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen (20.9) -1.1% — 0.C% — 0.C%
Other expense (income), r 4.C 0.2% 4.4 0.2% 4.7 -0.3%
Interest expense, n 36.€ 2.C% 29.7 1.S% 32.Z 2.C%
Income (loss) before income tax 78.4 4.4% 63.2 3.€% (140.6¢) -8.5%
Income tax expense (benel 18.€ 1.C% (22.8) -1.4% (19.5) -1.2%
Net income (loss 59.¢ 3.4% 86.1 5.2% (121.) -7.3%
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest: 5.1 0.2% 4.€ 0.2% 1.7 0.1%
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporat $ 54.7 31% $ 81.t 5% $ (122.9) -7.5%
Depreciation & amortizatio $ 74.C 41% $ 66.2 41% $ 80.7 4.9%

The following table summarizes our revenue, opegaticome (loss) by operating segment for 2010920 2008:

(in millions of U.S. Dollars) 2010 2009 2008

Revenu

North America $1,357. $1,173.¢ $1,178.(

United Kingdom 367.1 359.: 385.<

Mexico 50.1 42 61.¢

RCI 28.¢ 20.¢ 22.C

All Other — — 0.6

Total $1,803 $1,596 $1,648.:

Operating income (los:

North America $ 75. $ 77.¢€ $ (56.2

United Kingdom 24.t 23.C (53.F

Mexico (7.5 (7.2) (8.9

RCI 7.C 3.¢ 8.1

All Other — — (2.9

Total $ 99.c $ 974 $ (113.0
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The following table summarizes our beverage casenve by operating segment for 2010, 2009 and 2008:

(in millions of cases)

Volume 8 oz. equivalent cas- Total Beverage (including concentra

North America
United Kingdom
Mexico

RCI

All Other

Total

Volume 8 oz. equivalent cas— Filled Beverage

North America
United Kingdom
Mexico

RCI

All Other

Total

Revenues are attributed to operating segments loaistiek location of the plant.

2010 2009 2008
697.( 648.¢ 665.¢
192.¢ 189.t 189.2
34.C 26.4 29.4
298.€ 220.1 2334
— — 0.7
1,223« 1,084.¢ 1,118.¢
618.¢ 574.2 581.(
178.2 174.¢ 171.1
34.¢ 26.4 29.4
0.1 0.2 —
— — 0.7
831.¢ 775.4 782.2

The revenue by product tables for 2009 and 2008 baen revised to include the category “Juice” Widca significant portion of our

revenue due to the Cliffstar Acquisition.

The following tables summarize revenue by prodac210, 2009 and 2008:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenu

Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentrate

All other products

Total

(in millions of physical cases)

80z. volumg
Carbonated soft drink
Juice

Concentratt

All other products
Total

For the Year Ended January 1, 2011

North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
$ 705t $147.1 $43.4 $— $ 896.(
225.% 10.€ 0.8 — 237.(
7.5 2.3 — 28.¢ 38.€
419.( 206.¢ 5.6 — 631.7
$1,357.: $367.1 $50.1 $28.¢ $1,803.:
For the Year Ended January 1, 2011
North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
343.1 113.€ 28.1 — 484.¢
57.2 24 0.€ — 60.2
78.2 15.2 — 298.¢ 392.2
218.: 61.7 6.2 — 286.2
697.( 192.¢ 34.€ 298.¢ 1,223.
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(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenus

Carbonated soft drink
Concentratt

Juice

All other products
Total

(in millions of physical cases)

8 0z. volumt
Carbonated soft drink
Concentratt

Juice

All other products

Total

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Revenu

Carbonated soft drink
Concentrate

Juice

All other products
Total

(in millions of physical cases)

8 ounce volum
Carbonated soft drink
Concentrate

Juice

All other products

Total

Results of operations

For the Year Ended January 2, 2010

The following table summarizes the change in reedmuoperating segment for 2010:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Change in revent

Impact of foreign exchang!

Change excluding foreign exchar

Percentage change in revet

Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignasgs
Impact of Cliffstar Acquisitior

Change excluding foreign exchange and Cliffstaruisition

Percentage change in revenue excluding foreignamgtand Cliffstar

Acquisition

North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
$ 760.C $161.C $36.4 $— $ 958.c
6.5 4.€ — 19.7 30.¢
— 10.1 0.4 — 10.t
407 .2 182.7 5.€ 1.1 597.1
$1,173.¢ $359.: $42.7 $20.¢ $1,596."
North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
359.7 87.¢ 20.2 — 467.¢
74.2 14.¢€ — 219.¢ 309.2
— 4.3 04 — 4.7
214.t 82.4 5.7 0.2 302.¢
648.¢ 189.f 26.4 220.] 1,084.¢
For the Year Ended December 27, 2008
North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI All Other Total
$ 748.7 $163.: $59.2 $ — $ 0.¢ $ 972.1
5.t 7.2 — 22.C — 34.7
— 11.7 — — — 11.7
423.¢ 203.1 2.7 — — 629.¢
$1,178.( $385.2 $61.¢ $ 22.C $ 0.¢ $1,648..
North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI All Other Total
360.% 86.7 28.C — 0.7 476.1
84.¢ 18.1 — 233.¢ — 336.:
— 4.2 — — — 4.2
220.: 80.z 1.4 — — 301.€
665.¢ 189.z 29.4 233. 0.7 1,118.¢
For the Year Ended January 1, 2011
North United
Cott America Kingdom Mexico RCI
$ 206.€ $ 183.¢ $ 7.8 $ 74 $ 8.C
(11.9) (17.0) 8.C (2.8) —
$194.¢ $ 166.4 $ 15.8 $ 4.€ $ 8.C
12.%% 15.6% 2.2% 17.2% 38.5%
12.2% 14.2% 4.4% 10.8% 38.5%
(232.2) (232.2) — — —
$ (379 $ (65.6) $ 15.¢ $ 4.6 $ 8.C
-2.3% -5.6% 4.4% 10.8% 38.5%
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Impact of foreign exchange is the difference betwie current year’s revenue translated utilizimg¢urrent year's average foreign
exchange rates less the current’s revenue translated utilizing the prior y's average foreign exchange ra

The following table summarizes the change in reedmuoperating segment for 2009:

For the Year Ended January 2, 2010

North United All
(in_million of U.S. dollars) Cott America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other
Change in revent $(51.4) $ (4.]) $ (26.0 $(19.2) $(1.2) $(0.9
Impact of foreign exchang® 88.1 14.5 62.2 11.5 — (0.7)
Change excluding foreign exchar $ 36.7 $ 10.4 $ 36.2 $ (7.7) $(1.2) $(1.0)
Percentage change in revet -3.1% -0.3% -6.7% -31.(% -5.5% N/A
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreign
exchange 2.4% 0.S% 11.2% -15.2% -5.5% N/A

Impact of foreign exchange is the difference betwibe current year’s revenue translated utilizimg ¢urrent year’s average foreign
exchange rates less the current ’s revenue translated utilizing the prior y's average foreign exchange ra

2010 versus 2009

Revenue increased $206.6 million, or 12.9% in 20t 2009. The Cliffstar Acquisition contributed322 million to revenue.
Excluding the impact of the Cliffstar Acquisitiondforeign exchange, revenue decreased 2.3% phnaare to lower North America
beverage case volume offset in part by improvecizge case volume in the U.K., Mexico and RCI.

2009 versus 2008

Revenue decreased 3.1% in 2009 from 2008, primduéyto lower North America beverage case volunfeebfn part by an improved
product mix in the U.K. and higher local currencicimg in the U.S., Canada and the U.K. The wealkgnialue in the Canadian dollar, the
pound sterling and the Mexican peso, each relétitbe U.S. dollar since December 27, 2008, haallaative $88.1 million negative impact
on our revenue and a $12.0 million negative impacbur gross margin from 2008.

Revenue Results for Operating Segments
2010 versus 2009

North America revenue increased $183.4 million®6% in 2010 from 2009. The Cliffstar Acquisitioartributed $232.2 million to
revenue. Excluding the impact of foreign exchange the Cliffstar Acquisition, revenue decreased®.primarily due to a 1.8% decline in
beverage case volume that resulted from natiomaddbpromotional activity in the first half of 201€et selling price per beverage case (w
is net revenue divided by beverage case volume)was slightly for 2010 from 2009.
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U.K. revenue increased 2.2% in 2010 from 2009, griiyas a result of a 2.1% increase in beverage valume, and improved product
mix (primarily increases in energy and sports is@roducts), offset in part by the weakeninghaf pound sterling. Net selling price per
beverage case remained flat in 2010 from 2009. Attfeeeign exchange impact, U.K. revenue increasdéb in 2010 from 2009. U.K. total
case volume increased 1.8%.

Mexico revenue increased 17.3% in 2010 from 20€igarily due to a 32.2% increase in beverage caleme. Net selling price per
beverage case decreased 11.1% in 2010 from 20@3n€tease in beverage case volume and decreaséselling price was due primarily
new business in the retail channel and the comnmegiceof shipments to a new bottled water custodiesent foreign exchange impact,
Mexico revenue increased 10.8% in 2010 from 2009.

RCI revenue increased 38.5% in 2010 from 2009, gmilgnas a result of a 35.7% improvement in totde volume due primarily to
expansion of existing customer channels. Net gppiice per beverage case remained flat in 2010 #609. RCI primarily sells concentrate.

2009 versus 2008

North America revenue decreased 0.3% in 2009 fro@82primarily due to a 1.2% decline in beverageeosmlume that resulted from a
continued softness in demand in most categoriess@&ling price per beverage case (which is netmee divided by beverage case volume)
was up slightly for 2009 from 2008. Absent foreggthange impact, North America revenue improveéoGr92009.

U.K. revenue decreased 6.7% in 2009 from 2008, quilynas a result of a weakening of the pound istgrbffset in part by a 2.0%
increase in beverage case volume, improved pradixcfprimarily increases in energy-related drinkajl local currency price increases. Net
selling price per beverage case decreased 8.4@0& f2om 2008. Absent foreign exchange impact, Wekenue increased 11.2% in 2009
from 2008. The U.K. total case volume increase@®d2ie to improved sales of energy-related drinkswas partially offset by a decrease in
concentrate sales.

Mexico revenue decreased 31.0% in 2009 from 200@\agpily due to a 10.2% decline in beverage cademe. Net selling price per
beverage case decreased 23.2% in 2009 from 20@&nAkoreign exchange impact, Mexico revenue wa3% 3ower in 2009 from 2008.
Mexico case volume decreased 10.2% in 2009 dueftioess with modern trade customers and the cdntinmpact of our credit policies.

RCI revenue decreased 5.5% in 2009 from 2008, pilyves a result of a 5.7% decline in total caskime resulting from an unusually
large sales volume in the fourth quarter of 2008riticipation of a price increase that was effextiv2009. Net selling price per beverage
case was flat in 2009 from 2008. RCI primarily selbncentrate case volume.

Cost of Sales
2010 versus 2009

Cost of sales represented 85.2% of revenue in 20d{pared to 84.4% in 2009. Of the 85.2%, 0.6% wiabhatable to the Cliffstar
Acquisition. Excluding the impact of the CliffstAcquisition, cost of sales represented 84.6% ofmee. The cost of sales as a percent of
revenue for Cliffstar was 91.2%. This percentage higher than normal due in part to increasesxiedficosts resulting from upgrades of
some of our production lines, and finished goodé@md being measured at fair value at the Acqaisillate. Variable costs represented
74.7% of total sales in 2010, down from 74.9% i820Major elements of these variable costs includgredient and packaging costs,
distribution costs and fees paid to third-party ofanturers.

2009 versus 2008

Cost of sales represented 84.4% of revenue in 200%ared to 89.0% in 2008. This decline was dymamhto lower costs and a slight
reduction in CSD and concentrate volumes. Variabls represented 74.9% of total sales in 2009ndoam 78.6% in 2008. Major elemel
of these variable costs included ingredient and@giag costs, distribution costs and fees paithiral{party manufacturers.
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Gross Profit
2010 versus 2009

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreaskti&% in 2010 from 15.6% in 2009. Excluding timpact of the Cliffstar
Acquisition, gross profit as a percentage of reeeramained flat in 2010 compared to 2009.

2009 versus 2008

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue increas&8.6% in 2009 from 11.0% in 2008. The overallsgrprofit improved by 38.0% in
2009 primarily as a result of slightly improved setling prices in North America, improved produouk in the U.K. along with higher local
currency prices and lower operating costs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
2010 versus 2009

SG&A in 2010 increased $19.9 million, or 13.6%,fr@009. The Cliffstar Acquisition contributed $15n2lion of SG&A costs, or
10.4% of the increase, in 2010. Excluding the inpéthe Cliffstar Acquisition, SG&A increased $4million or 3.2% from 2009. The
increase in the overall SG&A costs in 2010 was pritm the result of $7.2 million of transaction teselated to the Cliffstar Acquisition, and
$6.7 million of integration costs, partially offdey a $3.3 million reduction in technology relataasts, lower professional fees of $2.3 milli
and lower compensation of $2.0 million. As a petage of revenue, SG&A was 9.2% in 2010 and 20Cheetively.

2009 versus 2008

SG&A in 2009 decreased $33.0 million, or 18.4%pirB008. As a percentage of revenue, SG&A was 922009, compared to 10.€
in 2008. The decline in the overall SG&A costs #mal percentage of revenue in 2009 was primarilyésealt of a $2.6 million reduction in
compensation costs resulting from our restructupiags offset in part by $11.6 million of increasedentive pay over the prior year (in
2009—$%3.3 million of executive severance cost2008—$6.8 million of executive transition costs;lirding non-cash stock compensation
of $1.9 million), the non-recurrence of $4.5 milliof previously capitalized software expensed i6&@& $4.9 million reduction in marketing
costs as we continue to refocus away from brandedygsts and related promotional activity, a $3.Wiom decrease in professional fees, a
$2.5 million reduction in depreciation expense ity related to our vending assets, a $7.1 millieduction in amortization expense
primarily related to a reduction in software cabtst became fully amortized in 2009, $2.3 milliomprovement in bad debts as our Mexico
operations stabilized and $2.4 million of reduaed ¢l costs offset in part by $1.3 million of adllital costs related to our vending operatic

Restructuring, Goodwill and Asset Impairments
2010 versus 2009

Restructuring and asset impairment charges in 2@tfeased $5.6 million from 2009. In 2010, we rdedra gain of $0.5 million
related to a lease contract termination. In 200®recorded restructuring and asset impairments df illion, which included $3.6 million
for asset impairments primarily related to custonaéationships and severance costs of $1.5 miliédeited to the organizational restructuring
and headcount reductions associated with the 2@8&riRturing Plan.

2009 versus 2008

In 2009, we recorded restructuring and asset impaits of $5.1 million, which included $3.6 millidor asset impairments primarily
related to customer relationships and severands 06$1.5 million related to the
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organizational restructuring and headcount redostassociated with the 2009 Restructuring PlaB008, we recorded restructuring,
goodwill and asset impairments of $112.9 milliomiet included a $69.2 million goodwill impairmeritarge related to our U.K. reporting
unit, a $35.4 million asset impairment associat@tl e Rights, $1.6 million of asset impairmenades related to the decline in value of
certain held-for-sale assets in our North Ameriparating segment and $6.7 million of restructudngts associated with our Refocus Plan,
which was implemented in 2008 and resulted in égdaeduction of our workforce.

Operating Income
2010 versus 2009

Operati ng income in 2010 was $99.0 million, compared terating income of $97.4 million in 2009. The Cltés Acquisition
contributed $5.2 million in 2010. Excluding the iamgb of the Cliffstar Acquisition, North America apéing income declined by $14.6 million
or 17.7% primarily due to lower volumes.

2009 versus 2008

Operati ng income in 2009 was $97.4 million, compared t@perating loss of $113.0 million in 2008, primarilue to higher gross
profit margins, lower SG&A costs and lower restuuittg and asset impairment charges.

Other (Income) Expense, net
2010 versus 2009

In 2010, we recorded a $1.4 million write off afidincing fees and $2.6 million of foreign excharmgsés primarily related to
intercompany loans. In 2009, we recorded a $3.Bamitharge on the repayment of the 2011 Notes$dntl million of foreign exchange
losses.

2009 versus 2008

In 2009, we recorded a $3.3 million charge on #gpmayment of the 2011 Notes and $1.1 million ofifpreexchange losses. In 2008, we
recorded $4.5 million as business interruption vecp under our insurance coverage related to olumvtary product recall that occurred in
United Kingdom in 2007. This amount was reporte@ther Expense (income), net because there wed@ext costs incurred in 2008 that
should be offset by the insurance proceeds. In 208&lso recorded $1.0 million of foreign exchafages, which includes $3.2 million of
foreign exchange losses related to inter-compaagdo

Interest Expense
2010 versus 2009

Net interest expense in 2010 increased 24.2% fi@®9 primarily due to a higher average debt balaaselting from the issuance of
2018 Notes.

2009 versus 2008

Net interest expense in 2009 decreased 8.0% fr@8 gOmarily due to lower average short-term antyerm debt amounts and low
overall average interest rates.

Income Taxes
2010 versus 2009

We recorded income tax expense of $18.6 millioadh0 compared with an income tax benefit of $22ilBan in 2009. The tax benefit
in 2009 was primarily the result of the utilizatioh$17.5 million in accruals
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related to uncertain tax positions, and $25.0 orilliesulting from the reversal in 2009 of U.S. asilon allowances. In 2010, we utilized $2.2
million of accruals related to uncertain tax pasig and $0.7 million relating to the utilizationdfS. valuation allowances.

2009 versus 2008

We recorded an income tax benefit of $22.8 miliim2009 compared with an income tax benefit of $IAillion in 2008. This benefit
reflects the reversal of accruals relating to utadertax positions, plus interest and penaltiesctvigenerated a $17.5 million benefit and a
$25.0 million income tax benefit resulting from tfeversal of U.S. valuation allowances. These ‘aloallowance reversals were caused by
the carryback of net operating losses in the Uu®.td recent changes in tax law and the utilizaitictie current year of U.S. deferred tax
assets with valuation allowances. These benefite partially offset by $19.7 million of income taxpense resulting mostly from current
year earnings

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes our cash flows oL@, 2009 and 2008 as reported in our Consolidatattments of Cash Flows in 1
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements:

For the Years Ended

January January December
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Zéil 2(%10 2%)88
Cash provided by operating activiti $178.¢ $ 155.1 $ 66.C
Cash used in investing activiti (554.%) (32.2) (54.¢)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activit 393.: (107.5) (19.9)
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ K 0.8 (5.9
Net increase (decrease) in ci 17.: 16.2 (22.9)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe 30.¢ 14.7 27.L
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $ 48.2 $ 30.€ $ 143

Operating activities

Cash provided by operating activities in 2010 was854 million compared to $155.1 million in 2009&866.9 million in 2008. The
$23.3 million increase from 2009 to 2010 was prityatue to improved working capital as a resulttod receipt of tax refunds, and an
increase in interest accruals, partially offsetriwestment in inventory.

The $88.2 million increase from 2008 to 2009 wamprily due to higher operating income and reduxgin working capital as a result
of improved collection efforts and inventory managat.

Investing activities

Cash used in investing activities was $554.7 nmiliio 2010 compared to $32.2 million in 2009 and.854illion in 2008. The $522.5
million increase from 2009 to 2010 was primarilyedo the purchase price paid in connection withGhigstar Acquisition of $507.7 million,
and an increase in capital expenditures of $11llfomi The $22.6 million decrease from 2009 to 2088 primarily due to reduced capital
expenditures. In 2008, we made significant expenelit for our water bottling equipment project.
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Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $393.8iom in 2010 compared to cash used of $107.5 amilin 2009 and $19.3 million in
2008. In 2010, we received proceeds of $375.0aniffrom the issuance of the 2018 Notes and $71llbbmin net proceeds from the Equity
Offering, partially offset by $14.2 million of fimeing fees, $12.4 million in net payments underABe. facility, $18.7 million in payments
long-term debt, and $7.4 million of distributiomsrton-controlling interests.

In 2009, we substantially reduced our ABL facilitgrrowings, repurchased $257.8 million of the 20lbtes offset by the receipt of
$47.5 million in net proceeds from the public oiffigr of 9,435,000 common shares at a price of $pe3Ghare completed on August 11, 2009
and $211.9 million from the issuance of $215.0ionillof senior notes that are due on November 157 Zthe “2017 Notes”). The $31.7
million increase in cash used in financing actestin 2008 was primarily the result of the purchafs®6.4 million of treasury shares by an
independent trustee pursuant to certain of ourtggoimpensation plans, and a $27.8 million reducitioour short-term borrowing facilities
offset in part by financing the $32.5 million watssttling equipment project.

Financial Liquidity

As of January 1, 2011, we had total debt of $62&IRon and $48.2 million of cash and cash equinédecompared to $274.1 million of
debt and $30.9 million of cash and cash equivalastsf January 2, 2010.

We believe that our level of resources, which idekicash on hand, available borrowings under thie faBility and funds provided by
operations, will be adequate to meet our expemsgstal expenditures, and debt service obligatfonshe next twelve months. Our ability to
generate cash to meet our current expenses andefehite obligations will depend on our future periance. If we do not have enough cash
to pay our debt service obligations or if the ARicifity, 2017 Notes, or 2018 Notes were to becoareently due, either at maturity or as a
result of a breach, we may be required to tak@astsuch as amending our ABL facility or the indees governing our 2017 and 2018 Nc
refinancing all or part of our existing debt, sgdliassets, incurring additional indebtedness simgiequity. If we need to seek additional
financing, there is no assurance that this additifinancing will be available.

Should we desire to consummate significant acqospportunities or undertake significant expansotivities, our capital needs
would increase and could result in our need toeiase available borrowings under our ABL facilityagcess public or private debt and equity
markets.

As of January 1, 2011, our total availability untiee ABL facility was $248.1 million, which was lekon our borrowing base
(accounts receivables, inventory, and fixed assetf January 1, 2011 (the December month-endruhdéderms of the credit agreement),
and we had $7.9 million of ABL borrowings outstamgliand $12.6 million in outstanding letters of dtefs a result, our excess availability
under the ABL facility was $227.6 million. Each nibis borrowing base is not effective until subndtte the lenders, which usually occurs
on the fifteenth day of the following month.

During the third quarter of 2010, we completed @iéfstar Acquisition. The Cliffstar Acquisition v&financed through the issuance of
the 2018 Notes (the “Note Offeringthe Equity Offering, and borrowings under our ARicility, which we refinanced in connection with
Cliffstar Acquisition. The ABL facility was refinared to, among other things, provide for the Cli#ffshcquisition, the Note Offering and the
application of net proceeds therefrom, the Equitiehg and the application of net proceeds themafand to increase the amount available
for borrowings to $275.0 million. We drew down atien of indebtedness under that facility in orttefund the Cliffstar Acquisition. We
incurred $5.4 million of financing fees in connectiwith the refinancing of the ABL facility. Netqeeeds from the Equity Offering were
$71.1 million, after deducting expenses, undergitiliscounts and commissions.
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Net proceeds resulting from the Note Offering w&866.4 million after issuance costs of $8.6 millidhe 2018 Notes are senior
unsecured obligations and rank equally with aleottxisting and future unsubordinated indebtedneskiding indebtedness under our credit
facilities. We are subject to covenants and linotag on our and/or our subsidiaries’ ability, sabj® certain exceptions and qualifications, to
() pay dividends or make distributions, repurchegeity securities, prepay subordinated debt orentaktain investments, (ii) incur additio
debt or issue certain disqualified stock or preférstock, (iii) create or incur liens on assetsisag indebtedness, (iv) merge or consolidate
with another company (which applies to Cott andt ®etverages Inc. only) or sell all or substantiallyassets taken as a whole, (v) enter into
transactions with affiliates and (vi) sell assets.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we repurchas28i7$l million in aggregate principal amount of #8641 Notes, pursuant to a public
cash tender offer, in which we also paid an eanhydéer premium, accrued interest and associatedafebexpenses. We also purchased $20.7
million of the 2011 Notes in the third quarter @0®. The extinguishment of these 2011 Notes that welidly tendered resulted in a charge
of $3.3 million which was recorded to Other Expefiseome) in the Consolidated Statements of Opamatfor the year ended January 2,
2010. On February 1, 2010, we completed the redempf the remaining $11.1 million of the 2011 Nate

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we completed offiering of $215.0 million in aggregate princigahount of the 2017 Notes resulti
in net proceeds of approximately $206.8 millioreati discount of $3.1 million and issuance cost®5ot million. The 2017 Notes mature on
November 15, 2017 and pay interest semiannuallylay 15thand November 1% of each year. The 2017 Notes aieraensecured
obligations and rank equally with all other exigtisnd future unsubordinated indebtedness, incluiditgbtedness under our credit facilities.
We are subject to covenants and limitations onamaifor our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to certakceptions and qualifications, to (i) pay
dividends or make distributions, repurchase ecéturities, prepay subordinated debt or make cerigestments, (ii) incur additional debt
or issue certain disqualified stock or preferraxtkt (iii) create or incur liens on assets, (iv)rgeeor consolidate with another company (wl
applies to Cott and Cott Beverages Inc. only) dradeor substantially all assets taken as a wh@dgenter into transactions with affiliates and
(vi) sell assets.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as dafimder Iltem 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K as of apud, 2011.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table shows the schedule of futurgmants under certain contracts, including debtegents and guarantees, as of

January 1, 2011:

Payments due by period

(in millions of US dollars) Total 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter
8.375% Senior notes due in 2C $ 215 $ — $ — $— $— $— $ 215.(
8.125% Senior notes due in 2C 375.( — — — — — 375.(
ABL facility 1 7.8 7.8 — — — — —
GE Obligation? 10.5 4.1 2.€ 1.1 1.2 0.5
Capital lease 5.8 1.8 0.7 0.7 0.8 0.8 ilC
Deferred consideratic3 14.C 4.7 4.7 4.€ — — —
Contingent consideratic? 33.7 33.7 — — — — —
Other lon¢-term debt 2.C 0.4 0.2 0.2 .3 0.2 0.€
Interest expens® 361.C 48.¢ 48.7 48.7 48.7 48.¢ 117.5
Operating lease 87.¢ 18.4 15.€ 11.¢ 10.€ 8.€ 22.t
Guarantee purchase equipm 7.C 7.C — — — — —
Pension obligation 1.1 1.1 — — — — —
Purchase obligatioré 242 141.2 35.7 31.7 30.2 3.¢ —
Other? 0.8 0.8 — — — — —
Total $1,364.« $269.¢ $108.f $98.6 $91.7 $63.£ $ 732.1

1

2

The ABL facility is considered a current liabilit

We funded new water bottling equipment throughrderim financing agreement signed in January 2888 {GE Obligation”). At the
end of the GE Obligation, we may exchange $6.0anilbf deposits for the extinguishment of $6.0 ioiilin debt.

In connection with the Cliffstar Acquisition, weearequired to pay $14.0 million of deferred consadien over a three year peric
In connection with the Cliffstar Acquisition, weearequired to pay contingent consideration whichdéair value of $33.7 millior

Interest expense includes fixed interest on the320dtes, the 2017 Notes, the GE Obligation, the A#tility, capital leases and other
long-term liabilities. Actual amounts will differ fromséimates providec

Purchase obligations consist of commitments fompilnehase of inventory and energy. These obligatiepresent the minimum
contractual obligations expected under the normatse of busines

Represents our tax liability accounted for undeCABIO that will be settled in 2011. The contractlaigations table excludes the
Companys remaining ASC 740 uncertain tax positions ligpitif $12.5 million because the Company cannot neakediable estimate
to when such amounts will be settls
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Debt
Our total debt is as follows:

January 1, January 2,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010
8% senior subordinated notes due in 2 $ — $ 111
8.375% senior notes due in 2Ct 215.( 215.(
8.125% senior notes due in 2C 375.C —
ABL facility 7.9 20.2
GE Obligation 16.5 22.C
Other capital lease 5.8 3.2
Other deb 2.0 2.€
Total debt 622.2 274.1
Less: Sho-term borrowings and current de
ABL facility 7.9 20.2
Total shor-term borrowings 7.9 20.2
8% senior subordinated notes due in 2 — 11.1
GE Obligatio—current maturitie: 4.1 B3
Other capital leas—current maturitie: 14 0.4
Other dek—current maturitie: 0.5 0.€
Total current debt 13.€ 37.¢
Long-term debt before discou 608.: 236.<
Less discount on 8.375% no! (2.8 (3.7
Total long-term debt $ 605. $ 233.C

! Our 8.375% senior notes were issued at a discdun#85% on November 13, 20C

Asset Based Lending Facilit

On March 31, 2008, we entered into a credit agreémvgh JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Agent thaatere an ABL facility to
provide financing for our North America, U.K. andellco operating segments. In connection with tH#SEAr Acquisition, we refinanced tt
ABL facility on August 17, 2010 to, among othentfs, provide for the Cliffstar Acquisition, the aDffering and the application of net
proceeds therefrom, the Equity Offering and thdiagfion of net proceeds therefrom and to incrébeeamount available for borrowings to
$275.0 million. We drew down a portion of the intllness under the ABL facility in order to fund kffstar Acquisition. We incurred $5
million of financing fees in connection with thdirancing of the ABL facility. The financing feeseabeing amortized using the straight-line
method over a four-year period.

As of January 1, 2011, we had $7.9 million in bairgys under the ABL facility outstanding. The conimmént fee was 0.5% per annum
of the unused commitment, which was $227.6 milasrof January 1, 2011.

The effective interest rate as of January 1, 201LIBOR and Prime loans is based on average aggregailability as follows:

Eurodollar CDOR LIBOR
Average Aggregrate Availability ABR Canadian
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Spreac Prime Spreac Spread Spreac Spread
Over $15C 1.5(% 1.5(% 2.5(% 2.5(% 2.5(%
$75- 150 1.7% 1.75% 2.7%% 2.7%% 2.7%%
Under $7& 2.0(% 2.0(% 3.0(% 3.0(% 3.0(%
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8.125% Senior Notes due in 2018

On August 17, 2010, we issued $375.0 million of@0Ibtes. The issuer of the 2018 Notes is Cott Beges Inc., but we and most of
our U.S., Canadian and United Kingdom subsidiagiesrantee the 2018 Notes. The interest on the R@1&s is payable semi-annually on
March 1st and Septembersl of each year, beginninganch 1, 2011.

We incurred $8.6 million of financing fees in cortien with the issuance of the 2018 Notes. Therfireg fees are being amortized
using the straight-line method over an eight-yesariqa, which represents the duration of the 201&Bblorhe amortization expense calculated
under the straight-line method does not differ mallg from the effective-interest method.

8.375% Senior Notes due in 2017

On November 13, 2009, we issued $215.0 million@f2Notes. The 2017 Notes were issued at a $3libmdiscount. The issuer of
the 2017 Notes is Cott Beverages Inc., but we aost wf our U.S., Canadian and United Kingdom subgis guarantee the 2017 Notes. The
interest on the 2017 Notes is payable semi-annoallylay 150 and November 5 of each year.

We incurred $5.1 million of financing fees in cootien with the 2017 Notes. The financing fees amd amortized using the straight-
line method over an eight-year period, which repnés the duration of the 2017 Notes. The amortimatixpense calculated under the straight-
line method does not differ materially from theeetive-interest method.

8% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2011
We repurchased the remaining outstanding 2011 Note&l1.1 million on February 1, 2010, and recarddoss on buyback of $0.1
million. The 2011 Notes acquired by us have beérece and we have discontinued the payment oféste

In 2009, the Company repurchased $257.8 millioprincipal amount of the 2011 Notes, and recordiEds on buyback of $3.3 millio

GE Financing Agreement

We funded $32.5 million of water bottling equipmeuirchases through a finance lease arrangemef0B. The quarterly payments
under the lease obligation totaled approximately $illion per annum for the first two years, $&8lion per annum for the subsequent two
years, then $1.7 million per annum for the finalrfgears

Credit Ratings and Covenant Compliance
Credit Ratings
Our objective is to maintain credit ratings thadyade us with ready access to global capital aeditmarkets at favorable interest ra

On August 9, 2010, Moodg’assigned a B3 rating to the 2018 Notes and aftirthe B2 corporate family rating and the B3 ratinghe
2017 Notes. The rating outlook remains at “stable”.

On August 10, 2010 Standard & Poor’s assigned atiBg to the 2018 Notes and affirmed the B longateprporate credit rating. S&P
also affirmed the B rating on the 2017 Notes amdoeed the debt from negative CreditWatch.
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Any downgrade of our credit ratings by either Mogdyr S&P could increase our future borrowing castémpair our ability to access
capital markets on terms commercially acceptablestor at all.

Covenant Compliance
8.125% Senior Notes due in 2018

Under the indenture governing the 2018 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to certain extteqps and qualifications, to (i) pay dividends oaka distributions, repurchase equity
securities, prepay subordinated debt or make centgestments, (ii) incur additional debt or isseetain disqualified stock or preferred sto
(iii) create or incur liens on assets securing Iotddness, (iv) merge or consolidate with anothemgamy or sell all or substantially all assets
taken as a whole, (v) enter into transactions wffiiates and (vi) sell assets. We have been mul@nce with all of the covenants under the
2018 Notes and there have been no amendments guahyovenants since the 2018 Notes were issued.

8.375% Senior Notes due in 2017

Under the indenture governing the 2017 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to certain extteqps and qualifications, to (i) pay dividends oaka distributions, repurchase equity
securities, prepay subordinated debt or make centgestments, (ii) incur additional debt or isseetain disqualified stock or preferred sto
(iii) create or incur liens on assets, (iv) mergeansolidate with another company (applies to @ott Cott Beverages Inc. only) or sell all or
substantially all assets taken as a whole, (v)rénte transactions with affiliates and (vi) sedlsats. We have been in compliance with all of
the covenants under the 2017 Notes and there tererm amendments to any such covenants sinc@1i7eNbtes were issued.

ABL Facility

We and our restricted subsidiaries are subjectionaber of business and financial covenants, iietud covenant requiring a minimt
fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.1 toeff€ctive when and if excess availability is lesart the greater of (a) $30.0 million and (b) the
lesser of (i) 12.5% of the amount of the aggrebateowing base and (ii) $37.5 million. Our fixedarhe coverage ratio as calculated under
this covenant as of January 1, 2011 was greaterttato 1.0. If availability is less than $37.9lmn, the lenders will take dominion over the
cash and will apply excess cash to reduce amowvitgyainder the facility. The credit agreement goirey the ABL facility requires us to
maintain aggregate availability of at least $15iliom. We were in compliance with all of the apmble covenants under the ABL facility on
January 1, 2011.

Capital structure

In 2010, equity increased by $133.9 million fron020The increase was primarily the result of nebime of $54.7 million, the receipt
of $71.1 million of net proceeds from the Equityf@®ing, a $4.5 million foreign currency translatigain on the net assets of self-sustaining
foreign operations, and $5.1 million of non-cortrg interest income partially offset by $7.4 molhi of distributions to non-controlling
interest and $4.7 million of share-based compemisa&kpense. The foreign currency translation adjest resulted primarily from the
decrease in the pound sterling relative to the daBlar since December 2009, partially offset by ificrease in the Canadian dollar and
Mexican peso relative to the U.S. dollar since Detzer 2009.

Dividend payments

There are certain restrictions on the paymentwifidnds under our ABL facility and under the indees governing the 2017 Notes and
2018 Notes. No dividends were paid in 2010 and avaat expect to pay dividends in the future.
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ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK ET RISK
We do not trade market risk sensitive instruments.

Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We are exposed to changes in foreign currency exggheates. Operations outside of the U.S. accodnte?i.2% of 2010 revenue and
36.7% of 2009 revenue, and are concentrated peligip the U.K., Canada and Mexico. We translarevenues and expenses of our
foreign operations using average exchange ratesifirg during the period. The effect of a 10.0%ube in foreign currency exchange rates
among the U.S. dollar versus the Canadian doltamng sterling and Mexican peso as of January 11 2&current levels of foreign debt and
operations would result in our revenues in 201hgheg by $57.8 million and our gross profit in 20ditanging by $6.4 million. These
changes would not be material to our cash flowsrardits of operations.

Our primary exposure to foreign currency excharges relates to transactions in which the curreatigcted from customers is
different from the currency utilized to purchase groduct sold. In 2010, we entered into foreigmency contracts to hedge some of these
currency exposures for which natural hedges dexist. Natural hedges exist when purchases and gatlein a specific country are both
denominated in the same currency and, thereforexposure exists to hedge with foreign exchangednt, option, or swap contracts
(collectively, the “foreign exchange contracts”)eWo not enter into foreign exchange contractsréamting purposes. The risk of loss on a
foreign exchange contract is the risk of non-perf@ance by the counterparties, which we minimizeitoyting our counterparties to major
financial institutions. The fair values of the faye exchange contracts, which are $0.6 million,estimated using market quotes. As of
January 1, 2011, we had outstanding foreign exahforgvard contracts with notional amounts of $1ilfion.

Debt obligations and interest rates

We have exposure to interest rate risk from thetantling principal amounts of our short-term amdjiterm debt. Our longerm debt it
fixed and our short-term debt is variable. Our stemm ABL facility is vulnerable to fluctuationa the U.S. short-term base rate and the
LIBOR rate. At current debt levels as of Januarg2d11, a 100 basis point increase in the currenapeum interest rate for our ABL facility
(excluding the $12.6 million outstanding letterscoddit) would result in $0.1 million of additionaiterest expense during the next year. This
change would not be material to our cash flowsusrresults of operations. The weighted averageesteate of our debt outstanding at
January 1, 2011, was 8.2%.

We regularly review the structure of our debt aadsider changes to the proportion of floating verfisxed rate debt through
refinancing, interest rate swaps or other measuoressponse to the changing economic environmeistotically, we have not used derivative
instruments to manage interest rate risk. If weargkfail to manage these derivative instrumentsessfully, or if we are unable to refinance
our debt or otherwise increase our debt capacitgsponse to changes in the marketplace, the exessciated with debt service could
increase. This would negatively impact our finahc@ndition and profitability.
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The information below summarizes our market risksoaiated with long-term debt obligations as ofuday 1, 2011. The table presents
principal cash flows and related interest rategdmr of maturity. Interest rates disclosed repregenactual weighted average rates as of
January 1, 2011.

Debt Obligations
Weighted average

Outstanding interest rate for debt

(in millions of U.S. dollars) debt balance maturing

Debt maturing in:

2011 $ 6.3 6.4%
2012 3.5 7.71%
2013 1.9 7.4%
2014 2.2 7.5%
2015 2.3 7.5%
Thereafte 592.1 8.2%
Total $ 608.:1 8.2%

! We funded the purchase of new water bottling eqeipnthrough an interim financing agreement sigmedbinuary 2008 (the “GE
Obligation”). At the end of the GE Obligation, weaynexchange $6.0 million of deposits for the extishment of $6.0 million in debt
or elect to purchase such equipmi

Commodity Price Risk

The competitive marketplace in which we operate fimay our ability to recover increased costs thghihigher prices. As a result, we
are subject to market risk with respect to commpoplitce fluctuations principally related to our pbases of aluminum, corn (for HFCS), P
resin, and juice concentrates. When possible, weageour exposure to this risk primarily through tise of supplier pricing agreements,
which enable us to establish the purchase pricqeseftain commaodities. We estimate that a 10% em®edn the market prices of these
commodities over the current market prices woulthalatively increase our cost of sales during the @ months by approximately $55.5
million. This change would be material to our célelvs and our results of operations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIA L STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DAT A
Financial statements and exhibits filed under itieim are listed in the index appearing in ltem 18 report.

ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and phaes as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15¢kedSecurities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The Camijsananagement, under the supervision and witlp#rgcipation of the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officearried out an evaluation of the effectivenesthefdesign and operation of the
Company'’s disclosure controls and procedures damifary 1, 2011 (the “Evaluation”). Based uponBhaluation, the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer comdéd that, as of January 1, 2011, the Companytsodigre controls and procedures (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e) of tkehange Act) were not effective at the reasonatder@nce level as a result of the material
weakness that is described in “Management’s Rapohhternal Control Over Financial Reporting.” Wavk taken steps and are taking the
actions described more fully below under “Remediat#ctivities” to remediate the material weakness.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfi and maintaining adequate “internal contr@rdinancial reporting” (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)1Management, under the supervision and withpigicipation of the Company'Chiel
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaled the effectiveness of the Company’s interaatrol over financial reporting using the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoringd@izations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”niternal Control—Integrated
Frameworkas of January 1, 2011. As a result of managemenékiation of the Company’s internal control ovaahcial reporting,
management identified the material weakness desthielow. A material weakness is a deficiency, combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over financial reporting such ttiadre is a reasonable possibility that a mateniaktatement of the Company’s annual or
interim financial statements will not be preventedietected on a timely basis.

The Company did not maintain effective controlsrabe communication and evaluation of a certainausr’s discount and pricing
programs. The Company’s control procedures idedtifiertain differences requiring further investigiat and control procedures in place
were either not adequately designed or did notaipesffectively to ensure that these differenceh fimancial reporting implications were
communicated completely, accurately, and in a fymahnner to appropriate accounting personnel. @tigrol deficiency resulted in
immaterial pricing errors impacting revenue, acasuaceivable and accrued expenses with respecte®f our customers during the quarter
ended October 2, 2010 that were corrected throughision to the Company’s interim financial stagats in Note 22 in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. Additionally, this control deficiena§ not remedied, could result in further misstaéants of the aforementioned accounts and
disclosures that would result in a material misstant of the annual or interim consolidated finahsfatements that would not be prevented
or detected. Accordingly, the Company’s managerhaatdetermined this control deficiency constitat@saterial weakness.

As a result of this material weakness, managemantbncluded that the Company'’s internal contrer dwancial reporting was not
effective as of January 1, 2011 based on the COB&ia.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal corkar financial reporting as of January 1, 2011 teen audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independgistered certified public accounting firm,stated in their report which appears
herein.

Cliffstar Acquisition:As permitted by Securities and Exchange Commissiaff interpretive guidance for newly acquired nesises,
management has excluded the Cliffstar business ilassessment of internal control over finan@gbrting as of January 1, 2011 becau
acquired substantially all of the assets and liddsl of Cliffstar Corporation and its affiliate@mpanies (“Cliffstar”) in August 2010.
Cliffstar’s total assets and total revenues repre®2% and 13%, respectively, of the Company’s clbidiated financial statement amounts as
of and for the year ended January 1, 2011.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal coowe financial reporting during our most recentdisquarter that have materially
affected, or are likely to materially affect, oatérnal control over financial reporting.

Remediation Activities

Beginning in January 2011, with oversight from ghelit Committee, the Company’s management begalesign and implement
certain remediation measures to address the alesariled material weakness and enhance the Congpsystem of internal control over
financial reporting, including expanded reviews andluations of specific customer accounts recéévabing and promotional activities
reports and re-assignment of senior accountingopeed to oversee the specific customer activities.
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The Company believes the remediation measurestiéihgthen the Company’s internal control overrizial reporting and remediate
the material weakness identified. We will continaenonitor the effectiveness of these remediati@asnres and will make any changes and
take such other actions that we deem appropriaggnghe circumstances. The identified material weak has not been fully remediated a
the date of the filing of this annual report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not Applicable.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT

The information required by this item regardingediors is incorporated by reference to, and wiltbetained in, the “Election of
Directors” section of our definitive proxy circulfor the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareowners, whidhbe filed within 120 days after
January 1, 2011 (the “2011 Proxy Circular”). Thioimation required by this item regarding audit coittee financial expert disclosure is
incorporated by reference to, and will be contaimedhe “Corporate Governance” section of our 28tdxy Circular. The information
required by this item regarding executive officappears as the Supplemental Item in Part I. Theeve heen no material changes to the
procedures by which shareholders may recommendne@sito our Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors is“andit committee” for the purposes of Section &8)(A) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Audit Coremitharter is posted on our website at www.cott.cidme members of the Audit
Committee are Graham Savage (Chairman), GeorgecBund Gregory Monahan. As required by the NYSEsiuthe board has determined
that each member of the Audit Committee is finalhclderate and that Mr. Savage qualifies as amdiacommittee financial expert” within
the meaning of the rules of the U.S. SecuritiesExchange Commission.

All of our directors, officers and employees musinply with our Code of Business Conduct and EtHizaddition, our Chief Executi
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and principal aeoting officer and certain other employees havertnér obligation to comply with our
Code of Ethics for Senior Officers. Our Code of Bass Conduct and Ethics and our Code of EthicSé&mior Officers are posted on our
website, www.cott.com and we intend to comply vatiigations to disclose any amendment to, or wadfeprovisions of these codes by
posting such information on our website.

Section 16(a) Beneficial ownership reporting compdince

The information required by this item is incorpechby reference to, and will be contained in, tBection 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” section of our 2011 ProxycGiar.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference to, and will be contained in, @erhpensation of Executive Officers”
section of our 2011 Proxy Circular.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREOWNER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to, and will be contained in, tRaricipal Shareowners,” “Security
Ownership of Directors and Management” and “Eq@impensation Plan Information” sections of our 2Btdxy Circular.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to, and will be contained in, tGertain Relationships and Related
Transactions” section of our 2011 Proxy Circular.

IT EM14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to, and will be contained in, tinelépendent Registered Public
Accounting Firm” section of our 2011 Proxy Circular
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(&) The documents filed as part of this reportearéollows:
1. Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements and acconipamgport of independent registered certified puatcounting firm
are listed in the Index to Consolidated Financtat@nents and are filed as part of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
3. Exhibits
Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K f&eth on the “Exhibit Index.”

All other schedules called for by the applicableCStecounting regulations are not required underdtaged instructions or are
inapplicable and, therefore, have been omitted.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmy authorized.

Cott Corporation

/s/ JERRYF OWDEN
Jerry Fowden

Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 15, 2011

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated:

/s/ JERRYF OWDEN Date: March 15, 2011 /s/ GREGORYM ONAHAN Date: March 15, 2011
Jerry Fowden Gregory Monahan
Chief Executive Officer, Director Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ NEAL C RAVENS Date: March 15, 2011 /s/ MAaRIoPILOzZzZI Date: March 15, 2011

Neal Cravens
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Mario Pilozzi
Director

/s/ GREGORYL EITER Date: March 15, 2011 /s/ GEORGE A. B URNETT Date: March 15, 2011
Gregory Leiter George A. Burnett
Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Director
Assistant Secretary
(Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Davip T. GIBBONS Date: March 15, 2011 /s/ ANDREWP ROZES Date: March 15, 2011
David T. Gibbons Andrew Prozes
Chairman, Director Director
/s/ M ARK B ENADIBA Date: March 15, 2011 /s!/ GRAHAM S AVAGE Date: March 15, 2011
Mark Benadiba Graham Savage
Director Director
/'s/ STEPHEN H. H ALPERIN Date: March 15, 2011 /s/ ERIC R OSENFELD Date: March 15, 2011
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Acounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Cott Corporation

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present fairall material respects, the financial
position of Cott Corporation and its subsidiariesanuary 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010 and thetsesfutheir operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period endedalgri, 2011 in conformity with accounting prin@plgenerally accepted in the United St
of America. In addition, in our opinion, the finaalcstatement schedule listed in the index appgarider Iltem 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth thewehen read in conjunction with the related cormkitd financial statements. Also in our
opinion, the Company did not maintain, in all meterespects, effective internal control over fineh reporting as of January 1, 2011, based
on criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway
Commission (COSO) because a material weaknesseimai control over financial reporting relatedtie communication and evaluation of a
certain customes' discount and pricing programs existed as ofdatg. A material weakness is a deficiency, or coaon of deficiencies,
internal control over financial reporting, suchtttigere is a reasonable possibility that a mateniaktatement of the annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or defigon a timely basis. The material weakness edeir above is described in Management’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reportappearing under Item 9A . We considered this nateeakness in determining the
nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applredur audit of the January 1, 2011 consolidateanfonal statements, and our opinion regarding
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal contkar financial reporting does not affect our opmbn those consolidated financial
statements. The Company’s management is respoffigitileese financial statements and financial stat& schedules, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportingd for its assessment of the effectiveness efrial control over financial reporting incluc
in management’s report referred to above. Our mesipdity is to express opinions on these finanstatements, on the financial statement
schedule and on the Company’s internal control émencial reporting based on our integrated aulllite conducted our audits in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accoun@grsight Board (United States). Those standaqgire that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whisih@nancial statements are free of material taisgnent and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintaineciihmaterial respects. Our audits of the finanstatements included examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and diselssn the financial statements, assessing theuatiog principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating #ralbfinancial statement presentation. Our autib@rnal control over financial
reporting included obtaining an understanding trimal control over financial reporting, assessh@yrisk that a material weakness exists,
and testing and evaluating the design and operaffegtiveness of internal control based on thesssd risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considezeéssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablessesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircgal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainky reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; anda(iiyide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygsats that could have a material effect on thenfiizd statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.
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As described in Management’s Report on Internalt@b@ver Financial Reporting, management has eaduthe Cliffstar business
from its assessment of internal control over finaheporting as of January 1, 2011 because thepaagnacquired substantially all of the
assets and liabilities of Cliffstar Corporation atsdaffiliated companies (“Cliffstar”). We have also excluded the Cliffstar business fram o
audit of internal control over financial reportir@liffstar’s total assets and total revenues rege26 percent and 13 percent, respectively, of
the related consolidated financial statement ansoasof and for the year ended January 1, 2011.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L
Tampa, Florid:
March 15, 201:
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Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except share amounts)

Revenue, ne
Cost of sale:
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm
Restructuring, goodwill and asset impairme
Restructuring
Gooduwill impairments
Asset impairment
Operating income (loss
Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen
Other expense (income), r
Interest expense, n
Income (loss) before income taxe
Income tax expense (benel
Net income (loss)
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest:
Net income (loss) attributed to Cott Corporation

Net income (loss) per common share attributed to @bCorporation
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average outstanding shares (thousands) ahuted to Cott Corporation
Basic
Diluted

For the Years Ended

January 1,

2011
$1,803.:
1,537.(
266.%
166.7
11

0.5)

99.C
(20.9)
0

January 2, December 27
2010 2008
$1,596.° $ 1,648.:
1,346.¢ 1,467..

249.¢ 181.C
146.¢ 179.¢

0.5 1.3
1.5 6.7
— 69.2
3.€ 37.C
97.4 (113.0
4.4 (4.7)
29.7 32.5
63.2 (140.6)
(22.§) (19.5)
$ 86.1 $ (121.))
4.6 1.7

$ B8LE $ (1229

$ 1.1C $ (179

1.0¢ (1.79
74,20' 71,01
75,21¢ 71,01

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Cott Corporation

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except share amounts)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash & cash equivalen
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $8.3 (¥&®f January 2, 201
Income taxes recoverak
Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other as
Total current assets

Property, plant and equipme
Goodwill

Intangibles and other ass:
Deferred income taxe

Other tax receivabl

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Shor-term borrowings

Current maturities of lor-term debr
Contingent consideration ew-out
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Deferred income taxe

Other lon¢-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Contingencies and Commitme—Note 17
Equity

Capital stock, no p—94,750,120 (January 2, 2(—81,331,330) shares issu
Treasury stocl

Additional paic-in-capital

Retained earning

Accumulated other comprehensive |
Total Cott Corporation equity
Non-controlling interest:

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Approved by the Board of Directors:

/sl Graham Savage

January 1,

2011

$ 48.:=
213.¢
0.2
2155
32.7

January 2,

2010

$ 30.¢
152.%
20.¢
99.7
16.€

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Operating Activities
Net income (loss
Depreciation & amortizatio
Amortization of financing fee
Shar-based compensation expel
Increase (decrease) in deferred income t
Decrease in other income tax liabiliti
Write-off of financing fees
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipm
Loss on buyback of Note
Intangible asset impairmer
Goodwill impairments
Contingent consideration ei-out adjustmen
Contract termination char
Contract termination paymer
Other nor-cash item:
Change in operating assets and liabilities, netcglisition:
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Income taxes recoverak
Net cash provided by operating activit
Investing Activities
Acquisition
Additions to property, plant & equipme
Additions to intangible:
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipn
Net cash used in investing activiti
Financing Activities
Payments of lor-term debt
Issuance of lor-term debt
Borrowings on credit facility, ne
Shor-term borrowings, ne
Borrowings under ABL
Payments under AB
Distributions to no-controlling interest:
Issuance of common shares, net of offering
Purchase of treasury sha
Financing fee:
Other financing activitie
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents
Cash & cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash & cash equivalents, end of period

Supplemental Noncash Investing and Financing Actities:
Capital lease additior
Deferred consideratio
Contingent consideration ei-out
Working capital adjustmer

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for intere:
Cash (received) paid for income taxes,

The accompanying notes are an

For the Years Ended

January 1,

2011

59.¢
74.C
2.7
4.7
17.C
14
11
0.1

(209
3.6

(54
5.5

3.9
(28.9)
2.6
(1.6
39.
25.7

178.¢

(507.7)
(44.0
4.2
1.2

(554.7)

(18.9)
375.(

366.
(379.0
(7.4

71.1

(14.9)

BUSk

0.3

17.c

©

B BB P

30.¢

48.2

2.4
13.2
32.2
4.7)

22.¢
(24.9)

January 2,

2010

o @
| orroo
N) €D (7 NY =

| wro|
(M

(1.6

(6.9
(38.1)
155.1

(329
(1.6
1.7
(32.9)

(265.5)
211.¢

768.1
(856.9)
(6.6)

47.F

6.2
(0.1)
(107.9)
0.8
16.2
14.7
30.¢

@

R R R
|

23.¢
11.C

© &

integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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December 27
2008

$ (121.9)
80.7

2.5

(55.9
(3.9
4.5

(54.9)

(9.0
33.¢
(127.9
(8.9
1,300
(1,192.)
(3.9

(6.9)
(5.9
(0.5)
(19.9
(5.F
(12.9)
27.4
14.7

@

R R R
|

31.1
(9.6)

© &
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Balance at December 29, 2007
Treasury shares purcha—PSU Plar
Treasury shares purcha—EISPP
Restricted share
Shar-based compensatic
Distributions to no-controlling interest:
Comprehensive incorr

Currency translation adjustme

Pension liabilities

Net (loss) incomq

Balance at December 27, 2008

Common shares issur
Treasury shares isst—PSU Plar
Treasury shares issL—EISPP
Shar-based compensatic
Options exercise
Distributions to no-controlling interest:
Comprehensive inconm
Currency translation adjustme
Pension liabilities
Net income
Balance at January 2, 2010

Common shares issur
Treasury shares isst—PSU Plar
Tax Impact of Common Shares Issua
Treasury Shares iss,—EISPP
Common Shares isst—Directors Shar
Award
Shar-based compensatic
Distributions to no-controlling interest:
Comprehensive incomr
Currency translation adjustme
Pension liabilities
Unrealized loss on derivative
instruments, net of income ti
Net income

Balance at January 1, 2011

Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Equity
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except share amounts)

Cott Corporation Equity

Number of  Number of Retainec Accumulated
Additional Other Non-
Common Treasury Common Treasury Restricted Earnings Comprehensive  Controlling
Shares (In  Shares (In Paid-in- Total
thousands thousands Shares Shares Shares Capital (Deficit) Income (Loss) Interests Equity
71,871 — $ 275C $ — % 0.4 $ 32z $ 931 % 32: % 19.€ $451.¢
— 1,95¢ — (5.4 — — — — — (5.4
— 358 — (1.0 — 1.C — — — —
— — — — 0.4 (0.4) — — — —
— — — — — -8 — — — 5.8
— — — — — — — — (3.9) (3.€
— — — — — — — (76.€) 0.2 (76.7)
— — — — — — — (3.5) — (3.
— — — — — — (122.5) — 1.7 (121.))
71,871 2301 $ 2750 $ (6.4 $ - 3 381 $ (29.9) $ (478 $ 175 $246.%
9,43t — 47.t — — — — — — 47.t
— (560) — 14 — (1.4 — — — —
— (247) — 0.€ — (0.€) — — — —
— — — — — -3 — — — 1.2
25 — — — — — — — — —
— — — — — — — — (6.€) (6.€)
— — — — — — — 26.t — 26.t
— — — — — — 81. — 4.€ 86.1
81,33! 150/ $ 322t $ (44 $ — 3 374 $ 51& $ (213 $ 15.5  $401.:
13,48¢ — 71.1 — — — — — — 71.1
— (437) — 1.z — (1.3) — — — (0.7
— — 2.0 — — — — — — 2.C
_ (16) _ _ — _ — _ — _
— — — — — ] — — — 0.7
— — — — — C — — — 4.C
— — — — — — — (7.4) (7.4)
— — — — — — 4.t — 4.t
— — — — — — — (0.9) — (0.4
— — — — — — — 0.3 — 0.3
— — — — — — 54.7 — 5.1 59.€
94,811 1,051 $ 3956 $ (32 $ — 3 40.6 $ 106f $ (17.5) $ 13.C $535.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Net income (loss

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of

Net currency translatio

Pension benefit plan, net of t

Unrealized loss on derivative instrume
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Comprehensive income (loss)
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest:
Comprehensive income (loss) attributed to Cott Corpration

For the Years Ended

January 1,

3.8

&+
()]
SR
= ™

¥
a
©
tn

January 2,

N
o
e

&

108.

—

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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(76.7)
(3.5)
(80.29)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Description of Business

Cott Corporation, together with its consolidatetisdiaries (“Cott,” “the Company,” “our Company,Cbtt Corporation,” “we,” “us,’or
“our”), is the world’s largest retailer brand beage company. Our product lines include carbonatéidisinks (“CSDs"), clear, still and
sparkling flavored waters, energy-related drink&gd, juice-based products, bottled water and reéadirink teas.

Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with United States (“U.Seheagally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) using the U.S. dollar as theoeting currency, as the majority of our businesd tnhe majority of our shareowners are in
the U.S.

For the year ended January 1, 2011, we had 52 vedeldivity compared to 53 weeks for the year ehdenuary 2, 2010. We estimate
the additional week contributed $20.3 million ofigabnal revenue and $1.3 million of additional cgiing income for the year ended
January 2, 2010.

We operate in five operating segments—North Amefidaich includes our U.S. reporting unit and Canegfsorting unit), United
Kingdom (“U.K.”) (which includes our United Kingdomeporting unit and our Continental European rapgrtinit), Mexico, Royal Crown
International (“RCI") and All Other (which includesur international corporate expenses and our #egiarting unit, which ceased operations
at the end of fiscal 2008). We changed our opegategments in the third quarter of 2008 to refeechange in our management structure and
how information is reported to management.

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements consolidate our accowuitsywholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaried @int ventures which we
control. All intercompany transactions and accotnatge been eliminated in consolidation.

During the quarter ended January 1, 2011, we ifieditan error relating to pricing discounts of $&iflion for one of our customers tt
occurred in our quarter ended October 2, 2010.ifipact of this error was an overstatement of natmae and operating results for the
quarter and nine months ended October 2, 2010.9A&saed the materiality of this error in accordavitte guidance within ASC 250-10-S99
(SEC's Staff Accounting Bulletin 99) and concludkdt the previously issued interim financial stages for the quarter and nine months
ended October 2, 2010 are not materially misstatedccordance with guidance within ASC 250-10-§9BC'’s Staff Accounting Bulletin
108), we have corrected the immaterial error bysieyg the prior interim period financial statemefasthe quarter ended October 2, 2010 as
shown in the quarterly financial information in MA@2. This revision will be presented prospectivelfuture filings. Diluted earnings per
share for the quarter ended October 2, 2010 chafinged$.09 to $.07 due to the correction of th@err

During the period ended September 27, 2008, weifdahan error related to the expensing of certafarmation technology software
costs that were previously capitalized and amadtaeer an estimated life and during the period dridecember 27, 2008, we identified
errors relating to foreign exchange gains and bsskating to intercompany debt transactions. Véessed the materiality of these items on
the income for the year ended December 27, 200&khother periods subsequent to those dates,cordance with ASC 250, and concluded
that these errors were not material to any suclog&rin accordance with ASC 250, the DecembePQ®@8 consolidated financial statements
herein have been revised to correct the immateriars and to reflect the corrected balances adrathipense, currency translation adjustn
intangible assets and
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selling, general and administrative expenses #sabfdate. This correction resulted in a reductibimtangible assets of $4.6 million and an
increase in selling, general and administrativeeesps of $4.6 million and net other expense of 8illdn in the Consolidated Statements of
Income (Loss).

Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financiaéstants in conformity with GAAP requires managenenhake estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts of assetsiaitities and disclosure of contingent assets latilities at the date of the financial
statements and the amount of revenue and expeuseg the reporting period. Actual results coultfatifrom those estimates. The
consolidated financial statements include estimatesassumptions which, in the opinion of managenvegre significant to the underlying
amounts representing the future valuation of initalegassets, long-lived assets and goodwill, actingrior share-based compensation,
realization of deferred income tax assets anddkelution of tax contingencies. Determining whethgrairment has occurred requires
various estimates and assumptions including estnaitcash flows that are directly related to tb&eptially impaired asset, the useful life
over which cash flows will occur and their amourise measurement of an impairment loss requiressimate of fair value, which includes
estimates of cash flows and the appropriate digc@te.

Accounting Policies
Revenue recognition

We recognize revenue, net of sales returns, whereship passes to customers for products manuéatinrour own plants and/or by
third parties on our behalf, and when prices toaustomers are fixed and collection is reasonasgyiieed. This may be upon shipment of
goods or upon delivery to the customer, dependimgamtractual terms. Shipping and handling cosiid Ipathe customer to us are include:
revenue. Although we accept returns of productsfoar customers occasionally, such returns, hisatlyi, have not been material.

Sales incentives

We participate in various incentive programs witin oustomers, including volume-based incentivespyational allowance incentives
and contractual rebate incentives. Sales incentivedased on our customers achieving volume tfget period of time. They are deduc
from revenue and accrued as the incentives are@amd are based on management’s estimate ofteehe customer is expected to earn
and claim. We regularly review customer sales fasecto ensure volume targets will be met and adjaentive accruals accordingly.

Cost of sales

We record shipping and handling and finished gandsntory costs in cost of sales. Finished goossntory costs include the cost of
direct labor and materials and the applicable sbhoverhead expense chargeable to production.

Selling, general and administrative expenses
We record all other expenses not charged to pramuas selling, general and administrative expenses

Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation expense for all share-basgensation awards granted after January 1, 2006sed on the grant-date fair
value. We recognized these compensation costs madfoofeiture rate on a straight-line basis over tequisite service period of the award,
which is generally the vesting term of three yelis.estimated forfeitures were included in the gkation of share-based compensation for
the 2010, 2009 and 2008 share-based awards.
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Additional paid-in capital is adjusted by the tanpiact related to the difference between the amdeaticted for tax purposes and the
compensation cost for accounting purposes. Whereathdeduction exceeds book compensation costcagase in additional paid-in capital
is recorded. Where the tax deduction is less tlvak lsompensation cost, a reduction in additionapacapital is recorded to the extent
there is an accumulated balance or charged to ia¢armexpense if a shortfall remains after the amdated additional paid-in capital is
brought to zero.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly ligoicestments with original maturities not exceedimgee months at the time of
purchase. The fair values of our cash and caslvalguits approximate the amounts shown on our Cinlagetl Balance Sheets due to their
short-term nature.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

A portion of our accounts receivable is not expgdtebe collected due to non-payment, bankruptmnessales returns. Our accounting
policy for the provision for doubtful accounts ré@s us to reserve an amount based on the evaluattihe aging of accounts receivable,
sales return trend analysis, detailed analysisgf-Hisk customers’ accounts, and the overall miaakel economic conditions of our
customers.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, datexchon the first-in, first-out method, or net iezable value. Returnable bottles are
valued at the lower of cost, deposit value or eatizable value. Finished goods and work-in-progedside the cost of raw materials, direct
labor and manufacturing overhead costs.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation. Depreciation is détearusing the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets |ksie:

Buildings 10 to 40 yeal
Machinery and equipme 7 to 15 yeat
Furniture and fixture 3to 10 yeat
Plates, films and molc 1to 10 yeal
Vending 5to 10 yeat
Transportation equipme 3to 15 yeal

Leasehold improvements are amortized using th@hbtrline method over the remaining life of thedeaMaintenance and repairs are
charged to operating expense when incurred.
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Gooduwill and indefinite life intangible assets:

January 1, 2011 January 2, 2010
Gross Accumulated Net Gross Accumulated Net
Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying
Impairment Impairment
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Amount Losses Amount Amount Losses Amount
North America
Balance at beginning of ye $ 30.7 $ 4.€ $ 26.1 $ 26.5 $ 4.C $ 22¢
Gooduwill acquired during the ye 98.2 — 98.2 — — —
Foreign exchang 1.7 0.3 1.4 4.2 0.€ 3.6
Balance at end of ye $130.¢ $ 4.9 $125.7 $ 30.7 $ 4.€ $ 26.1
RCI
Balance at beginning of ye $ 4F $ — $ 4F $ 4F $ — $ 4t
Gooduwill acquired during the ye — — — — — —
Foreign exchang — — — — — —
Balance at end of ye $ 4F $ — $ 4ct $ 4F $ — $ 4t
Total
Balance at beginning of ye $ 35z $ 4.€ $ 30.€ $ 31 $ 4.C $ 27.C
Goodwill acquired during the ye 98.2 — 98.2 — — —
Foreign exchang 1.7 0.3 1.4 4.2 0.€ 3.6
Balance at end of ye $135.1 $ 4.9 $130.2 $ 35.2 $ 4.€ $ 30.€

Gooduwill represents the excess purchase priceqfiaer businesses over the fair value of the redtasacquired. Goodwill is not
amortized, but instead is tested at least annfrallynpairment in the fourth quarter or more freqihe if we determine a triggering event has
occurred during the year. Any impairment loss omized in our results of operations. We evalgatadwill for impairment on a reporting
unit basis. Reporting units are operations for Witiscrete financial information is available, avé at or one level below our operating
segments. The evaluation of goodwill for each répgrunit is based upon the following approach. sdmpare the fair value of a reporting
unit to its carrying amount. Where the carrying amtds greater than the fair value, the implied falue of the reporting unit goodwill is
determined by allocating the fair value of the mtipg unit to all the assets and liabilities of tieporting unit with any of the remainder being
allocated to goodwill. The implied fair value oftheporting unit goodwill is then compared to therging amount of that goodwill to
determine the impairment loss. Any impairment ilueds recognized in the Consolidated Statemen@pafrations. The goodwill on our
balance sheet at January 1, 2011 represents anfouttie U.S. and Canada reporting units and thedp€rating segment.

We measure the fair value of reporting units usingix of the income approach (which is based ordibeounted cash flow of the
reporting unit) and the public company approach.use a combination of the two approaches whichigesva more accurate valuation
because it incorporates the actual cash generatithe company in addition to how a third party kedrmparticipant would value the reporting
unit. Because the business is assumed to continperpetuity, the discounted future cash flow idelsia terminal value. We used a weighted
average terminal growth rate of 2% for our Canagberting unit in 2010 and 2009, respectively, atgghd 0% for our RCI reporting unit in
2010 and 2009, respectively. The long-term grovgdueptions incorporated into the discounted cash ¢lalculation reflect our long-term
view of the market (including a decline in CSD deh projected changes in the sale of our prodpeising of such products and operating
profit margins. The estimated revenue changesisratialysis for the Canada reporting unit and RPbrting unit range between -7.9% and
7.2% for 2010 and between -0.3% and 10.8% for 2009.

The discount rate used for the fair value estimates 10% for 2010 and 11% for 2009. This rate sebaon the weighted average cost
of capital a market participant would use if evéilugthe reporting unit as an investment. The figle rate for 2010 was 4.1% and is based on
a 20-year U.S. Treasury Bill as of the valuatioteda
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All goodwill in the U.S. reporting unit is attribaitle to the Cliffstar Acquisition.

Each year during the fourth quarter, we re-evaltleeassumptions used to reflect changes in thedasenvironment, such as revenue
growth rates, operating profit margins and discoaté. Based on the evaluation performed this y&lizing the assumptions above, we
determined that the fair value of each of our répgrunits exceeded their carrying amount and i@salt further impairment testing was not
required. We analyzed the sensitivity these assomphave on our overall impairment assessmenhatelthat as of January 1, 2011 annual
assessment, the fair value for each of these tiagarhits was substantially in excess of its camgyvalue.

We determined that as of September 27, 2008, oitetKingdom reporting unit's goodwill was impairedsed on our estimate of its
fair value. This impairment analysis was triggede@ to cumulative declines in our cash flows inlthéted Kingdom, which was lower than
the forecast used to value this asset in our 2@@airment analysis. This decrease in cash flowpaatly the result of lower than anticipated
volumes and the adverse impact of rising commagliie our raw material costs. Allocating this faatue to the assets and liabilities to the
United Kingdom reporting unit resulted in a $69.®ion goodwill impairment charge.

Intangible and other assets

As of January 1, 2011, other definite life assetsen$326.1 million, which consisted principally®#74.5 million of customer
relationships that arose from acquisitions. Custarelationships are amortized on a straight-lingi$éor the period over which we expect to
receive economic benefits. We review the estimatedul life of these intangible assets annuallgin@into consideration the specific net
cash flows related to the intangible asset, urdaswview is required more frequently due to a &igg event such as the loss of a customer.
The permanent loss or significant decline in stemy customer included in the intangible assatldoesult in impairment in the value of
the intangible asset or accelerated amortizatighcanld lead to an impairment of fixed assets W&re used to service that customer. In 2
we recorded $216.9 million of customer relationstapquired in connection with the Cliffstar Acqtiga. In 2009, we recorded a $3.5
million customer relationship impairment chargetfee loss of a customer.

Our only intangible asset with an indefinite litdates to the 2001 acquisition of intellectual gy from Royal Crown Company, Inc.
including the right to manufacture our concentratath all related inventions, processes, technielmgechnical and manufacturing
information, know-how and the use of the Royal Qndwand outside of North America and Mexico (thégtRs”) which has a net book val
of $45.0 million. Prior to 2001, we paid a volumesbd royalty to the Royal Crown Company for puret@Esconcentrates. There are no legal,
regulatory, contractual, competitive, economicothrer factors that limit the useful life of thigamgible.

The life of the Rights is considered to be inde&rand therefore not amortized, but instead igtkat least annually for impairment or
more frequently if we determine a triggering eviea$ occurred during the year. For an intangibletasgh an indefinite life, we compare the
carrying amount of the Rights to their fair valuelavhere the carrying amount is greater than thevédue, we recognize in income an
impairment loss. To determine fair value, we useliaf from royalty method which calculates a faaiue royalty rate that is applied to a
forecast of future volume shipments of concentifade is used to produce CSDs. The forecast of éwofumes is based on the estimated
inter-plant shipments and RCI shipments. The rgyalief method is used since the Rights were pasel in part to avoid making future
royalty payments for concentrate to the Royal Cr@ampany. The resulting cash flows are discoungaguthe same assumptions discussed
above for goodwill. No impairment was calculatedbfdanuary 1, 2011. As of September 27, 2008,emerded an asset impairment related
to the Rights of $27.4 million, triggered primarbly the decline of our North America case volunmel(iding reductions in volume with Wal-
Mart) and lower anticipated overseas concentralignve in our RCI operating segment. We incurreddditeonal $8.0 million asset
impairment as of December 27, 2008 to reflect &ofth anticipated volume declines in our RCI opesegment for a total impairment of
$35.4 million. Absent any other changes, if oueirtlant concentrate volume declines by 1.0% framestimated volume, the value of our
Rights would decline by approximately $0.9 millidghour RCI volume declines by
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1.0% from our estimated volume, the value of thghi& would decline by approximately $1.9 milliohour discounted borrowing rate
increases by 100 basis points, the value of thatRigould decline by approximately $3.2 million.

Impairment of long lived assets

When adverse events occur, we compare the carayimgunt of long-lived assets to the estimated undisted future cash flows at the
lowest level of independent cash flows for the grofilong-lived assets and recognize any impairns# in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations, taking into consideration the timingesiting and the asset’s remaining useful life. &kgected life and value of these long-lived
assets is based on an evaluation of the compe#itiveeonment, history and future prospects as gpate. We did not record any
impairments of long-lived assets in 2010 or 2002008, we recorded impairment losses totaling $iiliion for both the Elizabethtown,
Kentucky facility and certain hot-filled producti@ssets that were held-for-sale.

Foreign currency translation

The assets and liabilities of non-U.S. active of@na, all of which are selustaining, are translated to U.S. dollars at Kob&nge rate
in effect at the balance sheet dates. Revenueexgmhses are translated using average monthly mgetrates prevailing during the period.
The resulting gains or losses are recorded in agtaied comprehensive income under shareownerstyequi

Taxation

We account for income taxes under the asset abiditfamethod. Deferred tax assets and liabilitees recognized based on the
differences between the accounting values of assetdiabilities and their related tax bases usingently enacted income tax rates. A
valuation allowance is established to reduce defeimcome tax assets if, on the basis of availebigence, it is not more likely than not that
all or a portion of any deferred tax assets wiltbalized. We classify interest and income tax fiEsaas income tax expense (benefit).

We account for uncertain tax positions using a step process. The first step is to evaluate th@aakion for recognition by
determining if the weight of available evidenceigades that it is more likely than not that theipos will be sustained on audit, including
resolution of related appeals or litigation proess$ased on the technical merits. The secondetglres us to estimate and measure the tax
benefit as the largest amount that is more than B8y to be realized upon ultimate settlements linherently difficult and subjective to
estimate such amounts, as we have to determina ¢hability of various possible outcomes. We reheate these uncertain tax positions on a
quarterly basis. This evaluation is based on fadtwluding, but not limited to, changes in fact€iocumstances, changes in tax law,
effectively settled issues under audit, and newtaadivity. Such a change in recognition or measuent would result in the recognition of a
tax benefit or an additional charge to the tax fzion.

We recognize interest and penalties related tocagr@zed tax benefits within the income tax expdimgein the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Accrueddsteand penalties are included within the othegiterm liabilities line in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Pension costs

We record annual amounts relating to defined bepefision plans based on calculations, which irekatious actuarial assumptions
such as discount rates and assumed rates of apanding on the pension plan. Material changegmsion costs may occur in the future
due to changes in these assumptions. Future aamaints could be impacted by changes in the disaats changes in the expected long-
term rate of return, changes in the level of cttions to the plans and other factors. The fursdatlis is the difference between the fair v
of plan assets and the benefit obligation. Futateaial gains or losses that are not recognizeteaperiodic benefits cost in the same pel
will be recognized as a component of other compreive income.

F-14



Table of Contents

Recently issued accounting pronouncements
ASC No. 81—Variable Interest Entity (formerly SFAS No. 167)

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢*FASB”) issued ASC No. 810, “Amendments to BABiterpretation No. 46
(R)”, which amends FASB Interpretation No. 46 (s=d December 2003), to address the eliminatiohetbncept of a qualifying special
purpose entity. ASC 810 also replaces the quaingtdiased risks and rewards calculation for deteimgiwhich enterprise has a controlling
financial interest in a variable interest entityiwan approach focused on identifying which enisgphas the power to direct the activities of a
variable interest entity and the obligation to abdosses of the entity or the right to receivedfas from the entity. Additionally, ASC 810
provides more timely and useful information abaueaterprises involvement with a variable interest entity. ABT0D became effective in tl
first quarter of 2010. This standard does not fevampact on our consolidated financial statements.

ASU 201(-06— Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measoeats

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Statsddipdate (“ASU”) 2010-06, “Improving Disclosurdsoait Fair Value
Measurements”. ASU 2010-06 requires additionalld&aes about fair value measurements includingsteas in and out of Levels 1 and 2
and a higher level of disaggregation for the défertypes of financial instruments. For the recligtodn of Level 3 fair value measurements,
information about purchases, sales, issuancesedtieinsents are presented separately. This staimgleftéctive for interim and annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018 the exception of revised Level 3 discloswggquirements which are effective for
interim and annual reporting periods beginningreitecember 15, 2010. Comparative disclosures dareeqaired in the year of adoption. We
adopted the provisions of the standard on Janua@1), which did not have a material impact onfmancial statements.

Note 2—Acquisition

On August 17, 2010, we completed the acquisitiosutiistantially all of the assets and liabilitieCtiffstar and its affiliated companies
for approximately $500.0 million payable in cash4$® million in deferred consideration to be paigthree years and contingent
consideration of up to $55.0 million, the first $a%nillion of which is payable upon the achievemeinilestones in upgrading certain
expansion projects in 2010, and the remainder aflwis based on the achievement of certain perfoomaneasures during the fiscal year
ending January 1, 2011.

The total consideration paid by us in the Cliffsdaquisition is summarized below:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cash $500.(
Deferred consideratic! 13.2
Contingent consideration ei-out 2 52.t
Working Capital Paymer? 3.C
Total Consideratiol $568.7

Principal amount of $14.0 million to be paid ing¢brequal annual installments and recorded at #irev
Represents estimated original contingent consigderétased on probability of achievement of EBITDagets recorded at fair valt
Represents amount paid to seller for closing b&laheet working capite

The Cliffstar Acquisition was financed through tksuance of $375.0 million aggregate principal amad 8.125% senior notes due
2018 (the “2018 Notes”), the underwritten publiteoihg of 13.4 million of our common shares (theytity Offering”) and borrowings under
our credit facility, which we refinanced in connieatwith the Cliffstar Acquisition, to increase tamount available for borrowings to $275.0
million.
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Our primary reasons for the Cliffstar Acquisitioere to expand Cott’s product portfolio and manuféng capabilities, enhance our
customer offering and growth prospects, and impmwestrategic platform for the future.

The Cliffstar Acquisition is being accounted forden the acquisition method, in accordance with ABBE,“Business Combinations;
with the assets and liabilities acquired recorddtiir fair values at the Acquisition Date. Iddietil intangible assets, goodwill and property,
plant and equipment are recorded at their estinfaiegtalues per valuations. The results of operetiof the acquired business have been
included in our operating results beginning ashefAcquisition Date. We allocated the purchaseepoicthe Cliffstar Acquisition to tangible
assets, liabilities and identifiable intangibleetssacquired based on their estimated fair vallies.excess of the purchase price over the
aggregate fair values was recorded as goodwill.faiineralue assigned to identifiable intangibleesissacquired was based on estimates and
assumptions made by management. Intangible agsetsrertized using the straight-line amortizatioetimod.

Cliffstar is entitled to contingent consideratidiup to a maximum of $55.0 million, the first $150llion of which will be due by us if
Cliffstar and its affiliated companies achieve msiit;nes in upgrading certain expansion project®i02The remaining contingent
consideration will be due by us if Cliffstar and éffiliated companies meet certain targets regaiinnet income plus interest, income taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“"EBITDA”) for thesfial year ended January 1, 2011, adjusted foricemaounts as defined in the Asset
Purchase Agreement. We originally estimated thev&ue of the contingent payment at $52.5 milli@sed on financial projections of the
acquired business and estimated probabilities liEaement. As the fair value was based on signifigguts not observed in the market, the
contingent consideration earn-out represents all®westrument. Level 3 instruments are valued Baseunobservable inputs that are
supported by little or no market activity and refleur own assumptions in measuring fair value.b&keve that our estimates and
assumptions are reasonable, but there is signifjpdgment involved. Changes in the fair value @fitingent consideration liabilities
subsequent to the Cliffstar Acquisition will be oeded in our Consolidated Statements of Operatidaf January 1, 2011, the contingent
consideration was reduced to $32.2 million. Theiotidn was due to Cliffstes’ EBITDA being lower than originally projected. Tecline in
EBITDA is not directly correlated to the reductimnthe contingent consideration earn-out accrualtduhe tiers as defined in the payment
calculation. For example, if EBITDA was between $8fillion and $83.5 million, $1.00 of EBITDA equeal approximately $5.71 of
contingent consideration. The reduction resulte®2®.3 million of pre-tax income which was recordethe Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

In addition to the purchase price, we incurred $iilllon of acquisition related costs, which wergensed as incurred and recorded in
the selling, general, and administrative expenapfi@an of our Consolidated Statements of Operationthe year ended January 1, 2011, in
accordance with ASC 805,Business Combinatioris.

The following table summarizes the allocation @& urchase price to the fair value of the assefsised and liabilities assumed in
connection with the Cliffstar Acquisition.

January 1,
As reported at

(in millions of U.S. dollars) October 2, 2011 Adjustments 2011
Accounts receivabl $ 51.7 $ 0.51 $ 52.:
Inventories 85.¢ 1.2 87.1
Prepaid expenses and other as 5.4 0.2 5.7
Property, plant and equipme 171.¢ (4.2) 3 167.%
Goodwill 95.¢ 2.4 98.2
Intangibles and other ass: 224.; — 224.%
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (62.1) (1.2) 5 (63.5
Other lon¢-term liabilities (2.9) — (2.9
Total $ 569.t $ (0.9 $ 568.7

Adjustments related to identifiable ass
Adjustment based on changes in valuation assungptalated to inventor
Adjustment based on final valuation of propertgntland equipmet
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‘ Adjustment based on changes in the provisional s

° Adjustment related to identifiable liability forsaupplier agreemet

Intangible Assets

In our determination of the fair value of the ingéble assets, we considered, among other factoedyest use of acquired assets, ane
of historical financial performance and estimatefiture performance of Cliffstar’s products. Thatimated fair values of identified
intangible assets were calculated considering nadicipant expectations and using an incomeaggr and estimates and assumptions
provided by Cliffstar's and our management. Théofeing table sets forth the components of iderdifietangible assets associated with the
Cliffstar Acquisition and their estimated weight@eerage useful lives:

Estimated Fair

Estimated
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Market Value Useful Life
Customer relationshiy $ 216.¢ 15 year
Non-competition agreemen 6.€ 3 year

Total $ 223.k

Customer relationships represent future projeatedmue that will be derived from sales to existingtomers of the acquired company.

In conjunction with the closing of the Cliffstar duisition, certain key employees of Cliffstar extstlinon-competition agreements,
which prevent those employees from competing witinuspecified restricted territories for a peraddhree years from the Acquisition Date.
The value of the Cliffstar business could be matigrdiminished without these non-competition agneats.

Goodwill

The principal factor that resulted in recognitidrgoodwill was that the purchase price for the f€tdr Acquisition was based in part on
cash flow projections assuming the reduction of iatbtration costs and the integration of acquiragtemers and products into our
operations, which is of greater value than on adgtbbne basis. Goodwill is expected to be dedwefitl tax purposes.

Supplemental Pro Forma Data (unaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortiza for the years ended January 1, 2011 and Ja2y&010 represent the combit
results of our operations as if the Cliffstar Acgtion had occurred on December 27, 2008. The utedigro forma results reflect certain
adjustments related to the Cliffstar Acquisitiorlsas increased amortization expense on acquitadgible assets resulting from the
preliminary fair valuation of assets acquired. Thaudited pro forma financial information does netessarily reflect the results of
operations that would have occurred had we operdedsingle entity during such period.

For the Years Ended

(in millions of U.S. dollars, except share amounts) January 1, 201: January 2, 201(
Revenue $ 2,206. $ 2,268.(
Net incomet 67.C 87.1
Net income per common share, dilu $ 0.7¢ $ 0.9:

For the year ended January 2, 2010, Cott recorlducturing charges of $1.5 million due to the@28@structuring Plan (as defined in
Note 3) and $3.6 million of asset impairments pritgaelated to the writ-off of a customer list. For the year ended Janda®011,
Cott recorded a restructuring gain of $0.5 millretated to the North American Plan (as defined ate\B).

Revenues for Cliffstar since the date of the GlfifAcquisition were $232.2 million and operatingome was $5.2 million.
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Note 3—Restructuring, Goodwill and Asset Impairmens

The Company implements restructuring programs ftiome to time that are designed to improve operagifigctiveness and lower cos
When the Company implements these programs, itsngarious charges, including severance, conteaatihation and asset impairments,
and other employment related costs. In 2007, thegamy implemented one such program, which invothedealignment of the
management of our Canadian and U.S. businesseNdala American basis, rationalization of our protdofferings, elimination of
underperforming assets, an increased focus ongutgntial accounts, and the closure of severakplamd warehouses in North America that
resulted in lease contract termination losses grattal reduction in our workforce (the “North Aniean Plan”). The Company also
implemented a plan in 2009 (the “2009 RestructuRtan”) that resulted in a further reduction of ewarkforce. During the year ended
January 1, 2011, the Company made $5.4 milliorashgayments related to the North American Plars&ltash payments included $3.0
million related to the settlement of one of itsdeabligations, which resulted in a gain of $0.4#liom. In addition, the Company recorded a
$0.1 million gain related to other non-cash charfgeshe North American Plan during the year endaaduary 1, 2011. In 2009, we recorded
restructuring and asset impairments of $5.1 millishich included $3.6 million for asset impairmeptsnarily related to customer
relationships and severance costs of $1.5 mill@ated to the organizational restructuring and beadt reductions associated with the 2009
Restructuring Plan.

The following table summarizes restructuring, godidmpairment and asset impairment charges (gdimshe years ended January 1,
2011, January 2, 2010 and December 27, 2008:

For the Years Ended

January 1, January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010 2008
Restructuring $ (0t $ 1t $ 6.7
Goodwill impairments — — 69.2
Asset impairment — 3.6 37.C

$ (0t $ 5.1 $ 112«

The following table is a summary of our restruatgrliabilities as of January 1, 2011, along witlgles (gains) to costs and expenses
and cash payments:

North American Plan:

Balance a' Balance a'
Charge (Gain)
January 2, Payments mad January 1,
to Costs and
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2010 Expenses during the year 2011
Lease contract termination Ic 5.8 (0.9 (5.9 —
$ 5.8 $ (0.4) $ (5.9 $ —

As of January 1, 2011, no amounts are owed unéeNdrth American Plan.

The following table is a summary of our restruatgrliabilities as of January 2, 2010, along witlugfes to costs and expenses and cast
payments:

Balance a
Balance at
December 27 Charge to Cost: Payments mad January 2,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2008 and Expenses during the year 2010
Lease contract termination Ig 9.€ — (3.9) 5.8
$ 9.€ $ — $ 3.9 $ 5.8
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2009 Restructuring Plan:

Balance a
Balance at
December 27 Charge to Cost: Payments mad January 2,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2008 and Expenses during the year 2010
Severance and termination bene $ — $ 1t $ (1.9 $ —
$ = $ 1S $ A9 $ =

As of January 1, 2011, no amounts were owed um@e?®09 Restructuring Plan.

In 2009, $3.0 million (December 27, 2008—$5.8 noillj of the lease contract termination loss liapiias recorded as other long-term
liabilities and $2.8 million of lease contract ténation loss liability (December 27, 2008—$3.8 ioifl) was classified as accounts payable
and accrued liabilities. We also incurred $0.3 immillof additional termination benefits in 2008 tethto our Wyomissing property, which w
closed in 2007.

In 2008, we recorded pre-tax restructuring chatgesding $6.4 million in connection with severaramsts relating to headcount
reductions associated with the Refocus Plan.

Year ended January 1, 2011
The following table summarizes our restructuringrgfes (gains) on an operating segment basis foretfieended January 1, 2011.

(in millions of U.S. dollars) North America Total
Restructuring (gain $ (0.5 $(0.5)

$ (09 $(0.9)

Restructuring—In 2010, we recorded pre-tax restnireg gains totaling $0.5 million primarily in coection with a gain on a lease
contract termination.

Asset impairments-In 2010, we did not record any asset impairmeat@bs related to customer relationships. In 20@9tegorded an
asset impairment charge of $3.6 million relatednarrily to customer relationships. In accordanc&wsC 360, it was determined that our
customer relationship intangible asset no longdrfbture cash flows due to the loss of a specifis@emer. As a result, the customer
relationship was determined to have a nil carryiafye.

Year ended January 2, 2010

The following table summarizes restructuring arseagmpairment charges on an operating segmert fiasie year ended January 2,
2010.

(in millions of U.S. dollars) North America Total
Restructuring $ 1.5 Sl
Asset impairment 3.6 _3.€

$ 51 $5.1

Restructuring—In 2009, we recorded pre-tax restructuring chatgtsing $1.5 million in connection with severarasts relating to
headcount reductions associated with the 2009 &xdsting Plan.

Asset impairments-In 2009, we recorded an asset impairment char@a.6f million related primarily to customer relatghips. In
accordance with ASC 360, it was determined thatcostomer relationship intangible asset no longekfature cash flows due to the loss
specific customer. As a result, the customer i@tatiip was determined to have a nil carrying value.
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Year ended December 27, 2008

The following table summarizes our restructuringedwill and asset impairments on an operating segiesis for the year ended
December 27, 2008.

(in millions of U.S. dollars) North America U.K. Total
Restructuring $ 6.7 $— $
Gooduwill impairments — 69.2 69.2
Asset impairment 37.C — 37.C
$ 43.7 $69.2 $112.¢

Restructuring—On June 19, 2008, we announced the Refocus PI&008, we recorded pre-tax restructuring chargiding $6.4
million in connection with severance costs relatingneadcount reductions associated with the RefBtan.

Asset impairments-In 2008, we recorded an asset impairment chatgterkto the Rights of $35.4 million and recordefle6 million
asset impairment charge for our Elizabethtown itgciWe also recovered $1.0 million of previougtygaired held-for-sale assets (hot filled
production assets) in 2008.

Goodwill impairments—We recorded a goodwill impairment loss of $69.8ia1 associated with our United Kingdom reportingjt as
disclosed in Note 1.

Note 4—Other Expense (Income), Net

For the Years Ended

January 1, January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010 2008
Foreign exchange lo: $ 2€ $ 11 $ 1.C
Insurance reimburseme — — (4.5
Write-off of financing fees 1.4 3.3 —
Other (gain) — — (1.2
Total $ 4cC $ 44 $ 4.7

Note 5—Interest Expense, Net

For the Years Ended

January 1, January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010 2008
Interest on lon-term debt $ 31.¢ $ 23.¢ $ 22.¢
Other interest expen: 5.4 6.2 10.C
Interest incom: (0.7) (0.7) (0.9
Total $ 36.¢ $ 29.7 $ 32.2

Note 6—Income Taxes
Income (loss) before income taxes consisted ofdt@wing:

For the Years Ended

January 1, January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010 2008
Canadz $ 16.2 $ 0.8 $ 1.¢
Outside Canad 62.2 62.F (142.9)
Income (loss) before income taxe $ 784 $ 63. $ (140.6
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Income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the faolg:

For the Years Ended

January 1
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011
Current
Canad: $ 0t
Outside Canad 1.8
$2.3
Deferred
Canad: $ 4.C
Outside Canad 12.:
$16.3
Income tax expense (benefil $ 18.€

January 2, December 27
2010 2008

$ (20.2) $ 0.4

(8.9) (8.9)
$ (29.0 $ (8.9
$ 3.3 $ —

2.9 (11.7)
$ 62 $ (19
$ (22.9) $ (19.9)

The following table reconciles income taxes calmdaat the basic Canadian corporate rates witintteene tax provision:

For the Years Ended

January 1,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011
Income tax expense (benefit) basec
Canadian statutory rat: $ 227
Foreign tax rate differentii 4.2
Tax Exempt Incom: (5.6)
Increase (decrease) in valuation allowa 1.0
Decrease to ASC 740 resel (2.2
Non-controlling interest: (1.8
Non-deductible goodwill impairmer —
Other items 0.3
Income tax expense (benel $ 18.€

January 2, December 27
2010 2008
$ 19.¢ $ (449
2.7 (4.5)
(2.9) (3.9
(22.7) 24.%
(17.5) (12.7)
(1.4) (0.5)
— 21.7
(1.0 0.4
$ (22.9) $ (19.9

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities weregaized on temporary differences between the filsand tax bases of existing ass

and liabilities as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Deferred tax assets

Loss carryforward

Leases

Property, plant and equipme
Liabilities and reserve
Intangibles

Stock Option:

Other

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipme
Intangible asset

Other

Valuation allowanct
Net deferred tax liability
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For the Years Ended

January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
$ 21t $ 10.1
6.8 8.€
4.8 7.4
12.2 9.k
.2 9.t

24 7.1
2.1 —
57.1 52.2
(54.6) (37.9)
(5.0) (5.5
(8.9 (1.1
(67.5) 43.9)
12.7 (17.6)

$ (23.9) $ (9.3
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The decrease in the valuation allowance from Jgn252010 and January 1, 2011 was primarily thalted deferred tax assets relating
to equity compensation that were written off agaihe valuation allowance because these awardsrasttpired or were terminated prior to
the release of the valuation allowances associsitbdthese assets.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities have b&ssified as follows on the consolidated balan@e=sh

For the Years Ended

January 1, January 2,

(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010
Deferred tax assets

Current $ 18.2 $ 3.2

Long-term 2.5 5.4
Deferred tax liabilities:

Current $ (0.5 $ (0.9

Long-term (43.6) (17.5
Net deferred tax liability $ (239 $ (9.9

As a result of certain realization requirementA8{C Topic 718, “Compensation—Stock CompensatioASC 718"), the table of
deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above doéinclude certain deferred tax assets at Jady&011 and January 2, 2010 that arose
directly from tax deductions related to equity camgation in excess of compensation recognizedrfanéial reporting. Equity will be
increased by $0.8 million if and when such defeteedassets are ultimately realized.

As of January 1, 2011, we have claimed the indefirdversal exceptions of ASC 740.

As of January 1, 2011, we reflected operating t@ssyforwards totaling $166.8 million and creditrgdorwards totaling $1.4 million.
The operating loss carryforward amount was attablet to Mexico operating loss carryforwards of 8Ifillion that will expire from 2018 to
2020 and U.S. federal and state operating losgfoawards of $26.6 million and $124.4 million, respively. The U.S. federal operating loss
carryforwards will expire from 2027 to 2030, ane #tate operating loss carryforwards will expiir2011 to 2030. The credit carryforwi
amount was attributable to a U.S. federal alteveatiinimum tax credit carryforward of $0.6 millievith an indefinite life and U.S. state
credit carryforwards of $0.8 million that will expifrom 2014 to 2017.

We establish a valuation allowance to reduce dedetaix assets if, based on the weight of the aMeilavidence, both positive and
negative, for each respective tax jurisdictioris inore likely than not that some portion or altleé deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Due to cumulative losses generated in recent yramartain U.S. states and Mexico, we have detexchthat it is more likely than not that the
benefit from net operating loss carryforwards atitepnet deferred tax assets in these jurisdictialisiot be realized in the future. In
recognition of this risk, we have provided a vala@llowance of $12.7 million on the net defertax assets relating to our net deferred tax
assets in these jurisdictions. If our assumptidreige and we determine we will be able to realiese¢ deferred tax assets, an income tax
benefit of $12.6 million will be realized as a rkaf the reversal of the valuation allowance atukay 1, 2011.

In 2006, the FASB issued guidance regarding promsbf uncertain tax positions in ASC 740hich provides specific guidance on the
financial statement recognition, measurement, teégpand disclosure of uncertain tax positions ta@eexpected to be taken in a tax return.
ASC 740 addresses the determination of whethebearfits, either permanent or temporary, shoulteberded in the financial statements.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoainbur unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

For the Years Ended

January 1, January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010 2008
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of y $ 147 $ 38.7 $ 62.¢
Additions based on tax positions taken during argéeriod 04 2.2 0.8
Reductions based on tax positions taken duringca period (2.6) (29.€ (9.5
Settlement on tax positions taken during a priaigge (0.9 (0.9 (7.4
Additions based on tax positions taken during tireent perioc 1.1 1.7 0.7
Foreign exchang 0.5 2.4 (8.9
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of year $ 13.: $ 14 $ 38.7

As of January 1, 2011, we had $13.3 million of eognized tax benefits, a net decrease of $1.4aniffiom $14.7 million as of
January 2, 2010. If the Company recognized itptssitions, approximately $2.3 million would favolabmpact the effective tax rate. We
believe it is reasonably possible that its unrecaghtax benefits will decrease or be recognizetiénnext twelve months by up to $0.8
million due to the settlement of certain tax pasis.

We recognize interest and penalties related tocogrzed tax benefits in the provision for incorares. We recovered $0.2 million,
$2.1 million and $5.5 million of interest and petied during the year ended January 1, 2011, Jary&910 and December 27, 2008,
respectively. The amount of interest and penatdesgnized as an asset in the Consolidated Baineets for 2010 and 2009 was $2.7
million and $3.6 million, respectively.

We are currently under audit in the U.S. by thedmal Revenue Service for tax year 2008. Years pri@006 are closed to audit by the
Internal Revenue Service. Years prior to 2005 kreed to audit by U.S. state jurisdictions. Weas® currently under audit in Canada by
Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”") for tax years 2006ufh 2008. Years prior to 1997 are closed to dudihe CRA. In the U.K., years
prior to 2005 are closed to audit.

Note 7—Share-based Compensation

Each of our share-based compensation plans hasabpeoved by our shareowners, except for our 1986r@on Share Option Plan, as
amended (the “Option Plan”), which was adoptedrpgaaur initial public offering, and a stock opti@award granted to our Chief Executive
Officer, which was an inducement grant made t@ettand retain that executive. Subsequent amendrtetite Option Plan that required
shareowner approval have been so approved.
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The table below summarizes the share-based contpansapense for the years ended January 1, 2@hliady 2, 2010, and
December 27, 2008. This share-based compensatienss was recorded in selling, general, and adiratiiee expenses in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations. As used below, “PSUshnpeaformance share units granted under our AmeadddRestated Performance Share
Unit Plan. As used below, “Performance-based RShsdn restricted share units with performance-bassting granted under our 2010
Equity Incentive Plan. As used below, “Time-bas&1R” mean restricted share units with time-basetinvg granted under our 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan.

For the Years Ended

January 1, January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010 2008
Stock options $ 1C $ 0.1 $ 0.8
PSUs 0.2 0.8 2.2
Performanc-based RSU 14 — —
Time-based RSU 1.3 — —
Director share unit 0.7 — —
Share appreciation righ 0.1 0.4 0.t
Restricted Stoc — 0.1 —
Interim CEO awar — (0.2 0.8
Former CEO awar — — 1.¢
EISPP awar — — 0.1
Total $ 47 $ 1.2 $ 6.3

As of January 1, 2011, the unrecognized share-bam®gensation expense and years we expect to rieeogmfuture compensation
expense were as follows:

Unrecognizec

share-based Weighted
compensatior average year
expense as ¢ expected to
January 1, recognize
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 compensatior
Performanc-based RSU 8.€ 2.C
Time-based RSU 6.C 2.C
Total $ 14.¢

Option Plan

There were no common shares issued pursuant wnogtercises during the year ended January 1, Zidtions representing 250,000
shares were granted to our Chief Executive Offiteing the first quarter of 2010 at an exercisegof C$8.01 per share. The fair value of
this option grant was estimated to be C$5.16 utiagBlack-Scholes option pricing model. On Augus2@®10, the Company entered into a
Common Share Option Cancellation and ForfeituresAgrent to cancel this option award. The cancetlatias effective as of September 22,
2010. The Company entered into this arrangemetittivét Chief Executive Officer in order to transitibim to the Company’s 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan, which was approved by shareholderslay 4, 2010. Future grants to this and othecetiee officers are expected to be
governed by the terms of such plan.

Options representing 250,000 shares were issuédgdine year ended January 2, 2010 at an exerdise @f C$1.10 and vested ratably
over four quarters. The fair value of this optioarg was estimated at C$0.475 using the Black-&shaptions pricing model. Options
representing 125,000 shares were issued duringetreended December 27, 2008 at exercise pricgigfrom C$2.60 to C$3.50 per share.
The fair value of each 2008 option grant was edtnh#o be between C$1.50 and C$1.65 using the Bfatioles option pricing model. These
grants were fully vested at the time of the gramt therefore the entire amount was recorded agdissed compensation during the second
and third quarters of 2008.
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The fair value of each option granted during thargeended January 1, 2011, January 2, 2010, arehidber 27, 2008 was estimated on
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes optiacigg model with the following assumptions:

January 1, January 2, December 27
2011 2010 2008
Risk-free interest rat 2.5% 2.2% 3.2%
Average expected life (yeat 5.5 5.k 5.C
Expected volatility 74.8% 50.(% 76.2%
Option activity was as follows:
Weighted Weighted
average remaining
average Aggregate
Shares (in exercise contratual term (C$) (in
thousands price (years) thousands
Balance at December 29, 2007 2,36¢ $ 30.0¢ 2.7 $ —
Granted 12t 3.32
Forfeited or expirel (1,600 16.7¢
Balance at December 27, 20C 89z $ 27.52 3.C $ —
Granted 25C 1.1C
Exercisec (25) 2.6C
Forfeited or expirel (286) 31.6¢
Balance at January 2, 201! 831 $ 18.9i 4.€ $ 618.]
Granted 25C 8.01
Forfeited or expires 377) 20.3¢
Balance at January 1, 2011 704 $ 16.61 4.2 $ 625.
Vested and expected to vest at January 1, 20 704 $ 31.3¢ 4.2 $ 625.(
Exercisable at January 1, 201: 704 $ 31.3¢ 4.2 $ 625.

The aggregate intrinsic value amounts in the tableve represent the difference between the clgsiog of our common stock on
January 1, 2011, which was C$8.95 (January 2, 202$8-66; December 27, 2008—C$1.27), and the exepcise, multiplied by the
number of in-the-money stock options as of the sdate. The total intrinsic value of stock optiomereised during the year ended January 1,
2011 was nil (January 2, 2010—$0.1 million; Decentb& 2008—nil).

Total compensation cost related to unvested awardsr the option plan not yet recognized is nile Tdtal fair value of shares that
vested during the year ended January 1, 2011 was ni

Subsequent to the adoption of the Comparad10 Equity Incentive Plan on May 4, 2010, thaf8aletermined that the Option Plan
no longer needed and terminated the Option Placommection with the termination of the Option Rlaatstanding options will continue in
accordance with the terms of the Option Plan plaris vested, paid out, forfeited or terminatedaaglicable. No further awards will be
granted under the Option Plan. Future awards great&d to be governed by the terms of the Comp&®19 Equity Incentive Plan.

Outstanding options at January 1, 2011 were agvist

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Remaining Weighted Weighted

Number Contractual Number
Exercisable Exercise Exercisable Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices (C$) (in thousands Life (Years) Price (C$ (in thousands Price (C$
$1.10- $3.50 35C 7.1 $ 1.7¢ 35C $ 1.7¢
$18.48- $29.95 22C 1.9 $ 26.7( 22C $ 26.7(C
$30.25- $43.64 134 0.4 $ 39.0¢ 134 $ 39.0¢
704 4.2 $ 16.67 704 $ 16.67
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Long-Term Incentive Plans
2010 Equity Incentive Plan

Our shareowners approved our 2010 Equity Incerlae (the “2010 Equity Incentive Plan”) at the Aahand Special Meeting of
Shareowners held on May 4, 2010. Awards under @@ Equity Incentive Plan may be in the form ofentive stock options, non-qualified
stock options, restricted shares, restricted stmaits, performance shares, performance units, sippkeciation rights, and stock payments to
employees, directors and outside consultants. Th@ Equity Incentive Plan is administered by thertdn Resources and Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors (“HRCC”) or anther board committee as may be designated byadhed from time to time. At the
inception of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, 4,000, shares were reserved for future issuance, dubjedjustment upon a share split, share
dividend, recapitalization, and other similar tracttons and events.

On May 4, 2010, we granted 78,790 common shardetaon-management members of our Board of Direetoder the 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan. The common shares were issuednsideration of such directors’ annual board retafee.

In 2010, we granted 1,726,807 Performance-basedsR8U 1,396,807 Time-based RSUs to certain empdayfethe Company. The
Performance-based RSUs vest based on the achievefreespecified target level of pre-tax incometfog period beginning on January 1,
2010 and ending on the last day of our 2012 figeal. The amount of Performance-based RSUs thatvestyand the related unrecognized
compensation cost is subject to change based dewbkof targeted pre-tax income that is achieshedng the period beginning on January 1,
2010 and ending on the last day of our 2012 figeal. During the fourth quarter, the HRCC maodifiled original pre-tax income targets to
reflect the Cliffstar Acquisition. The Time-base&Bs vest on the last day of our 2012 fiscal year.

Amended and Restated PSU F

Under the Amended and Restated Performance Shar€Mdn (the “PSU Plan”SUs were awarded to Company employees. The
of an employee’s award under our PSU Plan depeod€i) our performance over a maximum three-yeafopmance cycle; and (i) the
market price of our common shares at the time sfing. Performance targets were established biABREC. PSUs granted vested over a
not exceeding three fiscal years. As of JanuaB01], the Trustee under the PSU Plan held 0.6amitlbmmon shares as treasury shares
remaining outstanding awards under the PSU Plated@s February 2011 upon the achievement of agljugperating income exceeding zero
for 2008, 2009 and 2010.

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity ItieerPlan on May 4, 2010, the HRCC determined teatain of Cott’s long-term
incentive plans were no longer needed and termdrthe PSU Plan effective February 23, 2011.

Amended and Restated SAR F

Under the Amended and Restated Share AppreciafgimdiPlan (the “SAR Plan”), share appreciatiomtsg“SARs”) were awarded to
employees and directors of our Company. SARs tilgigasted on the third anniversary of the grarted®n vesting, each SAR represented
the right to be paid the difference, if any, betwé®e price of our common shares on the date aftgnad their price on the vesting date of the
SAR. Payments in respect of vested in-the-moneySA&&e made in the form of our common shares psethan the open market by an
independent trust with cash contributed by us. mythe year ended January 1, 2011, 154,000 SARsd/est-of-the-money. On August 10,
2010, the Company entered into a Stock Apprecidiight Cancellation Agreement with an executiveceif to cancel 100,000 previously
granted SARs. The cancellation was effective &Sagitember 2, 2010.
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Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity ltreerPlan on May 4, 2010, the HRCC determined tleatain of Cott's long-term
incentive plans were no longer needed and termirthe SAR Plan effective February 23, 2011.

During the year ended January 1, 2011, PSU, Pedfocerbased RSU, Time-based RSU and SAR activityasdsllows:

Number of
Number of
Number of Performance- Time- Number
based

(in thousands) PSUs based RSUs RSUs of SARs
Balance at January 2, 20 625 — — 254
Awarded — 1,72 1,391 —
Issuec (437) — — —
Forfeited — — — (259
Outstanding at January 1, 20 18¢ 1,72 1,39 —

Other Share-Based Compensation

In 2006, Brent Willis, our former Chief Executivef@er, received a net cash award of $0.9 milliothe& commencement of his
employment to purchase shares of the Company. itehased shares were required to be held for anmimi of three years. Mr. Willis’s
employment terminated in March 2008, and as pahiofermination agreement, we ceased to enfoeceettuirement that he hold the shares.
In 2008, $0.4 million (December 29, 2007—%$0.3 railli was recorded as compensation expense. Inauaiditi 2006, 204,000 common
shares with a fair value of $3.2 million, which veser three years, were granted to Mr. Willis. E608, compensation costs of $1.4 million
were expensed as compensation expense becausatbs gested upon his termination. On May 16, 260&,third of his grant vested and
a result, he received 68,000 common shares, whachrecognized as an issuance of share capitalarA®fhis termination agreement, the
remaining 136,000 shares vested upon his termimatial $0.3 million of cash (which was reclassifisda liability award) was paid based on
the fair value of such shares.

In connection with his appointment, we granted &wid Gibbons, our former Interim Chief Executivefi@dr, 720,000 restricted stock
units on March 24, 2008, of which 360,000 unitstedsmmediately. Of the remaining 360,000 restdatock units, 300,000 vested ratably
on a monthly basis over a five-month period begigr®ctober 24, 2008 through February 27, 2009.@ilsbons resigned as Interim Chief
Executive Officer and his employment arrangemeatsecto an end on February 27, 2009, at which tifp@06prorated restricted stock units
vested and the remaining 54,000 restricted stodk wrere forfeited. This award is recognized as jgensation expense over the vesting
period. For 2008, $0.8 million of this award wasaeled as compensation expense to reflect the wélie 540,000 vested restricted stock
units and the anticipated vesting of the 120,008aiaing shares as of December 27, 2008. The faievand compensation costs vary based
on share price and this has been accounted foliasilidy award.

Restated Executive Incentive Share Purchase Plan

In the second quarter of 2007, our shareownersoapgra restated executive incentive share purghlasgthe “Restated EISPP”),
which allowed officers and senior management exeesitas designated by the HRCC, to elect to reakigir performance bonus (or a
portion thereof) as common share units held o thedialf by an independent trust. If the employleeted to receive common share units, we
provided to the employee an equal number of shardgish vested on January 1, 2011 due to the actmemeof certain performance goals
(“Match Portion”).

The Match Portion of the performance bonus wasnedéid based on the employee’s election and wastizewpover the service period
of approximately four years. During 2007, employelested to defer a total of $1.1 million under Restated EISPP. In 2009, the Company
recorded an expense of $0.1 million related to the
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anticipated 2007 matching portion of the perforneabonus. No amount was accrued for the Match Roftin2008 deferrals because
corporate performance goals were not achieved armbnus amounts were deferred into the plan. B¥feets of December 27, 2008, the
HRCC approved an amendment to the Restated EISfARhei effect of freezing participation in the pldme remaining outstanding Match
Portion vested in February 2011 upon the achievéofesumulative EBIT growth of 10% per annum ovee three-year performance cycle
ending at the end of fiscal 2010.

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity ItieerPlan on May 4, 2010, the HRCC determined teatain of Cott’s long-term
incentive plans were no longer needed and terndrthiee Restated EISPP effective February 23, 2011.

Average Canadian—U.S. Dollar Exchange Rates for 2012009 and 2008

Various compensation components in Note 7 areaied in Canadian dollars. The table below repregbetaverage Canadian dolla
U.S. dollar exchange rate for the fiscal years drizfi0, 2009 and 2008 for comparative purposes:

January 1, January 2,
December 27,
2011 2010 2008
Average exchange ra $ 0.971 $ 0.87¢ $ 0.94¢

Note 8—Net Income (loss) per Common Share

Basic net income per common share is computed\bgliadg net income by the weighted average numbe&oaimon shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted net income per commoarslis calculated using the weighted average nuofimmon shares outstanding
adjusted to include the effect, if dilutive, of teeercise of in-the-money stock options, PSUs,dPerénce-based RSUs and Time-based
RSUs.

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominatdrthe basic and diluted net income per commomnesbamputations is as follows:

For the Years Ended

January 1, January 2, December 27
(in thousands) 2011 2010 2008
Weighted average number of shares outsta—basic 85,58¢ 74,207 71,017
Dilutive effect of stock option 191 267 —
Dilutive effect of PSU: 161 741 —
Dilutive effect of Performan«-based RSU 96 — —
Dilutive effect of Timebased RSU 14¢ — —
Adjusted weighted average number of shares outstg- diluted 86,18t 75,21t 71,017

At January 1, 2011, options to purchase 704,000u@ly 2, 2010—830,650; December 27, 20@34,740) shares of common stock
weighted average exercise price of C$16.67 (Jari@2910—C$18.97; December 27, 2008—C$27.52) mmeshere outstanding, of which
354,000 (January 2, 2010—439,441; December 27,-2@%4.,740)were not included in the computation aftdd net income per share
because the options’ exercise price was greatarttieaaverage market price of our common stock.

Note 9—Segment Reporting

We produce, package and distribute private-lab&<; 8lear, still and sparkling flavored waters, rgyerelated drinks, juice, juice-
based products, bottled water and ready-to-driak te regional and national grocery, mass-merckaraiid wholesale chains and customers
in the dollar convenience and drug channels thrdivghreportable segments — North America (which
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includes our U.S. reporting unit and Canada repgntinit), U.K. (which includes our United Kingdomporting unit and our Continental
European reporting unit), Mexico, Royal Crown Intional (“RCI”) and All Other (which includes ointernational corporate expenses and
our Asia reporting unit, which ceased operatiorthatend of fiscal 2008).

Operating Segments

For the Year Ended January 1, 2011

North United All
(in millions of U.S. dollars) America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total

External revenué —
$1,357.0 $367.1 $50.1 $28.& ¢ $1,803.!

Depreciation and amortization —
59.1 12.¢ 2.1 — 74.C

Restructuring —
(0.5) — — — (0.5)

Operating income (loss) —
75.C 245 (7.5) 7.C 99.(

Property, plant and equipment —
400.4 90.2 13.2 — 503.¢

Goodwill —
125.7 — — 4.t 130.Z

Intangibles and other assets —
354.% 15.7 0.7 — 371.1
Total asset? 1,275.¢ 207.¢ 31.t 13.7 0.7 1,529.;

Additions to property, plant and equipment —
31.¢ 10.€ 1.5 — 44 C

Intersegment revenue between North America andttier segments is not material and has not beerraey disclosed in the table
above.

Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentatesb receivable

Operating Segments

For the Year Ended January 2, 2010

North United All
(in millions of U.S. dollars) America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
External revenué —
$1,173.¢ $359.2 $42.7 $20.&8 % $1,596."
Depreciation and amortization —
51.C 13.4 1.8 — 66.2
Restructuring and asset impairme
Restructuring —
1t — — — 1t
Asset impairments —
3.6 — — — 3.€
Operating income (loss) —
77.€ 23.C (7.7 3.¢ 97.4
Property, plant and equipment —
236.5 93.C 13.F — 343.(
Goodwill —
26.1 — — 4.t 30.€
Intangibles and other assets —
137.( 17.7 0.8 — 155.k
Total asset? 632.1 197.( 33.4 10.€ 0.7 873.¢
Additions to property, plant and equipment —
22.7 8.€ 1.C — 32.2

Intersegment revenue between North America andtther segments is not material and has not bearatepy disclosed in the table
above.

Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentates receivable
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Operating Segments

For the Year Ended December 27, 2008

North United All
(in millions of U.S. dollars) America Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
External revenu? $1,178.( $385.% $61.¢ $22.C $0.C $1,648.
Depreciation and amortizatic 62.2 16.2 2.3 — — 80.7
Restructuring, goodwill and asset impairme
Restructuring 6.7 — — — — 6.7
Goodwill impairments — 69.2 — — — 69.2
Asset impairment 37.C — — — — 37.C
Operating (loss) incom (56.9) (53.5) (8.9 8.1 (2.5) (113.0
Property, plant and equipme 244.1 88.7 14.C — — 346.¢
Goodwill 22t — — 4.5 — 27.C
Intangibles and other ass 150.2 18.: 0.€ — 0.2 169.€
Total asset?2 642.: 189.: 29.¢ 11.€ — 873.1
441 8.t 3.2 — — 55.¢

Additions to property, plant and equipmi

Intersegment revenue between North America andtther segments is not material and has not bearatepy disclosed in the table
above.

Excludes intersegment receivables, investmentateb receivable. Also, we reclassified certain @am®in the North America
operating segment to conform to the current pesigdésentation, which includes a reclassificatib®4o5 million from accrued
liabilities to allowance for doubtful accoun

For the year ended January 1, 2011, sales to Weal-ddaounted for 31.0% (2009—33.5%; 2008—35.8%gwoftotal revenues, 35.3%
of our North America operating segment revenue8%2039.4%, 2008—42.1%), 16.6% of our U.K. operagegment revenues (2009—
17.7%, 2008—21.1%) and 38.9% of our Mexico opegasiagment revenues (2009—18.4%, 2008—22.2%).

Credit risk arises from the potential default afisstomer in meeting its financial obligations with Concentrations of credit exposure
may arise with a group of customers that have aingitonomic characteristics or that are locatdétlérsame geographic region. The ability of
such customers to meet obligations would be silyikfected by changing economic, political or athenditions. We are not currently aw
of any facts that would create a material cregk.ri

Revenues are attributed to countries based orotagidn of the plant. Revenues by geographic aasfollows:

For the Years Ended

January January December
1 2 27

(in millions of U.S. dollars) 20i1 ZOiO 20d8
United State: $1,212.: $1,034.: $1,006.¢
Canade 201.1 198.1 229.z
United Kingdom 368.< 360.¢ 385.<
Mexico 50.1 427 61.¢
RCI 28.¢ 20.¢ 22.C
All Other — — 0.€
Elimination? (57.7) (60.2) (58.0

$1,803.: $1,596.° $1,648..

Represents intercompany revenue among our repartiitg, of which $19.0 million, $14.0 million and .4 million represents

intersegment revenue between North America anati@r operating segments for January 1, 2011, Ja2u2010, and December 27,

2008, respectively
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The revenue by product tables for 2009 and 2008 baen revised to include the category “Juice” Widca significant portion of our
revenue due to the Cliffstar Acquisition.
Revenues by product are as follows:

For the Year Ended January 1, 2011

North United
(in millions of U.S. dollars) America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
Revenu
Carbonated soft drink $ 705t $147.] $43.4 $— $ 896.(
Juice 225.¢ 10.¢ 0.8 — 237.(
Concentrate 7.5 2.3 — 28.¢ 38.€
All other products 419.( 206.¢ 5.6 — 631.7
Total $1,357.: $367.1 $50.1 $28.¢€ $1,803.:
For the Year Ended January 2, 2010
North United
(in millions of U.S. dollars) America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
Revenu
Carbonated soft drink $ 760.( $161.¢ $36.4 $— $ 958.c
Concentrat 6.5 4.€ — 19.7 30.€
Juice — 10.1 04 — 10.t
All other products 407 . 182.7 5.¢ 1.1 597.1
Total $1,173.¢ $359.¢ $42.7 $20.¢ $1,596.°
For the Year Ended December 27, 2008
North United
(in millions of U.S. dollars) America Kingdom Mexico RCI All Other Total
Revenu
Carbonated soft drink $ 748.% $163.2 $59.2 $— $ 0.8 $ 972.1
Concentratt 5.2 7.2 — 22.C — 34.7
Juice — 11.7 — — — 11.7
All other products 423.¢ 203.1 2.7 — — 629.€
Total $1,178.( $385.: $61.¢ $22.C $ 0.8 $1,648..
Property, plant and equipment by geographic areasifollows:
January January
1, 2,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010
United State: $350.4 $188.7i
Canade 50.C 47.¢
United Kingdom 90.Z 93.C
Mexico 13.2 13.F
$503.¢ $343.(
Note 10—Accounts Receivable, Net
January January
1, 2,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010
Trade receivable $209.( $149.2
Allowance for doubtful accoun (8.3 (5.€
Other 12.¢ 9.C
Total $213.€ $152.%
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Note 11—Inventories

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Raw materialt
Finished good
Other

Total

Note 12—Property, Plant and Equipment, net

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Land and Land Improvemer
Buildings
Machinery and equipme
Owned
Capital lease
Plates, films & mold:
Vending
Transportation equipme
Leasehold improvemen
Furniture and fixture

Total

Depreciation expense for the year ended Janu&@g1tl, was $52.6 million ($48.5 million—January 2120$53.5 million—

December 27, 2008).

Note 13—Intangibles and Other Assets, net

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Intangibles

Not subject to amortizatic
Rights

Subject to amortizatio
Customer relationshiy
Trademarks

Information technolog
Other

Other Assets
Financing cost
Deposits
Other

Total Intangibles & Other
Assets

January 1, 2011

January

January 2, 2010

January

Accumulated

Accumulated

Cost Depreciation Net Cost Depreciation Net
$ 30.2 $ 0.2 $ 30.C $ 21.2 $ = $ 212
157.¢ 51.7 105.¢ 119.7 44.¢ 74.¢
625.7 296.: 326.2 472.5 263.¢ 208.¢
4.0 14 5.8 3.8 0.8 3.C
36.2 28.2 8.C 32.¢ 26.1 6.7
15.¢ 13.1 2.t 18.C 14.7 3.3
0.7 0.t 0.2 0.€ 0.t 0.1
39.2 15.C 24.2 34.¢ 11t 23.4
9.3 8.3 1.C 8.¢ 7.4 1.5
$918.F $ 4145  $503.f  $712<4 $ 369  $343.(

January 1, 2011 January 2, 2010
Accumulated Accumulated

Cost Amortization Net Cost Amortization Net
$ 45.C $ — $ 45.C $ 45.C $ — $ 45.C
369.< 94.¢ 274.% 154.1 79.5 74.¢
28.¢€ 21.1 7.8 24.7 15.2 9.5
60.: 52.t 7.8 54.1 48.% 5.8
10.3 3.1 7.2 3.€ 2.C 1.€
468.¢ 171.5 297.% 236.t 144.¢ 91.7
513.¢ 171.5 342.% 281.t 144.¢ 136.7
23.2 3.€ 19.€ 11.4 2.1 9.3
7.6 — 7.€ 7.8 — 7.8
4.3 2.7 1.€ .3 5.€ 1.7
35.1 2 28.€ 26.5 7.7 18.¢€
$548.¢ $ 177.¢ $371.1 $308.( $ 152t $155.5
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Amortization expense of intangibles was $26.5 onillduring 2010 ($20.2 million—January 2, 2010; $2illion—December 27,
2008). Amortization of intangibles includes $2.2limin ($4.5 million—January 2, 2010; $10.4 milliorBecember 27, 2008) relating to
information technology assets and $2.7 million §@illion—January 2, 2010; $1.1 million—December 2808) relating to deferred
financing assets. During the year ended Decemhe2@B, we recorded an asset impairment relatétet®ights of $35.4 million, primarily
due to the decline of our North America case volyrartially offset by anticipated increased oversgagentrate volume in our RCI
operating segment. See Note 1 for more information.

The estimated amortization expense for intangibles the next five years is:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

2011 13.€
2012 12.¢
2013 12.€
2014 12.4
2015 10.4
Thereaftel 234.¢

$297.:

Note 14—Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

January January
1 2

(in millions of U.S. dollars) 20i1 ZOiO
Trade payable $146.1 $ 84.F
Accrued compensatic 19.1 21.2
Accrued sales incentive 24.¢ 21.¢
Accrued interes 14.1 2.€
Restructurin—Note 3 1.2 2.8
Payroll, sales and other tax 12.¢ 15.1
Other accrued liabilitie 58.t 21.2
Total $276.€ $169.:
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Note 15—Debt
Our total debt is as follows:

January January
1, 2,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010
8% senior subordinated notes due in 2 $ — $ 11.1
8.375% senior notes due in 2Ct 215.( 215.(
8.125% senior notes due in 2C 375.( —
ABL facility 7.6 20.2
GE Obligation 16.5 22.C
Other capital lease 5.8 3.2
Other deb 2.C 2.€
Total debt 622.2 274.1
Less: Sho-term borrowings and current de
ABL facility 7.6 20.2
Total shor-term borrowings 7.5 20.2
8% senior subordinated notes due in 2 — 11.1
GE Obligatio—current maturitie: 41 B3
Other capital leas—current maturitie: 14 0.4
Other dek—current maturitie: 0.5 0.€
Total current debt 13.¢ 37.¢
Long-term debt before discou 608.: 236.3
Less discount on 8.375% no! (2.9 (3.9
Total long-term deb $605.5 $233.2

! Our 8.375% senior notes were issued at a discdunéd25% on November 13, 20C

The long-term debt payments (which include curreaturities of long-term debt) required in eachi@f hext five years and thereafter
are as follows:

Long Term Debt

(in millions of U.S. dollars) (incl. current)

2011 6.3
2012 3.5
2013 1.9
2014 2.2
2015 2.3
Thereafte 592.1

$ 608.:1

We funded the purchase of new water bottling eqeipnthrough an interim financing agreement sigmedbinuary 2008 (the “GE
Obligation”). At the end of the GE Obligation, weynexchange $6.0 million of deposits for the extisgment of $6.0 million in debt
or elect to purchase such equipmi

Asset Based Lending Facili

On March 31, 2008, we entered into a credit agreémvgh JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. as Agent thattecean ABL facility to provid
financing for our North America, United Kingdom aktixico operating segments. In connection withGfiéfstar Acquisition, we refinance
the ABL facility on August 17, 2010 to, among otligings, provide for the Cliffstar Acquisition, tiNote Offering and the application of net
proceeds therefrom, the Equity Offering and thdiagfion of net proceeds therefrom and to increheeamount
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available for borrowings to $275.0 million. We drelawn a portion of the indebtedness under that A&lility in order to fund the Cliffstar
Acquisition. We incurred $5.4 million of financiriges in connection with the refinancing of the ABiility. The financing fees are being
amortized using the straight-line method over a-f@ar period.

As of January 1, 2011, we had $7.9 million in bairggs under the ABL facility outstanding. The cortmiént fee was 0.5% per annum
of the unused commitment, which was $227.6 milksrof January 1, 2011.

The effective interest rate as of January 1, 201LIBOR and Prime loans is based on average aggregailability as follows:

Canadian Prime Eurodollar CDOR LIBOR
Average Aggregate Availability ABR
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Spreac Spread Spread Spreac Spread
Over $15C 1.5(% 1.5(% 2.5(% 2.5(% 2.5(%
$75- 150 1.7%% 1.7%% 2.7%% 2.7%% 2.7%%
Under $7& 2.0(% 2.0(% 3.0(% 3.0(% 3.0%

8.125% Senior Notes due in 2018

On August 17, 2010, we issued $375.0 million ofi@enotes that are due on September 1, 2018 (10&8Notes”). The issuer of the
2018 Notes is Cott Beverages Inc., but we and wfostir U.S., Canadian and United Kingdom subsidmguarantee the 2018 Notes. The
interest on the 2018 Notes is payable semi-annoallylarch Ist and Septembertl of each year, begironngarch 1, 2011.

We incurred $8.6 million of financing fees in costien with the 2018 Notes. The financing fees am@ amortized using the straight-
line method over an eight-year period, which repnés the duration of the 2018 Notes. The amortiragixpense calculated under the straight-
line method does not differ materially from theeetive-interest method.

8.375% Senior Notes due in 2017

On November 13, 2009, we issued $215.0 millionenfiar notes that are due on November 15, 2017207 Notes”).The 2017 Note
were issued at a $3.1 million discount. The issfi¢he 2017 Notes is Cott Beverages Inc., but wkraost of our U.S., Canadian and United
Kingdom subsidiaries guarantee the 2017 Notes.iftkeest on the 2017 Notes is payable semi-annoallylay 15" and November 6 of
each year.

We incurred $5.1 million of financing fees in contien with the 2017 Notes. The financing fees amd amortized using the straight-
line method over an eight-year period, which repn¢s the duration of the 2017 Notes. The amortimatixpense calculated under the straight-
line method does not differ materially from theeetive-interest method.

8% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2011

We repurchased the remaining outstanding 2011 Note&l1.1 million on February 1, 2010, and recarddoss on buyback of $0.1
million. The 2011 Notes acquired by us have beérece and we have discontinued the payment oféste

In 2009, the Company repurchased $257.8 millioprincipal amount of the 2011 Notes, and recordids on buy back of $3.3
million.
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GE Financing Agreement

We funded $32.5 million of water bottling equipmeuirchases through a finance lease arrangemef0B. The quarterly payments
under the lease obligation total approximately $8ilion per annum for the first two years, $5.3lian per annum for the subsequent two
years, then $1.7 million per annum for the finalrfgears

Covenant Compliance
8.125% Senior Notes due in 2018

Under the indenture governing the 2018 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to certain extteqps and qualifications, to (i) pay dividends oaka distributions, repurchase equity
securities, prepay subordinated debt or make centgestments, (i) incur additional debt or isseetain disqualified stock or preferred sto
(iii) create or incur liens on assets securing Iotddness, (iv) merge or consolidate with anothemgamy or sell all or substantially all assets
taken as a whole, (v) enter into transactions waitiiates and (vi) sell assets. We believe we hagen in compliance with all of the covene
under the 2018 Notes and there have been no ametgltoeany such covenants since the 2018 Notesissred.

8.375% Senior Notes due in 2017

Under the indenture governing the 2017 Notes, wesabject to a number of covenants, including camenthat limit our and certain of
our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to certain extteqps and qualifications, to (i) pay dividends oaka distributions, repurchase equity
securities, prepay subordinated debt or make centgestments, (i) incur additional debt or isseetain disqualified stock or preferred sto
(iii) create or incur liens on assets, (iv) mergeansolidate with another company (applies toGbenpany and the Issuer only) or sell all or
substantially all assets taken as a whole, (v)rénte transactions with affiliates and (vi) sedlsats. We believe we have been in compliance
with all of the covenants under the 2017 Notesthrde have been no amendments to any such covesiacdésthe 2017 Notes were issued.

ABL Facility

We and our restricted subsidiaries are subjectionaber of business and financial covenants, inietud covenant requiring a minimt
fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.1 toeff€ctive when and if excess availability is lesart the greater of (a) $30.0 million and (b) the
lesser of (i) 12.5% of the amount of the aggrebateowing base and (ii) $37.5 million. Our fixedarhe coverage ratio as calculated under
this covenant as of January 1, 2011 was greatertHato 1.0. If availability is less than $37.9lman, the lenders will take dominion over the
cash and will apply excess cash to reduce amowvitgyainder the facility. The credit agreement goireg the ABL facility requires us to
maintain aggregate availability of at least $15iliom. We were in compliance with all of the apmble covenants under the ABL facility on
January 1, 2011.

Note 16—Benefit Plans

We maintain two defined benefit plans resultingrirprior acquisitions that cover certain employeesna plant in the U.S. under a
collective bargaining agreement (“U.S. Plan”) arda&in employees in the United Kingdom (“U.K. PlarRetirement benefits for employees
covered by the U.S. Plan are based on years dtearultiplied by a monthly benefit factor. The ntloly benefit for employees under the
U.K. Plan is based on years of service multipligcabmonthly benefit factor. Pension costs are fdndeaccordance with the provisions of the
applicable law. Both plans are closed to new pgditts. We use a December 31 measurement datetfoobour plans.
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Obligations and Funded Status
The following table summarizes the change in theelieobligation, change in plan assets and unfdrefatus of the two plans:

For the Years Ended

January 1, January 2,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010
Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 32: $ 24.¢
Service cos 0.4 &
Interest cos 1.8 1.7
Plan participant contributior 0.1 0.1
Benefit payment (0.6) (0.7)
Actuarial losse: 1.6 4.2
Translation (losses) gail (1.7) 1.¢
Benefit obligation at end of ye $ 34t $ 32:
Change in Plan Asset:
Plan assets beginning of ye $ 231 $ 16.7
Employer contribution: 1.7 11
Plan participant contributior 0.1 0.1
Benefit payment (0.6) (0.7)
Actual return on plan asse 2.9 4.€
Translation (losses) gail (0.9 3
Fair value at end of ye: $ 26.4 $ 231
Funded Status of Plar
Projected benefit obligatic $ (34EF $ (32:
Fair value of plan asse 26.4 23.1
Unfunded statu $ (8.) $ (9.9

The accumulated benefit obligation for both defibedefit pension plans equalled the projected litenlgtfigations of $8.1 million and
$9.2 million at the end of 2010 and 2009, respettiv

Periodic Pension Cos
The components of net periodic pension cost afellasvs:

For the Years Ended

January 1, January 2, December 27
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2010 2008
Service cos $ 04 $ 0.3 $ 0.2
Interest cos 1.8 1.7 1.€
Expected return on plan ass 1.7 1.2 (1.6)
Amortization of prior service cos 0.1 0.1 —
Amortization of net los 0.5 0.€ 0.2
Net periodic pension co $ 11 $ 1E $ 0.€
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (L

Amounts included in accumulated other compreherisis@me, net of tax, at year-end which have nobgen recognized in net

periodic benefit cost are as follows:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Unamortized prior service bene
Unrecognized net actuarial gain (lo

Unamortized prior service benefit or actual |

Assumption:

For the Years Ended

January 1,
2011
(0.E
5.8

©
NE)

“
o
€0

Weighted average assumptions used to determindibelniggations at year-end:

Discount rate

Weighted average assumptions used to determingenietic benefit cost at year-end:

U.K. Plan
Discount rate
Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass

U.S. Plar
Discount rate
Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass
Inflation factor

The discount rate for the U.S. Plan is based omadetportfolio of AA rated bonds with a maturity tolaed to the estimated payouts of
future pension benefits for this type of plan. igcount rate of the U.K. Plan is based on a mpdgfolio of AA rated bonds, using the
redemption yields on the constituent stocks ofMieerill Lynch index with a maturity matched to testimated future pension benefits. The
weighted average return for both plans for the pealed January 1, 2011 was 12.3%. The expecteth natder the U.S. Plan and the U.K.
Plan on plan assets are based on our expectatitie tdng-term average rate of return on assetseipension funds, which is based on the

allocation of assets.

Asset Mix

January 1,

2011

6.2%

January 1,

2011

5.4%
6.5%

5.7%
7.C%
3.7%

Our pension plan weighted-average asset allocatiprasset category are as follows:

U.K. Plan
Equity securitie:
Debt securitie!
U.S. Plar
Equity securitie:
Debt securitie!
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January 2,

January 2,

2010
6.3%

January 2,
2010

5.8%
7.2%

6.2%
7.C%
3.7%

January 1,

2011

65.%
34.1%

65.2%
34. 1%

December 27

2008
$ (0.9

(6.2)
$ (6.6

December 27

2008

6.C%

December 27
2008

6.4%
6.9%

6.4%
7.C%
3.1%

January 2,

2010

65.5%
34.5%

50.(%
50.(%
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Plan Asset:

Our investment policy is that plan assets will benaged utilizing an investment philosophy and apgihacharacterized by all of the
following, but listed in priority order: (1) emplia®n total return, (2) emphasis on highality securities, (3) sufficient income and sli&pof
income, (4) safety of principal with limited volkty of capital through proper diversification a(s) sufficient liquidity. (The target allocation
percentages for the U.K. Plan assets are 70% iityespcurities and 30% in debt securities. Thedhadjocation percentages for the U.S. Plan
assets are 50% in equity securities and 50% insk=hitrities. None of our equity or debt securiéiesincluded in plan assets.)

Cash Flows
We expect to contribute $1.1 million to the pengiams during the 2011 fiscal year.
The following benefit payments are expected to &id:p

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Expected benefit payments

FY 2011 $0.¢
FY 2012 1.C
FY 2013 1.C
FY 2014 1.1
FY 2015 1.4
FY 2016 through FY 201 9.4

Cott primarily maintains defined contribution retinent plans covering qualifying employees. The #taense with respect to these
plans was $3.9 million for the year ended Januag011 ($4.1 million—January 2, 2010; $5.0 millioBecember 27, 2008).

The fair values of the Company’s pension plan assefanuary 1, 2011 were as follows:

January 1, 2011

(in millions of U.S. dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivale! $ 01 $ 0.1 $—
Equities:

International mutual fund 15.¢ — —
Index mutual fund: 2.5 — —
U.S. mutual fund: 14 — —
Fixed income:

Mutual funds 6.4 — —
Total $26.2 $ 0.1 —

The fair values of the Company’s pension plan assefanuary 2, 2010 were as follows:

January 2, 2010

(in millions of U.S. dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalel $— $— $—
Equities:

International mutual fund 13.2 — —
Index mutual fund: 2.3 — —
U.S. mutual fund: 14 — —

Fixed income:
Mutual funds

Total $23.1 $— $—

(<2
Ny
|
|
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Note 17—Commitments and Contingencies

We lease buildings, machinery and equipment, coerphardware and furniture and fixtures. All contuat increases and rent free
periods included in the lease contract are takendncount when calculating the minimum lease payjrand recognized on a straight line
basis over the lease term. Certain leases haveva¢periods and contingent rentals, which are nciuided in the table below. The minimum
annual payments under operating leases are awollo

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

2011 $18.4
2012 15.¢
2013 11.¢€
2014 10.¢€
2015 8.6
Thereaftel 22.F

$87.€

Operating lease expenses were:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Year ended January 1, 20 $20.3
Year ended January 2, 20 19.¢
Year ended December 27, 2C 21.¢

$62.C

Operating lease expenses are shown net of subteasee of $0.3 million for 2010. As of January 012, we had commitments for
capital expenditures of approximately $7.0 milleomd commitments for inventory of approximately $23@illion.

In 2007, we entered into a $39.7 million purchaskgation for new equipment to support our bottreater business. Of the $39.7
million, payments of $16.5 million were made a®eicember 29, 2007. In the first quarter of 2008 a¥ge entered into a capital lease with
GE to fund $31.4 million of this purchase obligati@he lease provides for quarterly rental paymewés a term of 96 months beginning
June 1, 2008. The quarterly rental payments a@i®2lion from June 1, 2008 through May 30, 2016cléhing to $1.2 million on June 1,
2010 through May 31, 2012, and declining to $0.4ioni on June 1, 2012 through the balance of thede At the end of the lease term, we
have the option to purchase the equipment atets thir market value or return the equipment to GE.

In January 2005, we were named as one of many di@fiémnin a class action suit alleging the unautiedruse by the defendants of
container deposits and the imposition of recycfiegs on consumers. On June 2, 2006, the Britishrtlml Supreme Court granted the
summary trial application, which resulted in therdissal of the plaintiffs’ action against us ane dther defendants. On June 26, 2006, the
plaintiffs appealed the dismissal of the actiothi® British Columbia Court of Appeals which was iéeln and an appeal to the Supreme Court
of Canada was rejected on December 20, 2007. Irukgb2005, similar class action claims were file@ number of other Canadian
provinces. Claims filed in Quebec have since béstodtinued, but is unclear how the dismissal efBhnitish Columbia case will impact the
other cases.

We are subject to various claims and legal procemsaith respect to matters such as governmergalatons, and other actions aris
out of the normal course of business. Managemdigves that the resolution of these matters witlimave a material adverse effect on our
financial positions, results of operations, or chsiv.
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We had $12.6 million in standby letters of creditstanding as of January 1, 2011 ($9.9 million—aap2, 2010; $10.8 million—
December 27, 2008).

We have future purchase obligations of $242.7 amilthat consist of commitments for the purchasewntory, energy transactions,
and payments related to information technology mutsing agreements. These obligations represemhihienum contractual obligations
expected under the normal course of business.

Note 18—Shares Held in Trust treated as Treasury Sres

In May 2008, an independent trustee acting undeaiceof our benefit plans purchased 2.3 millioroaf common shares to be used to
satisfy future liabilities under the PSU Plan anel Restated EISPP. During the year ended Janu2B11, we distributed 0.4 million shares
from the trust to satisfy certain PSU obligationatthad vested. As of January 1, 2011, 0.6 mibind 0.5 million shares were held in trust.
Treasury shares are reported at cost.

Note 19—Hedging Transactions and Derivative Finanal Instruments

The Company is directly and indirectly affecteddimanges in foreign currency market conditions. €hdsnges in market conditions
may adversely impact the Company'’s financial penfance and are referred to as market risks. The @oypvhen deemed appropriate by
management, uses derivatives as a risk manageawb tmitigate the potential impact of foreign @ncy market risks. The Company’s
foreign currency market risks are managed by thagamy through the use of derivative instruments.

The Company purchases forward contract derivatisgiments. Forward contracts are agreements tobsgll a quantity of a curren
at a predetermined future date, and at a predetechrate or price. We do not enter into derivatinancial instruments for trading purposes.

All derivatives are carried at fair value in therSolidated Balance Sheets in the line item accquapable and accrued liabilities. The
carrying values of the derivatives reflect the ictpaf legally enforceable agreements with the saoumterparties. These allow the Company
to net settle positive and negative positions tasmed liabilities) arising from different transiacts with the same counterparty.

The accounting for gains and losses that resutt thanges in the fair values of derivative instroteelepends on whether the
derivatives have been designated and qualify agihgdnstruments and the type of hedging relatiggsirhe changes in fair values of
derivatives that have been designated and quaifiaah flow hedges are recorded in accumulated octimeprehensive income (loss)

(“AOCI") and are reclassified into the line itemtime consolidated income statement in which theyaddtems are recorded in the same
period the hedged items affect earnings. Due tdiidgie degree of effectiveness between the hedgistguments and the underlying exposures
being hedged, fluctuations in the value of the@give instruments are generally offset by changéke fair values or cash flows of the
underlying exposures being hedged.

The Company formally designates and documentscaption, the financial instrument as a hedge sgexific underlying exposure, the
risk management objective and the strategy for takieg the hedge transaction. In addition, the @any formally assesses both at the
inception and at least quarterly thereafter, whwtihe financial instruments used in hedging tratisas are effective at offsetting changes in
either the fair values or cash flows of the relaiaderlying exposures. Any ineffective portion dfrencial instrument’s change in fair value
is immediately recognized into earnings.

The Company estimates the fair values of its déxiga based on quoted market prices or pricing risagiing current market rates
(refer to Note 21). The notional amounts of thewddive financial instruments do not necessarilyresent amounts exchanged by the parties
and, therefore, are not a direct measure of oungxe to the financial risks described above. Theunts exchanged are calculated by
reference to the notional amounts and by otherderithe derivatives, such as interest rates,dareurrency exchange rates or other
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financial indices. The Company does not view thievialues of its derivatives in isolation, but rathin relation to the fair values or cash flows
of the underlying hedged transactions. All of oaridatives are straightforward over-the-countetrimaents with liquid markets.

Credit Risk Associated with Derivatives

We have established strict counterparty creditgjiids and enter into transactions only with finahinstitutions of investment grade
better. We mitigate pre-settlement risk by beingmptted to net settle for transactions with the saraunterparty.

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy

The Company uses cash flow hedges to minimize a@hiahility in cash flows of assets or liabilitiesforecasted transactions caused by
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates Thanges in the fair values of derivatives deseghas cash flow hedges are recorded in
AOCI and are reclassified into the line item in twmsolidated income statement in which the hedtgeds are recorded in the same perioc
hedged items affect earnings. The changes in #ireg of hedges that are determined to be ineffeatie immediately reclassified from
AOCI into earnings. The Company did not discontiang cash flow hedging relationships during theryraled January 1, 2011. The
maximum length of time over which the Company hedtgexposure to future cash flows is typicallg gear. The Company maintains a
foreign currency cash flow hedging program to rediie risk that our procurement activities willdmbrersely affected by changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. We enter into forwardraots to hedge certain portions of forecasted flasls denominated in foreign currencies.
When the U.S. dollar strengthens significantly agaforeign currencies, the decline in the presahte of future foreign currency cash flows
is partially offset by gains in the fair value bttderivative instruments. Conversely, when the ddBar weakens compared to other
currencies, the increase in the present valuetofduforeign currency cash flows is partially offbg losses in the fair value of the derivative
instruments. The total notional value of derivasitkeat have been designated and qualify for theg@aoiyis foreign currency cash flow
hedging program as of January 1, 2011 was appraeiyn®19.7 million.

The Company’s derivative instruments were $0.6iamlas of January 1, 2011.

The settlement of our derivative instruments reslih a charge to cost of sales of less than $@libmfor the year ended January 1,
2011.

Note 20—Equity Offering

On August 17, 2010, we completed an underwrittdilipwffering of 13,340,000 common shares at agat$5.67 per share (the
“Equity Offering”). The net proceeds of the Equid¥fering of $71.1 million, after deducting expensasderwriting discounts and
commissions, were used to finance, in part, thBstdr Acquisition.

On August 11, 2009, we completed a public offenf§,435,000 common shares at a price of $5.3GIpare (the “2009 Stock
Offering”). Net proceeds of the 2009 Stock Offeringre $47.5 million, after deducting expenses, andéng discounts and commissions.

Note 21—Fair Value Measurements

ASC No. 820 defines fair value as the exchangesfhiat would be received for an asset or paidatasfer a liability (an exit price) in
the principal or most advantageous market for §setor liability in an orderly transaction betwaearket participants at the measurement
date. Additionally, the inputs used to measureviaiue are prioritized based on a three-level hidgna This hierarchy requires entities to
maximize the use of observable inputs and minirtlirzeuse of unobservable inputs.
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The three levels of inputs used to measure fairevate as follows:
» Level }—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

» Level 2—Observable inputs other than quoted piiicelsided in Level 1, such as quoted prices for lsinassets and liabilities in
active markets; quoted prices for identical or Emassets and liabilities in markets that areawtive; or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observablkendata

» Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supportedttdy br no market activity and that are significémthe fair value of the assets
or liabilities. This includes certain pricing modgtiiscounted cash flow methodologies and sim@lahitiques that use significant
unobservable input:

We have certain assets and liabilities that areired to be recorded at fair value on a recurriagi®in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
The only assets and liabilities that are adjusbefdit value on a recurring basis are derivatiatrimments. The fair value of derivatives
classified as Level 2 assets was $0.6 million oecarring basis as of January 1, 2011.

January 1, 2011

Fair Value
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Measurementt
Assets
Derivatives $— $ 0.6 $— $ 0.€
Total Assets $— $ 0.6 $— $ 0.€

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts reflected in the Consolid&athnce Sheets for cash, receivables, payables;tem borrowings and long-term
debt approximate their respective fair values, pkes otherwise indicated. The carrying valuesestoinated fair values of our significant
outstanding debt as of January 1, 2011 and Ja,&§10 are as follows:

January 1, 2011 January 2, 2010
Carrying Carrying

Fair Fair
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Value Value Value Value
8% senior subordinated notes due in 21 $ — $ — $ 11.1 $ 11.1
8.375% senior notes due in 2Ct 215.C 232.7 215.C 222.(
8.125% senior notes due in 2Ct 375.C 404.1 — —
ABL facility 7.9 7.8 20.2 20.2
Total $597.¢ $644.7 $246.: $253.¢

! The fair values are based on the trading levelshéhdffer prices observed by a market particip

Fair value of contingent consideration

We estimated the fair value of the acquisitionteglacontingent consideration using financial prigets of the acquired business and
estimated probability of achievement. The fair ealas based on significant inputs not observetdmtarket and thus represented a Level 3
instrument. Level 3 instruments are valued basednaibservable inputs that are supported by littlecomarket activity and reflect our own
assumptions in measuring fair value.
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The following table represents the change in thgingent consideration liability during the yeaded January 1, 2011:

(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Beginning balanc
Acquisition date fair valu
Adjustments to fair valu

Ending balanc

Note 22—Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

Year endec

January 1,

2011

$ —
52.t
(20.9

$ 32.

During the quarter ended January 1, 2011, we ifleditan error relating to pricing discounts of $&illion for one of our customers tt
occurred in our quarter ended October 2, 2010.ifpact of this error was an overstatement of netmae and operating results for the
guarter and nine months ended October 2, 2010.9&&saed the materiality of this error in accordavitte guidance within ASC 250-10-S99
(SEC'’s Staff Accounting Bulletin 99) and concludbdt the previously issued interim financial stagans for the quarter and nine months
ended October 2, 2010 are not materially misstatedccordance with guidance within ASC 250-10-§9BC'’s Staff Accounting Bulletin
108), we have corrected the immaterial error bysieg the prior interim period financial statemefasthe quarter ended October 2, 2010 as
shown in the quarterly financial information beloUhis revision will be presented prospectivelyutufe filings.

Year ended January 1, 2011 (52 weeks)

First Second Third Fourth
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amaus) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue $362.¢ $424. $486.¢ $528.¢ $1,803.!
Cost of sale: 305.7 351.2 419.¢ $460.3 1,537.(
Gross Profit 57.2 73.5 67.1 68.5 266.:
Selling, general and administrative exper 32.4 34.t 47.2 52.t 166.%
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and popgnt 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.7 1.1
Restructuring (0.5 — — — (0.5)
Operating incom: 25.1 39.1 19.5 15.& 99.C
Net income attributable to Cott Corporati $11F $ 22.: $ 5.8 $ 15.1 $ 547
Per share dati
Net income per common she
Basic $ 0.14 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.07 $ 0.1¢€ $ 0.6/
Diluted $ 0.14 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.07 $ 0.1¢€ $ 0.6F

During the third quarter, we completed the Cliffsé&quisition. We recorded $7.2 million of transactcosts related to the acquisition.

These costs were recorded in SGé

During the fourth quarter we recorded a reductmthe contingent consideration e-out accrual of $20.3 millior

F-44



Table of Contents

Year ended January 2, 2010 (53 weeks)

First Second Third Fourth
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amaus) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue $367.( $438.¢ $404.¢ $386.( $1,596."
Cost of sale: 308.¢ 365.5 341.1 $331.f 1,346.¢
Gross Profit 58.2 13aE 63.€ 54.t 249.¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 34.7 35.1 36.€ 40.1 146.¢
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipn (0.2 0.1 — 0.5 0.5
Restructuring, asset and goodwill impairme
Restructuring 1.2 0.4 — (0. 1.5
Asset impairment 0.1 3.4 — 0.1 3.6
Operating incom: 22.F 34.5 26.€ 13.¢ 97.4
Net income attributable to Cott Corporati $ 19.¢ $ 33.7 $ 13.¢ $ 14.C $ 81t
Per share dat
Net income per common she
Basic $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 1.AcC
Diluted $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.17 $ 1.0¢

e The fourth quarter of 2009 included an extra wedkich is estimated to have contributed $20.3 millad revenue and $1.3
million of operating income, and a $3.5 milliondosn the retirement of a portion of the 2011 Nc

» For the third quarter of 2009, we incurred $2.9ioml of executive severanc

Note 23—Guarantor Subsidiaries

The 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes issued by our whellyed subsidiary, Cott Beverages, Inc., are unt¢amdilly guaranteed on a senior
basis pursuant to guarantees by Cott Corporatidrcartain other wholly owned subsidiaries (the “amdor Subsidiaries”). Such guarantees
are full, unconditional and joint and several.

We have not presented separate financial staterandtseparate disclosures have not been providestoung subsidiary guarantors
because management has determined such informatiat material to the holders of the abawentioned notes. The following suppleme
financial information sets forth on an unconsolthbasis, our Balance Sheets, Statements of Omesatnd Cash Flows for Cott Corporat
Cott Beverages Inc., Guarantor Subsidiaries anathar subsidiaries (the “Non-guarantor SubsidgdyieThe supplemental financial
information reflects our investments and those att Beverages Inc. in their respective subsidiangng the equity method of accounting.
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Revenue, ne

Cost of sale:

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative
expense:

Loss (gain) on disposal of property,
plant & equipmen

Restructuring

Operating income

Contingent consideration earn-out
adjustmen

Other expense (income), r

Intercompany intere:

Interest expense, n

Income before income tax expense al
equity income

Income tax expens

Equity income (loss

Net income (loss

Less: Net income attributable to non-
controlling interest:

Net income (loss) attributed to Cott
Corporation

For the year ended January 1, 2011

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries
$ 201.( $ 905.¢ $ 600.

158.( 774.% 527.(
43.C 131. 73.4
31.C 79.1 42.€
— 1.C (0.2)
— (0.5 —
12.C 51.7 30.€
— — (20.9)

2.3 1.3 0.8
(6.€) 8.2 1.9
0.2 35.€ 0.€
16.: 6.€ 50.¢
4.t 12.C 1.7
42.€ 6.C 0.€
54.7 0.€ 50.C
54.7 $ 0.€ $ 50
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

Non-
guarantor
Subsidiaries

$ 137.¢
119.(

18.€
14.C

0.2

4.4

0.4
0.2

4.€
0.4

4.2
5.1

$ 0.5

Elimination

Entries Consolidatec

$ (419 $ 1,803.
(41.%) 1,537.(
— 266.:
— 166.7
— 1.1
— (0.E)
— 99.C
— (20.9)
— 4.C
(0.1) —
— 36.€
0.1 78.2
— 18.€
(49.9) —
(49.7) 59.¢
— 5.1

$  (49.9) $ 547
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
For the year ended January 2, 2010
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Revenue
Cost of sale:

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative exper

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant
equipmen:

Restructuring and asset impairmel

Restructuring
Asset impairment

Operating income (loss;

Other expense (income), r

Intercompany Interest expense (income),

Interest expense (income), |

Income before income tax (benefit) an
(loss) equity income

Income tax (benefit) expen

Equity income (loss

Net income (loss

Less: Net income attributable to non-
controlling interest:

Net income (loss) attributed to Cotl
Corporation

Elimination

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-guarantor
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 198.7 $ 958.¢ $ 360.¢ $ 126.¢ $ (48.0 $ 1,596.°
167.¢ 805.¢ 313.1 108.( (48.0) 1,346.¢
30.€ 152.¢ 47.% 18.€ — 249.¢
36.5 70.¢ 247 14.7 — 146.¢
0.2 0.4 (0.2) — — 0.5
0.2 & — — — 1kt
— 3.€ — — — 3.€
(6.2) 76.7 22.¢ 3.8 - 97.£
0.8 3.€ — — — 4.4
(8.1) 12.¢ (4.8) — — —
- 28.¢ 0.2 0.2 — 29.7
0.6 31.c 27.4 3.7 — 63.5
(16.€) (9.7) 3.k 0.2 — (22.6)
63.€ 5.7 46.€ — (116.7) —
81.t 46.% 70.5 3.5 (116.7) 86.1
— — — 4.€ — 4.€
$ 815 $ 467 $ 70E 3 (1.) $ (116.) $  81r
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Revenue
Cost of sale:

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative
expense:
Loss (gain) on disposal of property
plant and equipmel
Restructuring, goodwill and asset
impairments
Restructuring
Goodwill impairments
Asset impairment
Operating income (loss
Other expense (income), r
Intercompany Interest expense
(income), ne
Interest expense (income), 1
Income (loss) before income ta
(benefit) expense and equity
(loss) income
Income tax (benefit) expen
Equity income (loss
Net income (loss
Less: Net income attributable to non-
controlling interest:
Net income (loss) attributed to Cotl
Corporation

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 27, 2008
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott
Corporation

Cott
Beverages Inc

$ 2291 $ 942¢
191.7 858.:
374 84.E

46.C 83.

0. 1.2

1.1 5.7

— 37.C
(10.2) (42.9

— 0.2)
(12.4) 12.¢

0.2 317

1. (87.9)

0.4 (22.1)
(124.9) 1.8
(122.9) (63.4)

$ (1229 $ (639
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Guarantor Non-guarantor
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries
$ 391.: $ 138.2
343.¢ 126.¢
47.¢ 11.c
34.€ 15.7
(0.4) —
— (0.2)
69.2 —
(55.6) 4.3
(5.9 0.8
(0.5) —
— 0.3
(49.6) (5.4)
1.€ 0.6
(73.6) —
(125.0) (6.0)
— 1.7
$ (125.0 $ (7.7)

Elimination

Entries

Consolidatec

$

(53.2)
(53.2)

$ 1,648.:
1,467..

181.(

179.¢

1.

(¢6)

6.7
69.2
37.C

(113.0)
(4.7)

32.%

(140.6)
(19.5)

(121.))

1.7

$ (122.9
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ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash & cash equivalen
Accounts receivable, net of allowar
Income taxes recoverak
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as

Property, plant and equipme
Goodwill

Intangibles and other ass:
Deferred income taxe

Other tax receivabl

Due from affiliates
Investments in subsidiari

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Shor-term borrowings
Current maturities of lor-term debr
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit

Long-term debt

Deferred income taxe

Other lon¢-term liabilities

Losses and distributions in excess of investr
Due from affiliates

Equity
Capital stock, no pz
Common share
Treasury share
Additional paic-in-capital
Retained earnings (defic
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) ince
Total Cott Corporation equit
Non-controlling interest:

Total equity

Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of January 1, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Elimination

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-guarantor
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 7.8 $ 9.1 $ 26 $ 5.3 $ — $ 48.2
108.¢ 151.¢ 128.¢ 17.2 (192.5) 213.¢
— 1.3 1.9 0.3 — 0.2
18.1 66.1 124.¢ 6.7 — 215.t
3.€ 19.: 8.1 1.7 — 32.7
138.1 247 £ 286.( 31.2 (192.5) 510.:
50.C 180.4 259.t 13.€ — 503.¢
27.L 4.5 98.: — — 130.2
& 114.¢ 233.¢ 21.4 — 371.1
3.7 — — (1.2) — 2.5
2.5 7.€ 1.2 — — 11.:
241.¢ 166.¢ 220.¢ 41.€ (671.5 —
351.F — 161.( (512.5) —
$ 464.¢ $ 1,073 $ 1,099.! $ 268.% $(1,376.5) $ 1,529.
- 7.8 - - - 7.8
0.1 5.4 0.1 0.4 — 6.C
97.: 204.( 185.¢ 14.1 (192.5) 308.¢
97. 217.: 186.( 14.E (192.5) 322.7
— 601.¢ 14 2.5 0.3 605.t
— 31.¢ 10.7 1.1 — 43.€
- 5.4 16.¢ - (0.2) 22.:
(198.9) — (322.9) — 521.1 —
432 219.¢ 377.: 31.7 (671.7) —
(57.9) 1,076.( 269.F 49.¢ (343.5) 994.(
395.¢ 354.¢ 1,182.¢ 175.C (1,712.0) 395.¢
(3.2) — — — — (3.2)
40.7 0.4 - - (0.9 40.¢
106. (350.9) (352.0) (36.4) 738.¢ 106.5
(16.9) (7.9) (0.€) 66.C (59.6) (17.5)
522.¢ (2.9 830.( 205.¢ (1,033.0) 522.:
— — — 13.C — 13.C
522.¢ (2.9 830.( 218.F (1,033.0 535.:
$ 464.¢ $ 1,073. $ 1,099.! $ 268.3 $(1,376.H) $ 1,529.:
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ASSETS

Current assets
Cash & cash equivalen
Accounts receivabl
Income taxes receivab
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Deferred income taxe
Other current asse

Property, plant and equipme

Goodwill

Intangibles and other ass
Deferred income taxe
Other tax receivabl

Due from affiliates
Investments in subsidiari

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Shor-term borrowings
Current maturities of lor-term debr
Income taxes payab
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Deferred income taxe

Long-term debi

Deferred income taxe

Other tax liabilities

Other lon¢-term liabilities

Losses and distributions in excess of
investmeni

Due from affiliates

Equity
Capital stock

Common share
Treasury share
Additional paic-in-capital
Retained earnings (defic
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)

income

Total Cott Corporation's equi
Non-controlling interest:

Total equity

Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of January 2, 2010
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Elimination
Cott Cott Guarantor Non-guarantor

Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 4.2 $ 10.4 $ 12.2 $ 4.1 $ — $ 30.€
38.1 77.2 b5.¢ 17.t (36.4) 152.%
2.t 17.¢ — 0.5 — 20.¢
15.¢ 61.1 15.¢ 6.9 — 99.7
4.1 5.2 2.C 0.1 — 11.4
1.t 1.7 — — — 3.2
— — 2.2 — — 2.2
66.¢ 173.F 88.C 29.1 (36.4) 320.
47.¢ 185.3 96.1 13.¢ — 343.(
26.1 4.t — — — 30.€
1.C 111.¢ 17.7 25.C — 155t
5.€ — — 0.2 (0.4) 5.4
— 18.¢ — — — 18.¢

247.1 10.C 207.¢ 41.¢ (506.9) —

— 14.F — 152k (167.0 —
393.¢ 518.¢ 409.7 262.F (710.9) 873.¢
— 20.2 — — — 20.2
— 17.2 — 04 — 17.€
— — 2.1 — — 2.1
37.1 99. 52.4 14.2 (36.4) 166.¢
— — 04 — — 0.4
37.1 136.¢ 54.¢ 14.€ (36.4) 207.1
— 230.5 — 2.7 — 233.2
— 6.4 10.€ 0.2 — 17.t
— — — 0.9 (0.4) 0.5
0.1 6.t 7.€ — — 14.2

(72.5) — 118.¢ — (46.9) —

43.2 206.¢ 234.% 22.€ (506.9 —
7.C 586.¢ 426.7 41.C (590.0) 472.F
322t 279.2 378.C 175.( (832.2) 322.t
(4.4) — — — — (4.4)
37.4 — — — — 37.2
51.€ (346.7) (393.0) (27.6) 766.€ 51.¢
(21.9) (1.E) (2.0) 58.€ (55.9) (21.9)
386.( (68.5) (7.0 206.2 (120.7) 386.(
— — — 15.¢ — 15.¢
386.( (68.5) (17.0 221F (120.7) 401.:
$ 393.¢ $ 518.4 $ 409.% $ 262.% $ (710.%) $ 873.¢
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Operating activities
Net income

Depreciation & amortizatio

Amortization of financing fee

Share-based compensation
expense

Increase in deferred income
taxes

Write-off of financing fees

Loss on disposal of property,
plant & equipmen

Loss on buyback of Note

Contingent consideration earn-
out adjustmen

Contract termination los

Contract termination paymer

Equity (income) loss, net of
distributions

Intercompany transactiol

Other noi-cash item:

Change in operating assets and
liabilities, net of acquisitiol

Net cash (used in) provided b
operating activitie:

Investing activities

Acquisition

Additions to property, plant &
equipmen

Additions to intangible:

Proceeds from sale of property,
plant & equipmen

Advances to affiliate

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities

Financing activities

Payments of lor-term debt

Issuance of lor-term debr

Borrowings under ABL

Payments under AB

Advances from affiliate

Intercompany contributior

Distributions to non-controlling
interests

Issuance of common shares, |
of offering fees

Financing fee:

Net cash (used in) provided b
financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes
on cast

Net increase (decrease) i
cash & cash equivalents

Cash & cash equivalents
beginning of period

Cash & cash equivalents, en

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended January 1, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Non- Elimination
Cott Cott Guarantor guarantor

Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
$ 547 $ 0.€ $ 50.C $ 42 $ (49.9) $ 59
6.3 35.4 26.4 5.6 — 74.C
0.4 2.1 0.2 — — 2.7
0.7 3.9 0.1 — — 4.7
2.2 12.C 1.7 1.1 — 17.C
0.2 1.C 0.2 — — 14
— 1.C (0.2) 0.2 — 1.1
— 0.1 — — — 0.1
— — (20.9) — — (20.9)
— 3.€ — — — 3.€
— (5.4) — — — (5.4)

(42.9) (6.0) (0.9 — 49.¢ —

8. 7.7 — — (16.5) —
2.C 3.8 — (0.3 — 5.
(35.9 63.4 (17.9 7.€ 16.4 34.2
(2.9 123.] 39.4 18.7 — 178.
— (507.%) — — — (507.7)
(5.4) (26.5 (10.6) (1.5) — (44.0)
— (4.2 — — — (4.2)
— 0.3 0.3 0.€ — 1.2

21.C — (12.9 (8.9 0.1 —
15.€ (538.)) (22.€) (9.7) 0.1 (554.7)
0.1 (18.9) — (0.5) — (18.7)
— 375.C — — 375.(
— 307.1 59.4 — — 366.t
- (319.9 (59.7) - - (379.0)
8.8 12.2 (21.0 — (0.2) 0.C
(89.6) 71.1 18.7 - (0.0)
— — — (7.4) — (7.4)
71.1 — — — — 71.1
— (14.9) — — — (14.2)
(9.9) 413.7 (2.6) (7.9 (0.2) 393.:
0.€ — (0.4) 0.1 — 0.2
3.€ 1.3 13.¢ 1.2 — 17.%
4.2 10.4 12.2 4.1 — 30.¢




of period

7.8

9.1
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended January 2, 2010
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Non- Elimination
Cott Cott Guarantor guarantor
Corporation Beverages Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Entries Consolidatec
Operating activities
Net income (loss $ 8lEt $ 46.7 $ 70t $ 3.t $ (116.)) $ 86.1
Depreciation and amortizatic 8.1 37.¢ 14.¢ 5.€ — 66.2
Amortization of financing fee 0.2 1.1 0.2 — — 1.t
Shar-based compensatic 0.1 1.2 — — — &
Deferred income taxe 3.3 2.C 0.1 (0.7 — 6.2
Loss (gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipmel 0.2 0.4 (0.2) — — 0.t
Equity (loss) income , net of
distributions (62.9 (5.7 (46.7) 1.3 116.1 —
Intercompany transactiol 8.€ 6.S — — (15.5) —
Loss on buyback of 2011 Not 1.t — — — — 1.t
Asset impairment — 0.1 — — — 0.1
Intangible impairment — 3.t — — — 3.t
Lease contract termination payme — (3.9 — — — (3.9
Other noi-cash item: — 2.€ — — — 2.€
Net change in non-cash working
capital (102.0) 64.€ (0.5) 11.¢ 15.t (10.6)
Net cash (used in) provided by
operating activitie: (60.9) 158.¢ 38.1 19.5 — 155 .1

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and

equipmen 4.3 (18.9 (8.6) (1.0 — (32.9)
Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipmel — i1.g 0.2 — — 1.7
Advances to affiliate 12.€ — (11.2) (9.9 8.5 —
Additions to intangibles and other

assets — (1.6) — — — (1.6)
Net cash provided by (used in)

investing activities 8.3 (18.5) (19.6) (10.9 8.5 (32.2)
Financing activities
Payments of lor-term deb! — (265.2) — (0.3 — (265.5)
Issue of lon-term deb — 211.¢ — — — 211.¢
Long-term borrowing—ABL 87.C 595.( 86.1 — — 768.1
Long-term repaymen—ABL (90.7) (679.9) (87.7) — — (856.€)
Advances from affiliate 10.C 11.2 (12.9) — (8.5 —
Distributions to subsidiary minority

shareowne — — — (6.€) — (6.€)
Issuance of common shal 47.F — — — — 47.t
Deferred financing fee — (6.2 — — — (6.2
Other financing activitie — — — (0.7) — (0.7)
Net cash provided by (used in)

financing activities 54.4 (132.6) (13.9) (7.0 (8.5 (107.5)
Effect of exchange rate on ce 0.3 — 0.1 0.4 — 0.€
Net increase in cash & casl

equivalents 2.1 7.3 4.8 2.C — 16.2
Cash and cash equivalent:

beginning of period 2.1 3.1 7.4 2.1 — 14.7
Cash and cash equivalents, end 1

period $ 4.2 $ 10.4 $ 122 $ 4.1 $ — $ 30.¢
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 27, 2008
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Non-
Cott Beverages Guarantor guarantor
Corporation Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries
Operating activities
Net (loss) incomi $ (122.9) $ (63.9) $ (125.0 $ (6.0
Depreciation and amortizatic 13.€ 41.€ 19.5 6.0
Amortization of financing fee 0.2 0.7 0.2 —
Shar-based compensatic 2.1 3.4 0.1 —
Deferred income taxe (27.9) 30.7 (3.2 (13.0
Tax receivabl¢ — — — —
Increase (decrease) in other income tax liabil 21.: (42.7) (1.3 —
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and
equipmen 0.t 1.2 (0.4) —
Equity income (loss), net of distributio 124.: (1.8) 73.€ —
Intercompany transactiol 9.7 3.8 3.C —
Asset impairment — 1.€ — —
Intangible impairment — 35.4 — —
Goodwill impairments — — 69.2 —
Lease contract termination lo — 0.2 — —
Lease contract termination payme — 3.9 — —
Other nor-cash item i3 1.€ — —
Net change in nc-cash working capite (34.9 5.1 30.C 29.C
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi (12.9 13.7 65.7 16.C
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipm (2.5) (42.6) (8.5) (2.3
Acquisitions — — — —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipmen’ 23 1.6 0.1 —
Advances to affiliate 22.4 — (10.9 (6.0)
Investment in subsidiar — — — —
Additions to intangibles and other ass (0.3 (3.1) — —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 22.1 (43.€) (18.€) (8.3)
Financing activities
Payments of lor-term debt — (8.7) — (0.3
Issue of lon-term debt — 33.¢ — —
Payments on extinguishment of credit faci (20.4) (91.9) (13.9) 1.3
Shor-term borrowings — (8.1) — —
Long-term borrowing—ABL 40.€ 1,196.¢ 62.5 —
Long-term repaymen—ABL (38.0 (1,092.9) (62.5) —
Advances from affiliate 6.C 10.4 (22.9) —
Distributions to subsidiary minority shareowi — — — (3.9
Issuance of common shai — — — —
Purchase of treasury sha (6.4) — — —
Issuance of shc-term debt — — — —
Deferred financing fee (0.9 3.7) (0.§) —
Dividends paic — 3.0 9.7) (3.9)
Other financing activitie 0.9 (0.9) — —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (18.9 33.2 (46.€) (9.3
Effect of exchange rate on ce 2.9 — 3.0 0.2
Net (decrease ) increase in cash (119 3.1 (2.€ (1.8)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 13.2 — 10.2 3.9
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 2.1 $ 8.l $ 7.4 $ 2.1

Elimination

Entries

Consolidatec

$

196.1

$ (121.9)
80.7

(127.5)

1,300
(1,192.)

(39
(6.4
(5.9

(53]

(19.9

(5.5
(12.9)

27.4

$

$ 14.7
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Schedule [l—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Description
Reserves deducted in the balance sheet fr(

the asset to which they apply
Allowances for losses ol
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Deferred income tax liabilitie

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Description
Reserves deducted in the balance sheet frc

the asset to which they apply
Allowances for losses ol
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Deferred income tax liabilitie

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Description
Reserves deducted in the balance sheet

from the asset to which they apply
Allowances for losses ol
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Deferred income tax liabilitie
Other tax liabilities
Accrued sales incentive

Year ended January 1, 2011

Balance at Charged tc Charged tc
Beginning of Reduction
Costs and Other Balance at
Year in Sales Expenses Accounts Deductions End of Year
$ (5.9 $ — $ (0.6 $ (0. $ (049 $ (7.0
(6.7) — 1.3 0.2 1.1 (6.7)
(17.6) — 4.4 0.5 — (12.9)
$ (30.29) $ — $ 25 $ O0.€ $ 0.7 $ (26.)
Year ended January 2, 2010
Balance at Charged tc Charged tc
Beginning of Reduction
Costs and Other Balance at
Year in Sales Expenses Accounts Deductions End of Year
$ (5.5 $ — $ (0.9 $ 0€ $ (0.2 $ (5.9
(7.2) — 0.€ (0.2) (0.2) (6.7)
(42.7) — 22.7 2.4 — (17.6)
$ (559 $ — $ 22 $  2¢ $ (0.3 $ (302
Year ended December 27, 2008
Balance at Charged tc Charged tc
Beginning of Reduction
Costs and Other Balance at
Year in Sales Expenses Accounts Deductions End of Year
$ 49 $ — $ (24 $ 15 $ 03 $ (5.5
(14.6) — (8.9 1.3 14.7 (7.1
(20.9) — 34.€ (19.5) — (5.7)
(36.6) — (5.1) 23.2 — (18.9)
(22.9) (34.1) - 5. 31.C (21.0)
$ (100.0 $ (34.]) $ 18.€ $ 117 $  46.C $ (57.6
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Cott Corporation
Exhibit Index

Description
Agreement Relating to the Sale and Purchase diMihele of the Issued Share Capital of Macaw (Holdjrigmited, dated

August 10, 2005, between Andrew Cawthray and OthedsMartyn Rose and Cott Beverages Limited (inoated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Forr-K dated August 16, 200&

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 7, 2y18nd among Cott Corporation, Caroline LLC, a ishowned
subsidiary of Cott Corporation, Cliffstar Corpomatj each of the Cliffstar companies named thesgid, Stanley Star, solely
in his capacity as sell¢ representative (incorporated by reference to EkRildi to our Form -K/A filed July 9, 2010)

Articles of Amalgamation of Cott Corporation (inporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our FornKlfiled February 28,
2007).

Amended and Restated By-laws of Cott Corporatinadiiporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our FA0®) filed May 10
2007).

Indenture dated as of December 21, 2001 goverhim@10% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2011,dst\Cott
Beverages Inc. (as issuer) and HSBC Bank USA (stete) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8uoForm 10-K filed
March 8, 2002)

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of DecerabgP001, among Cott Beverages Inc., the Guarantored therein ar
Lehman Brothers Inc., BMO Nesbitt Burns Corp. atBCWorld Markets Corp. (incorporated by referetedxhibit 4.4 tc
our Form 1-K filed March 8, 2002)

Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 13 B00erning the 8.0% Senior Subordinated Notes2@déd, by and
among Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Corporation, thergutors identified therein and HSBC Bank USA, biadil Association,
as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhilditd.our Form -K filed on November 16, 2009

Indenture dated as of November 13, 2009, goverthia@®.375% Senior Notes due 2017, by and amongBeegrages Inc.,
Cott Corporation, the guarantors identified theaaid HSBC Bank USA, National Association, as tregtecorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Forr-K filed on November 16, 2009

Form of 8.375% Senior Note due 2017 (incorporatedeierence to Exhibit 4.2 to our Form 8-K filed November 16,
2009).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of NoveriBe2009, among Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Corpmrathe guarantors
identified therein and Barclays Capital Inc., M®rgan Securities Inc. and Deutsche Bank Secuiities(incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Forr-K filed on November 16, 2009

Indenture dated as of August 17, 2010, governiedg8tth25% Senior Notes due 2018, by and among @oteages Inc., Cc
Corporation, the guarantors identified therein BI®BC Bank USA, National Association, as trusteediporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Forr-K filed August 20, 2010)

Form of 8.125% Senior Note due 2018 (included asitiixA to Exhibit 4.7, which is incorporated byfeeence to Exhibit 4.
to our Form -K filed August 20, 2010)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Augids2010, among Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Corpanatite guarantors
identified therein and Deutsche Bank Securities, lag representative to the Initial Purchaser(jmarated by reference to
Exhibit 4.3 to our Form-K filed August 20, 2010)

EX-1
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Description
Supply Agreement, dated December 21, 1998, betWésrMart Stores, Inc. and Cott Beverages USA, (now “Cott
Beverages In”) (filed herewith).

Second Canadian Employee Share Purchase Planaff@ahuary 2, 2001 (incorporated by referencextutit 10.11 to our
Form 1(-K filed March 20, 2001)

Supply Agreement executed November 11, 2003, éffedanuary 1, 2002 between Crown Cork & Seal Complmc. and Co
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl# to our Form 1-Q/A filed August 5, 2004)

Share Plan for Non-Employee Directors effective &mber 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference to ExAibil5 to our Form 10-
K filed March 18, 2004)

Employment Offer Letter to Matthew A. Kane, Jr.athiMarch 12, 2004 (incorporated by reference taitkixh0.42 to our Forr
1C-K filed March 11, 2008)

Restated 1986 Common Share Option Plan of CottdZatijen/Corporation Cott as amended through Octgbe2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Barm 1(-K filed March 16, 2005)

Amendment to Supply Agreement between Crown Cofkel USA, Inc. (successor to Crown Cork & Seal CamypInc.) an
Cott Corporation, dated December 23, 2004 (incaigar by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to our Forr-K filed March 16, 2005

Cott Corporation Executive Incentive Share Purclitlaa (2008 Restatement) effective December 316 Zib@orporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Forn-8 filed on June 20, 200€

Employment Offer Letter to William Reis dated Jaryu29, 2007 (incorporated by reference to ExhibidB to our Form 10-K
filed March 11, 2008)

Employment Offer Letter to Michael Creamer datedilA}6, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhilit19 to our Form 10-
K filed March 11, 2009)

Amended and Restated Retention, Severance and Nmpaition Plan (incorporated by reference to EiHiB.6 to our Form
1C-Q filed August 9, 2007

Amended and Restated Performance Share Unit Pileorfiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to oumfra0-Q filed August
9, 2007).

Amended and Restated Share Appreciation Rights(ilaarporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Barm 109 filed Augus
9, 2007).

Employment Offer Letter to Gregory Leiter, execu@ctober 15, 2007 (incorporated by reference taitkixh0.41 to our Form
1C-K filed March 11, 2008)

Employment Offer Letter to Jerry Fowden dated Fakyr29, 2008 (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi29 to our Form 10-
K filed March 11, 2009)

Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2010 an@woty Corporation, Cott Beverages Inc., Cott Bevesagmited, Cliffstar
LLC and the other Loan Parties party thereto, teeders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.Agdbao Branch as UK
Security Trustee, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., asiAdimative Agent and Administrative Collateral AgeGeneral Electric
Capital Corporation, as Co-Collateral Agent andlBahAmerica, N.A., as Documentation Agent (incarged by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our Form X-Q filed November 10, 2010

Employment Agreement with David T. Gibbons datedil&8, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhitfit3 to our Form 10-
Q filed May 13, 2008)

EX-2
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10.232
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10.252
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10.272

10.282

10.29

10.30
10.31

10.32

10.332
10.34t

10.351

Description

Agreement between Cott Corporation and Crescendad?a ll, L.P., Series I, Crescendo InvestmentsLlC, Crescendo
Partners Ill, L.P., Crescendo Investments Ill, LIEEic Rosenfeld, Mark Benadiba, Mario Pilozzi, Cadteider, and Greg
Monahan, dated June 18, 2008 (incorporated byeaeferto Exhibit 99.1 to the amended Schedule 180 By Crescendo
Partners, L.P. on June 20, 20C

Employment Offer Letter to Neal Cravens dated Aad@s 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl1® our Form 10-Q
filed October 29, 2009

Severance Agreement with Juan Figuereo dated Sbptein2009 and effective October 31, 2009 (incateal by reference to
Exhibit 10.21 to our Form -K filed March 16, 2010)

Amendment No. 1 to Restated Executive Investmeate&SRurchase Plan, effective December 28, 2008rfiocated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form-Q filed May 5, 2009)

Employment Agreement between Cott Corporation a&nd/JFowden dated February 18, 2009 (incorporayectference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our Form-K dated February 24, 200¢

Cott Corporation Severance and Non-Competition Rlated February 18, 2009 (incorporated by referéadxhibit 10.2 to
our Form K dated February 24, 200¢

Amendment to Employment Agreement between Cott @atpon and David T. Gibbons dated February 18923@tcorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Fori-K dated February 24, 200¢

Employment Offer Letter to Marni Morgan Poe datadulry 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Hifhi1 to our Form
10-Q filed May 12, 2010)

Severance Agreement with Matthew A. Kane, Jr. dasgdiary 26, 2010 and effective February 15, 20t@Kporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form-Q filed May 12, 2010)

Common Share Option Cancellation and Forfeitureesgrent between Jerry Fowden and Cott CorporataierddAugust 9,
2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.duo Form K filed August 10, 2010)

Stock Appreciation Right Cancellation Agreemenistn Neal Cravens and Cott Corporation, dated Autiys2010
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to oarrf &K filed August 10, 2010)

2010 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by refeesto Appendix B of our Definitive Proxy StatementSchedule 14A filed
on April 1, 2010).

Amendment to 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our For-K filed on May 4, 2010)

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement Wittme-Based Vesting under Cott Corporat®2010 Equity Incentive Pl
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to oarrfr 1(-Q filed November 10, 2010

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement idtrformance-Based Vesting under Cott Corporatig@X) Equity
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to ExHibi5 to our Form 1-Q filed November 10, 2010

Employment Offer Letter to Michael Gibbons datedrthe6, 2009 (filed herewith

Supply Agreement executed December 21, 2010, eféeedanuary 1, 2011 between Crown Cork & Seal U84, and Cott
Corporation (filed herewith’

Termination of Supply Agreement and Release dateaf ®ecember 31, 2010 between Crown Cork & Sea,Uisc. and Cott
Corporation (filed herewith’

EX-3
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21.1 List of Subsidiaries of Cott Corporation (filed baiith).

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Certified Pukdimounting Firm (filed herewith’

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2fab2he year ended
January 1, 2011 (filed herewitt

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2fad2he year ended
January 1, 2011 (filed herewitt

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2fab2he year ended
January 1, 2011 (furnished herewit

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuao section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2fad2he year ended

January 1, 2011 (furnishéherewith).

Document is subject to request for confidentiztimeent.
Indicates a management contract or compensatony

EX-4



Exhibit 10.1

*** |ndicates a portion of the exhibit has been omited based on a request for an extension of confidgal treatment previously
granted submitted to the Securities and Exchange @omission. The omitted portions have been filed sepately with the
Commission.

Cott Beverages USA, Inc
1011 N.W. J Street

Suite D

Bentonville, AR 7271
(501) 464-3050

Fax: (501) 46-3080

December 21, 1998

Mr. Robert Anderson

Vice President, Proprietary Products
Wal*Mart Stores, Inc.

702 SW 8h Street

Bentonville, Arkansas

72716-0139

Dear Bob:
Subject:  Supply Contract
This is our agreement (the “Agreement”) concerrtrggsupply of Products by Cott to Wal*Mart.

1. Term - The term of this Agreement shall be perpetual @il terminated by mutual agreement of the partiestberwise in accordance w
the provisions of this Agreement (“Term”).

2. Scope-

(a) Cott will, throughout the Term, be the suppbéProducts to Wal*Mart, but Wal*Mart shall, subfdgo the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, have the right to source Products frimrcsuppliers (provided that Wal*Mart shall nobguce any of the Products for itself).
Subject to what is otherwise agreed by the pafttten time to time regarding forecasting and purehasler lead times, Cott will supply
Products as and when ordered by Wal*Mart. Somé®Soft Drinks are produced from Wal*Mart Contrdll€oncentrates, and the balance
of the Soft Drinks are produced from concentratggphed by Cott. However, if Wal*Mart issues a témation notice pursuant to clause 6(d)
below its new supplier shall (to the extent thatiiMart is entitled to transfer portions of its raggments for production of Products during
the Notice Period, as hereinafter defined) notrtéled to utilize Cott supplied concentrates.

(b) Except to the extent that any stores when aedwy Wal*Mart are contractually obligated to phase Soft Drinks from other suppliers, if
Wal*Mart wishes to introduce a new Soft Drink flanar to change a Soft Drink flavor being producgddwntt, Wal*Mart may do so and ha
such Soft Drink produce



by another manufacturer for the Program, so long/akMart shall have first given Cott 30 days freeceipt of written notice from
Wal*Mart to formulate a flavor, together with sergj pricing and product quality, acceptable to WHit, acting reasonably and in good fi
(it being acknowledged and agreed by Wal*Mart #evice, pricing and product quality which is cetasnt with that of the other equivalent
Products then being supplied by Cott under thissagrent shall be deemed to be acceptable to WalfM&@ott is able to do so, Cott shall
provide such Soft Drinks to Wal*Mart in accordaneih this Agreement. If Cott is unable to do so,I¥Waart shall be free to engage a third
party to provide such Soft Drinks for the Program.

(c) Cott may supply Soft Drinks or other productsdmpetitors of Wal*Mart, including under othetaiéer brands[***] Cott will not supply
any colas or clear sparkling flavored waters with same specifications and flavors as the Prodoiesy other customers in the USA (“Cett’
Exclusivity Obligation”). All intellectual propertyights in all concentrates and formulations usgbtt in the production of the Products are
and shall remain the sole property of Cott.

(d) Cott will provide Wal*Mart with a letter frorfi**] by which[***] will agree to providg***] .

3. Pricing; Terms; Formats -

(a) Pricing throughout the Term will be as agregdbtt and Wal*Mart from time to time.

(b) Prices are exclusive of Levies and Wal*Martlsbantinue to be responsible for, and shall phgse Levies for which it is currently
responsible as well as any future Levies whichiraposed on it by any applicable authority or whigk ultimately recoverable from
consumers.

4. Third Party Manufacturing Option -

(a) If Wal*Mart does not accept (i)[&*] proposed by Cott at any time during the Term, ipr[i**] at any time during the Term, Wal*Mart
will notify Cott that it wisheg***] . Wal*Mart shall be deemed to have accepted[&y to which it does not object in writing within 30
days of being notified of thg**] and, in the absence of*&*] being proposed by Cott, Wal*Mart may not notify Qoiirsuant to clause 4(a)
(i) above more frequently than once in any 12-rhqueriod.

(b) If Wal*Mart notifies Cott in accordance withtleer of clauses 4(a)(i) or 4(a)(i)**] will be asked to provide Wal*Mart witft**] to
cover theg***] and[***] (other thar[***] ), plus theg***] . If (i) the overall[***] proposed by thg**] selected by Wal*Mart t¢**] , aftel
taking into account all relevant terms (and exctgdhe[***] ), is[***] , and (ii) the***] is able tg***] , then Cott will (unless {¢**] 90
days after Wal*Mart notifies Cott ((***] ) use sucl



[***] as its[***] on terms and conditions for forecasting, ordersupply and payment which are reasonably acceptalzlk parties.

(c) If pursuant to clause 4(b) Cott engagfs’ as its[***] , Cott will continue to use itg**] for the[***] of the[***] , and will adjust its
[***] accordingly to reflect thg**] of [***] and[***] and[***] charged by***] . The price payable to Cott fpr*] will be $[***] /12
0z. equivalent case (subject to changgs*} from time to time).

5. Intellectual Property - Wal*Mart will indemnify, defend and hold harmle€stt from and against all claims, damages andsdastluding
reasonable attorneys’ fees), to the extent thayltrlsm any action alleging that Wal*Masttrademarks or trade dress used in connectior
the Program infringe such party’s rights.

6. Default; Termination -

(a) If either party commits a Material Breach agtAgreement which is not rectified within 30 dafter receipt of notice of the Material
Breach, or if the Material Breach is not capablé®ihg rectified within such 30-day period, if step rectify the Material Breach are not
commenced within the 30-day period and thereaftesyed to completion within an additional 88y period: (i) the other party may termir
this Agreement (without prejudice to its other tghnd remedies that may be available under thisgkgent and under applicable law), or
(i) in the case of a Material Breach by Cott, \WdHrt may by notice to Cott trigger the Third-Pagnufacturing Option.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary conéal in this Agreement, Cott is not obligated tovite any[***] to Wal*Mart (or to any
[***] for the[***] of [***] ), other than pursuant to the Third Party ManufaogOption, and Wal*Mart shall not use any concatas
supplied by Cott (nor allow them to be used)[ff] except pursuant to the Third Party Manufacturingi@p

(c) If this Agreement is terminated by Cott pursuanclause 6(a), Wal*Mart shall reimburse Cotttloe Termination Costs.

(d) In addition to its rights under Section 6(apad, Wal*Mart may terminate this Agreement at amgetso long as it gives Cott 3 years prior
written notice (the “Notice Period”) of its inteati to terminate. Wal*Mart agrees that there willdveorderly transition of the production of
Products to another supplier during the Noticedeksuch that Cott will be tendered not less th&@w2MWal*Mart’s total requirements for
Products in year one of the Notice Period and ss tkan 1/3 of Wal*Mart's total requirements foo@ucts in year two of the Notice Period.
At the end of the Notice Period Wal*Mart shall réunse Cott for the Termination Costs. It is undmydtand agreed that Cott’s obligations
with respect to the Third Party Manufacturing Optghall be of no further force or effect upon tssuance by Wal*Mart of the termination
notice pursuant to th



clause 6(d). Finally, Wal*Mart agrees that if iteegises its termination right pursuant to this s&a6(d) Cott will (i) not be required to prodi
any Products for Wal*Mart during the Notice Perigging concentrates other than those used by Jotttprthe issuance by Wal*Mart of the
termination notice and (ii) be relieved of Cott’sdiusivity Obligation 1.5 years after the issuabge/Nal*Mart of the termination notice
pursuant to this clause 6(d).

7. Force Majeure -

(a) The performance by each party of its obligatishall be excused for so long as and to the etttahsuch performance is prevented,
hindered or delayed by Force Majeure.

(b) If Cott is unable to supply Products eitheedity or through others due to Force Majeure, WalrMnay trigger the Third Party
Manufacturing Option for the period of the Forcejélae (and Cott agrees to reimburse Wal*Mart for ssasonable additional costs incut
by Wal*Mart to obtain such supplies of Productsidgisuch period of Force Majeure).

8. General -

(a) This Agreement inures to the benefit of ankiimgling upon the parties hereto and their respeaiiwccessors and assigns. Wal*Mart
acknowledges and agrees that Cott may have ame®aft Drinks produced by third-party co-packers.

(b) This Agreement, together with the Wal*Mart Vemd\greement in effect from time to time as agrbgdhe parties (which covers paym
terms, insurance and indemnification provisionepstitutes the entire agreement between the pavitgespect to the subject matter hereof.
In the event of any conflict or inconsistency begwé¢he terms of this Agreement and the Wal*Mart damAgreement or any Wal*Mart
purchase order, the terms of this Agreement shkdl precedence. This Agreement may only be amédngdadvriting signed by both parties.

(c) This Agreement is governed by and construeatoordance with the laws of the State of Arkanad@tbout regard to the internal law of t
State of Arkansas regarding conflicts of laws. phagies mutually (i) consent and submit to thesdidtion of the federal and state courts for
Benton County, Arkansas, and agree that any acighpr proceeding concerning this Agreement dhalbrought only in federal or state
courts for Benton County, Arkansas and (ii) ackremgle and agree that they will not raise, in conaratith any such suits, actions or
proceedings brought in any federal or state caurBenton County, Arkansas, any defense or objediased upon lack of personal
jurisdiction, improper venue, or inconvenienceaiuim. Each party shall bear its own costs in cotioeaevith any litigation, including

without limitation, its attorneys fees, without egd to the party that is the prevailing party. Pagties acknowledg



that they have read and understand the provisibtigsoparagraph and agree willingly with its terms

9. Notices- Any notices pursuant to this Agreement shall ivegyin writing and sent by recognized nationalronght courier for next
business day delivery or by pre-paid registereckeotified mail, return receipt requested to theradses specified below (or to such other
address of which notice is given). Notices shallbemed to have been received on the third bustteasafter the date of mailing or the next
business day if sent by courier:

If to Wal*Matrt, at: If to Cott, at:

Wal*Mart Stores, Inc. Cott Beverages USA, Inc.

702 SW 8h Street 1011 NW J Street, Suite D
Bentonville, Arkansas 727-0139 Bentonville, Arkansas 7271
Attention: VP, Private Brands (Food) Attention: VP/GM, Wal*Mart Team

with a copy to:

Cott — Legal Department

800 - 207 Queen’s Quay West
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 1,



If the foregoing is in accordance with your undansting, please sign and date the enclosed copysotetter and return it to the undersigned
within 2 weeks, whereupon this letter agreemenil sbastitute a binding agreement between us imaance with its terms.

Sincerely,
COTT BEVERAGES USA, INC.

By: /sl Frank E. Weise |l
Name: Frank E. Weise |l
Title:  Chief Executive Office
Authorized Signing Officer

Acknowledged and agreed to t
WAL*MART STORES, INC.

By: /s/ Robert A. Anderso Date: 12/22/98
Name: Robert A. Andersol

Title:  V.P. Private Brand Foa

Authorized Signing Office




GLOSSARY
“Cott™ means Cott Beverages USA, Inc.

“Force Majeure” means any cause(s) beyond a pareg'sonable control, which cannot be overcome agarable diligence, including
without limitation, war, labor disputes, civil disters, governmental acts, epidemics, quarantimesaggoes, fires, earthquakes, storms, or
acts of God. Force Majeure shall not operate g0 asable Wal*Mart to delay making any paymentsoltit is otherwise obligated to make
under this Agreement.

“Levies” means any and all present and future tasteposits and environmental and recycling leviescharges (including without limitation
the California CRV and PRCC) which are imposedharged in connection with the production, sale and#cycling of soft drinks or soft
drink packaging.

“Material Breach” means (a) Cott’s failure to progthe concentrates for the Products in accordantbethe agreed Product specifications;
(b) Cott’s failure to maintain in stock service ¢ééwv of at least 95% on average over any threeal@ndar month period (i.e. February through
April; May through July; August through October; dovember through January) of any year; (c) vadithdge claims caused by Cott which
average more than 1% of total gross sales ovettaag (3) calendar month period (i.e. FebruaryubhoApril; May through July; August
through October; or November through January) gfyaar; (d) valid product quality issues of a miaiemature caused by Cott in contents,
containers, packaging or otherwise, average mae 1f6 of shipments over any three (3) calendar mpetiod (i.e. February through April;
May through July; August through October; or Novemthrough January) of any year, as identified tgI"Mart quality assurance labs
acting reasonably and in good faith; and/or (egilafe of either party to perform a material prémisof this Agreement, other than those
provisions which are addressed in paragraphs (aydgih (d) of this definition.

“Products” means Soft Drinks which are intendedtifa Program.

“Program” means any retailer brand soft drink pamgroperated by Wal*Mart in its present and futuf@Alktores, other than Sam'’s Clubs
stores.

“Soft Drinks” means all non-alcoholic carbonateddrages and includes, without limitation, clearrkliag flavored water beverages.

“Termination Costs” means the costs incurred byt €@otany unused raw and packaging materials alhgdods inventories intended to be
used by or for Wal*Mart, whether in the possessib@ott, its suppliers, co-packers or otherwisesting at the effective date of termination,
up to a maximum of three (3) months worth, in thsecof raw and packaging materials, and three ¢BXms worth, in the case of finished
goods. The three (3) mouth ceiling will be calcethon the basis of the average monthly case sgl€sth to Wal*Mart



over the immediately preceding twelve (12) monthqaefor each of the Products.
“Third Party Manufacturing Option” means the progezldescribed in clause 4 of the Agreement.
“Wal*Mart” means Wal*Mart Stores, Inc.

“Wal*Mart Controlled Concentrat” means concentrates used to produce those Produicts are identified with an asterisk on Exhi*A”.



Carbonated Soft Drinks
Cola[***]

Diet Cola[***]

CF Diet Colg[***]

Dr Thundei[***]
Diet Dr Thunde***]
Twist Up [***]

Diet Twist Up[***]
Root Beel[***]

Mountain Lightning[***]

Grape*
Raspberry*
Grapefruit*

Orange*

* Indicates Wal*Mart Controlled Concentrai

EXHIBIT “A”
Producti***] supplied by Cott to Wal*Mart

New Age Beverages
Black Cherry[***]

White Grape[***]
Kiwi Strawberry[***]
Peact[***]
Raspbern[***]
Strawberry[***]
Tropical [***]
Cranberry[***]

Key Lime[***]
Strawberry Banan[***]
Mango Peacl[***]
Blackberry Apple[***]



Exhibit 10.33

March 6, 2009
Mr. Michael Gibbons
Dear Mike:

| am very pleased to offer you the position of S&Beneral Manager of the US Business Unit. Thigtpmswill report to me and is effectiy
April 1, 2009.

This offer outlines the terms and conditions ofryemployment with Cott Beverages Inc. (the “Compganylease note that this is not a
contract of employment or a promise of employmeniiy specific term.

Your base salary will be $250,000 per year paiéeemi-monthly basis. You will also receive an atmwar allowance of $13,500.00, also
paid on a semimonthly basis. Your performance evaluations foargateviews will be conducted on an annual basisaay increase would,
applicable, be determined as part of the annu@weprocess.

You are eligible to participate in the annual bopla equal to an amount of 75% (bonus target Jefglour base salary based upon the
achievement of specified goals; such performanedsgghall be established annually. However, please that the bonus plan is entirely
discretionary and the Company reserves in its absaliscretion the right to terminate or amend loryus scheme. You are also eligible to
participate in the long-term incentive (LTIP) plaarsd programs as made available from time to toreniployees of a similar level within the
organization.

You will be eligible to participate in Cott's USAeBefit Program. The USA Benefit Program includeslthe disability and life insurance
benefits. Employee contributions are required liis Program. As an executive, you will also betidito an annual executive medical
examination at the Lakeland Clinic in Tampa, FLatidition, you will be eligible to participate iro@'s 401(K) Savings and Retirement Plan.

You are entitled to 4 weeks of vacation per yeau ¥re encouraged to take your vacation time irc#thendar year it is earned. All earned
vacation must be taken by March 31st of the yeltmfing the one in which it is earned; otherwisaill be forfeited. If you should leave the
Company, the value of any unearned vacation talggrob will be considered a debt to the Company.valiation periods require the apprc
of your Manager.

You will participate in COTT'sRetention and Severance PlanThis details the terms that would be payable toifgour position is
terminated for reasons other than cause. Your l&vearticipation is a Level 2.

Cott will provide you a lump sum of US$85,000 Grasassist you with relocation assistance to TarRfmjda. You will also be provided
with one trip for your family to visit the Tampaear for housing and schooling and one final triptecute your move



Mike, | am excited to offer you this position, anldok forward to working closely with you in rebding this great companylease indicate
your acceptance of this offer by returning one sigghoriginal of both the offer letter and confidemtlity agreement to Cott Beverages, At
Reese Reynolds, Sr. Director of Global Compensat& Benefits.

Yours truly,
/sl Jerry Fowde

CEO, COTT Corporation
cc; Reese Reynolc

| accept this offer of employment and the termsidied herein.

/s/ Michael Gibbon: March 10, 2009
Signature Date
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SUPPLY AGREEMENT
BETWEEN

CROWN CORK & SEAL USA, INC.
(* CROWN" )

AND

COTT CORPORATION
("COTT")

EXECUTED DECEMBER 21, 2010
EFFECTIVE AS OF JANUARY 1, 201
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SUPPLY AGREEMENT

This Supply Agreement (hereinafter “Agreement’¢fective as of the 1st day of January, 2011, lylzgtweerCrown Cork & Seal USA,
Inc., a Delaware corporation, with a place of busines3reg Crown Way, Philadelphia, PA 19154 (hereindf@¥own”) andCott
Corporation, a Canada corporation, with a place of busines§2% &iscount Road, Mississauga, Ontario L4V 1H6 5519 Idlewild
Avenue Tampa, Florida 33634 (hereinafter “Cott”).

IN CONSIDERATION OF the mutual covenants contaihedein and other good and valuable considerati@nparties hereto agree as

follows:

1. SCOPE; PRODUCTS; SPECIFICATIONS

(@)

(b)

For the purposes of this Agreement, the follmtierms shall have the following definitions: @)tt Group” shall mean Cott and
its current and future affiliates in North Ameriddexico, the United Kingdom, Europe, and Royal CndBola International
(“RCI"), a division of Cott Beverages Inc., (ii) tBer” means, as to any sale of Products hereutideCott Group entit{**]

that orders, purchases and/or receives the ProdiigttDesignated Location” means a filling lodah of the Buyei***] ;

(iv) “Crown Group” means Crown and its current dntlire affiliates in North America, Mexico, the Wedl Kingdom, Europe and
those affiliates that supply RCI in the RCI Couedri(v) “Supplier’'means, as to any sale of Products hereunder, thdbeareof the
Crown Group that sells, ships and/or invoices ttoglfcts; (vi) “North America” means the United 8&tnd Canada, and

(vii) “affiliate” means any entity that, directlyrandirectly, controls, is under common controllwr is controlled by that party
and “affiliated” has a corresponding meaning. Ranppses of this definition and this Agreement, ‘tcoli (including, with
correlative meaning, the terms “controlled by” &ndder common control with™)as used with respect to any entity, shall mea
possession, directly or indirectly, of more tha®b6f the voting securities of such enti

Crown hereby agrees to supply or cause othenbmes of Crown Group to supply to Cott, and Coteag to purchase or cause the
rest of Cott Group to purchase from Crown Grougegt as otherwise provided in this Agreemgtit] of Cott Group’s
requirement(***] for the following products (th“Product”), in accordance with and pursuant to the terms sfAlgireement

(1) For North America and Mexico, 12-ounce (2022413), 8-ounce (202/211x307) and 16-ounce (202/2@3xaluminum
beverage cans and 202 beverage ends
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(©)
(d)

()

2 For the United Kingdom, 15cL aluminum beveragas with 200 diameter aluminum beverage ends, adehinum
beverage cans with 200 diameter aluminum beveradg, @nd 33cL aluminum beverage cans with 202 hgeeends, and
for Europe, 25cL aluminum beverage cans with 2@@nditer aluminum beverage ends per Section 1(fivpe

3) For the following jurisdictions where RCI ddassiness and subjecttg*] , 15cL aluminum beverage cans with 200
diameter aluminum beverage ends, 25cL aluminumrbgeecans with 200 diameter aluminum beverage emds33cL
aluminum beverage cans with 202 beverage endsi&dSroatia, Guatemala, Paraguay, Turkey, Swedarha
Bangladesh, Brazil, Chile, Czech Republic, EcuaHggpt, Estonia, Ethiopia, Fiji Islands, India, émeésia, Israel, Italy,
Kosovo, Kuwait, Lebanon, Malaysia, Norway, Pakisfaanama, Peru, Philippines, Portugal, RomaniajiSeabia, Spain
— Canary Islands, Suriname, Tajikistan, Thailandni@iad, Tunisia, United Arab Emirates (I“RCI Countrie”).

At Cott’s request, Crown shall meet in good fadfdiscuss inclusion of other countries where RCY uha business.
All 202 end units supplied shall be 202 diametgue3End® aluminum beverage ends.

A can body and the corresponding end is sometiefesred to herein as a “Can Set.”

Notwithstanding the foregoin[***] .

(1) Any Buyer that is obligated to purchase ema supply agreement with another vendor for petedsimilar to the Products on
the date it becomes a “Buyer” hereunder will bexgtted to purchase such similar products from satbler vendor until the
termination, for any reason, of its purchase obiligraunder such supply agreement. Such Buyer sdalse Crown of the
scheduled date of expiration of the pre-existingament upon its designation as a “Buyer.” SuchdBghall usg***] to [***]
such[***] as soon as possible after beconiiritj] such as electinff**] and refusing t¢***] , but in no case shall such Buyer
[***] to[***] any obligations to th[***] in order to begin its purchasing under this Agreetr

@ [

If in the future Cott Group requires beverage endam sizes other than t

3
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Products “Other Produc™):

(i) for which Crown Group has equipment capabilihen at Cott Groug’ option, Supplier will supply such Other Produstsjon¢
as Crown Group’s supply of such Other Productsbeasupported by reasonable economic justificatiahs long as Crown
Group has available capacity, or

(i) for which Crown Group does not have, and noeotsuppliers have, equipment capability, then €l first give Crown
notice of its desire to source such cans and emdis @eriod of thirty (30) days within which to pase a set of terms for potential
supply, so long as Crown Growpsupply of such Other Products can be supporteddsonable economic justification and so |
as Crown Group has available capacity. The pastiadl then discuss in good faith an agreement jamtsio which Crown Group
may supply such cans and ends to Cott Group. ffroposal is made within such thirty (30) day pemocho such agreement is
reached within thirty (30) days after receipt af fhroposal, Cott Group shall be free to purchash sads, cans or can sets from
another supplier.

For clarity, Cott Group has no obligation to pured®ther Products from Supplier, and in the cassrevBrown Group does not
have equipment capability for Other Products, libeéosuppliers do, Cott Group has no obligatiofotlow the process set out in
(i) above.

(U
(9) Schedule 1(gcontains the list o[***] , subject to and in accordance with the termsisfAlgreement. *** ]
(h) Actual Product purchases of Buyer for 2010 estiimated Product purchases for 2011 are showaodayibn on Schedule 1(h)
attached to this Agreemel
(i) The specifications for the Products (includpejletizing, on a plant by plant basis) are setauSchedule 1(iattached to this
Agreement (th¢ Specification”).
2. TERM

This Agreement shall be in effect for a period igf(§) years commencing on January 1, 2011 andiexpon December 31, 2016 (the

“Term”).

3. PRICING AND PAYMENT
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(@) The prices (the “Prices”) charged to Buyertf@ Products are set out in Schedule 3@l are subject to adjustment as therein set
out. Other than as set outSchedule 3(athe Prices shall not be increased during the T[***]

(b) (i) For 12-ounce cans and all 202 beverage padshased for North America and Mexico, the Pr[g&g  with title to and risk of
loss in the Products passing to Bu[***] .

(i) For 8-ounce and 16-ounce can bodies purchémeldorth America and Mexico, prices dr&*] . Supplier shal***] . For
North American shipmentg**] . For Mexico shipmentg***] . Title and risk of loss in all 8-ounce and 16-o&ican bodies
purchased for North America and Mexico shall pafBuyer[***] .

(iiif) For products purchased for the UK, the Pricedude[***] with title to and risk of loss in the Products paggo Buyer

[***] i

(c) Pallets, tier sheets and top frames (collebtidunnage”) are the property of Supplier. Dunnagk not be charged to Buyer and
Supplier will arrange pick up and loading of alhehage at Supplier’'s own cost. Buyer shall returmeaisable dunnage to Supplier
in good condition, normal wear and tear excepteduhnage is continually returned damaged and/poir condition, Buyer will
work to correct the situatiol

(d) Cott shall have the right [***] , so long a{***] .

€) [

® 1

(9) If Crown Group develops a new can or end (fdew Product”) thaf***] , then Crown Group shall be entitled[t¢*] to develop
and manufacture such New Products g , and oncg***] (in accordance with this Section 3(d)}t*] . Crown and Cott, bo

acting reasonably and in good faith, shall agretheft**] of New Products over whidi**] as well ag***] and[***] prior to
Crown Groug[***] .

4. FREIGHT; FAILURE TO SUPPLY; CUSTOMER REFUSAL

(&) Setout on Schedule 4¢@reto is a list of the current Designated Locatiand current actual freight costs from Supplier’s
manufacturing facilities and warehouses to eachdbased Location. Crown shall update this list aadiy

5
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(b)

(©

(d)

on or before April 1 to reflect current freighteat as needed as Cott adds or removes Designatatidies and as needed as
Crown adds or removes manufacturing facilities wadehouses (subject to this Agreement), it beingedjtha[***] .

Buyer will have the option to take responstpifior transportation of the Products at one oreridesignated Location(s), with at
least thirty (30) days prior notification to Crowat, Buyer’s sole cost and expense from the appéaalanufacturing facility or
warehouse. If Buyer assumes transportation resiititysi

0] [***] , as the case may be; ¢
(i)  asto[***] purchased for North America and Mexico and all laatsl purchased in the U[***] ; and
(i)  as to[***] purchased for North America and Mexi(***] .

If at any time during the Term of this Agreerhany Products do not comply with the Specificagidancluding for such purposes
the requirements contained in Sections 7(a) ang @(lSupplier is unable or unwilling to manufaetur supply the Buyer with its
agreed supply commitments in accordance with tigigeAment, Supplier shall use its commercially reabte efforts to replace
the non-conforming Products within a time periodttis acceptable to Buyer in Buyer’s reasonablerdi®on, and , unless such
failure is caused by (A) a Force Majeure eveni)rtke failure of Buyer or any member of Cott Grgti¥] purchasing Products
under this Agreement to comply with the terms @ thgreement, including without limitation Sectib(d) below, the following
shall apply as Buyes'exclusive remedies, in addition to the remedit$asth in Section 8 below: [***]. Supplier musthprovide:
with the opportunity to inspect non-conforming Rrots prior to any reimbursement hereunder. Buy#merify any costs and
penalties in writing

Buyer will use commercially reasonable effdaasninimize any such costs, downtime and any att@nies for which it seeks
reimbursement from Supplier pursuant to this Secfi(***]

5. PRODUCTION AND INVENTORY

(@)

On the date of execution and delivery of thigeement by Cott, and on or prior to October 18aath subsequent calendar year of
the term, Cott shall provide Crown with a non-birglforecast of requirements by Designated Locdtiotthe next calendar year.
Crown acknowledges that any forecast provided by 8@ good faith estimate only, and is not a caim®nt on the part of any
Buyer to purchase any quantity of Produ
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(b)

(©
(d)

()

(f)

In addition to the annual forecast describeavabCott shall provide Crown on a monthly basigwai 3-month non-binding rolling
forecast of requirements by Designated Locatioow®racknowledges that any forecast provided by Battgood faith estimate
only, and is not a commitment on the part of any@uo purchase any quantity of Products. Afteeijgicof the 3-month rolling
forecast, Crowrs production group will be responsible to conduonthly calls, with the appropriate Crown and Ca&sidnees, t
work in a collaborative partnership to review aaklet corrective actions to resolve the issues ifiedtby the team with the intent
of continuously improving forecast efficiencies futh the Cott Group and Crown Grol

Supplier shall provide to Buyer a detailed im@ey report (including in-transit inventory) evemonth by the seventh {7 ) day
after the end of each month for the prior monthefach warehouse and manufacturing loca

(i) Buyers will submit release schedules wedkiyn the Designated Locations to Supplier’'s pldyshursday at noon for the
following week.[***]

(i) The parties will mutually agrejg**] .

(ii)) ]

(iv) Both parties agree to assign personnel td atadt manage the process, §ffd] .
(i) [

(i) [**]

(i) [**+]

(iv) Both parties agree to assign personnel td atad manage the process §ftd] .
) [

Crown shall assign an employee to review inventewvgls and forecasts with Cott on a monthly basisissure optimum levels ¢
kept and to minimize the number of slow moving abdolete items

6. ADDITIONAL CLAUSES

(@)

Changes in Law
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Notwithstanding the warranties contained in Secfidoelow, if there are changes to the applicabies |aegulations or
requirements of any government or governmental@genany new laws, regulations or requirementsreinto force which have
a material impact on Supplier’'s performance ot®ability to realize on the anticipated econongaéfits from this Agreement
after the date of this Agreement, the parties shakt and negotiate in good faith to make equitatljastments to the affected
terms and conditions of this Agreement. For exangleh adjustments may involve price, delivery wrapecifications, lead tim
or any other term or condition of this Agreement.

(b) [INTENTIONALLY OMITTED]
(c) Six Sigma Requiremen
Crown Group shall comply with the Six Sigma reqoiests of Cott as set out in Schedule 6(c) to tlgjseAment.

(d) Local Technical Suppo

0] Seamer Service
A. Crown Group will assign a regional seamer senggeeasentative for each Designated Loca[***] .

B. Crown Group will establish specific programsath Designated Location to improve employee kndgdeand skills
in operating seamers and to improve efficier

C. Crown Group’s scope of work for each such fuorcghall be determined by Crown Group’s documesis! to
implement such function. Crown Growsgiability for any defective or any negligent seeris limited to Crown GroL
re-performing the servic[***] .

D. Crown Group will also establish preventative m@nance programs at every Designated Location aharge to
Cott. Buyer shall designate an appropriately gigglifepresentative at each Designated Locatiosgistan
establishing such prograi
(i)  Can line efficiency and package integri

A.  Supplier will assign a regional Technical Seevidanager for each Designated Location with calislenon a monthly
basis, wherever practic:
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()

(f)

9)
(h)

(i)

B. The Technical Service Managers will work closeith Buyer's Plant Managers to develop programisrorove
filling line efficiencies and diminish package dageaduring filling, storage and distributic

[***]

Plant Communication / Qualificatic

0] The names, titles, phone numbers (during atet affice hours and weekends) and cell phone nusntifeall key plant and
warehouse personnel including sales and techrécaices are listed cSchedule 6(e’

(i) Crown will updateSchedule 6(ewhenever there are changes to the

(iii)  Crown will establish adequate Customer SeevRepresentation and lines of communication aloibed level among
Buyer's and Suppli¢ s plants and warehous:

(iv)  Crown will do same as above whenever it plamstart up a new beverage line or manufacturiagtio supply Products
pursuant to this Agreemel

New Customer Suppao

When needed Crown Group will provide Buyer all tieeessary support to help secure new businessinthisles Crown Group
and Buyer visiting potential customers to presemat® Groups capabilities, specifications, QA/QC proceduresdpcing sampl
runs, making plant visits, etc.

[***]
Graphic and Plate Chang

0] Cott will supply Crown with camera ready artwork feew designs and changes to existing des[***]

(i) [

Crown shall provide Cott with a detailed sumgnaf its QA/QC procedures and allow Cott to reviBupplier's QA/QC
procedures in full from time to time upon requdxstt(not make copies therea

9



*** |Indicates a portion of the exhibit has been omited based on a request for confidential treatmensubmitted to the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The omitted portions have bedited separately with the Commission.

7. REPRESENTATIONS; WARRANTIES; COVENANTS
(@) Supplier represents, warrants and covenants torBoge

(b)

(©

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

the Products will, at the time of receipt byy®u, comply in all respects with all laws, regulgtpolicies, rules and orders
(collectively*Laws") and conform in all respects to the Specificatic

the materials which Supplier uses in connettigth the manufacture of the Products (A) willfbee of defects in materials
and workmanship and (B) will neither contain undafed additives nor be adulterated in any way (jolest however in no
event will Supplier incur any liability under thigarranty or the warranty set out in (i) above wheeecontainers are not
packed, stored and distributed by Buyer in accazdarith good business practice, or where the adlelzenage results frc
rust or outside corrosion occurring after receipghe Products by Buyer and not due to some defihtthe Products, or
from improper capping, closing, crimping, fillingé gassing operations by Buye

each pallet of Products shall have attached therstip indicating the date and shift when suctdBots were produced al
such other information as is mutually acceptabliénéoparties heret

Crown represents and warrants and covenants taitzot

0] Crown has the necessary corporate authoritycapécity to enter into this Agreement, and thatahtering into by Crown
of this Agreement and the performance of its obidge hereunder will not contravene or violateesult in the breach
(with or without the giving of notice or lapse aht, or both) or acceleration of any obligation<Codwn under the
provisions of any license, permit or agreement hictv Crown is a party or by which it (or its as$essbound; ant

(i Crown Group has, and will continue to haveidgrthe Term of this Agreement, the necessary ol and operational

capacities and abilities to fulfill its obligationsider this Agreemer

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaiirethis Agreement, and in addition to the right<aftt Group and th

obligations of Crown Group set out in this Agreemé&rown Group agrees to indemnify, defend and i@att Group and all
employees. agents, directors, officgtst] of Cott Group (collectively, the “Buyer Indemnifi€hrties”) harmless from and
against any and all direct and indirect third patgims for personal injury or property damageh® éxtent arising from any
breach by Crown Group of any of the representatisasranties or covenants set forth in this Agresimgrovidec

10
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(d)
(€)

that Cott gives Crown prompt notice of such clatmgperates in the defense thereof (which will idelsuch matters as providing
employees of the Buyer Indemnified Parties forrvieaw, deposition and testimony at trial and prddurcof relevant documents)
and grants Crown Group the right to handle, defanatherwise dispose of such claim as it may dateerat Crown Group’s sole
cost and expens

In view of the warranties set forth above, Cnoaroup makes no other warranty, whether of meitetiity, fitness or otherwise,
express or implied in fact or by la

Buyer represents that commodities, technolagofiware of Supplier will be exported from theitéd States in accordance with
and are subject to the U.S. Export Administrati@g®ations (15 C.F.R. Part 780seq). Diversion contrary to U.S. law is
prohibited. Without limiting the foregoing, Buyegrees that it shall not directly or indirectly selkport, reexport, transfer, divert
or otherwise dispose of Supplier’s goods produoetié United States to or via, or for use in theafiacture of products outside
the United States specifically or predominantlytiohesi for, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Sudan, or Systaany person, firm or entit
or country or countries, or for any activity or ysehibited by the laws or regulations of the Udiftates or other applicable
jurisdiction (to the extent not penalized or pratatl under applicable law), without obtaining amppauthorization from th
competent government authorities as required byethaws and regulatior

8. TERMINATION AND DEFAULT

If any member of the Crown Group breaches this Agrent or any warranty, representation or covenamiained in this Agreement, Cott
may notify Crown in writing outlining the detail$ such breach. A failure by Cott to notify Crownnist a waiver by Cott of any such breach
or of any rights and remedies available to Cot assult of such breach. If the breach is not reéetebly Crown Group withiff**] days from
the date of written notification to remedy the loteaor, if the breach cannot reasonably be remaditidn [***] days, if substantial steps to
commence a cure are not initiated within s[i¢l day period, then Cott may, in addition to all af @ther rights or remedies, terminate this
Agreement by providing written notification there¢ofCrown. In addition, this Agreement may be tevaéd by either party upon the
occurrence and continuance of any of the followswgh termination to be effective immediately uplefivery of a written notice to the other

party:
(@)

If a petition in bankruptcy or under a simidgaplicable law shall be filed by or consented tah®y other party, or if the other party
makes a proposal to its creditors or seeks theiagpent of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, cushoddr other similar official for its
business or assets or makes an assignment foetteditof its creditors

11
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(b) If the other party becomes insolvent or ceésesirry on business, or takes action to liquidatsets, or stops making payments in
the usual course of busine

(c) If a petition in bankruptcy or under a similaw shall be filed against the other party andlsieahain undismissed or unstayed for
a period of thirty (30) days;

(d) If the other party’s business or assets stejllaced in the hands of a trustee, receiver,dafor, custodian or other similar official
by any court, governmental or public authority geacy having jurisdiction, or if an order shallribade or resolution passed for
the winding-up or the liquidation of the other gaot if the other party adopts or takes any corfgopeoceedings for its dissolution
or liquidation (other than as part of a bona fideporate reorganization

[***]

If this Agreement terminates for any reason, Cladtllourchase under the terms hereof, any existiventory of finished Products produced
by Suppliers in accordance with mutually agreectimory requirements, and color tabs and endshér éntire order quantity if any such
order is for non-stock items.

9. FORCE MAJEURE

Neither party nor Supplier nor Buyer shall be lefir failure or delay in performance under thisé@gment due in whole or in part to cau
beyond the reasonable control of such party, inotpaithout limitation, acts of God, civil commotipsabotage, strike or other labor
disturbance, fire, flood, explosion, acts of anygmment, unforeseen shortages or unavailabilifyef power, inability to obtain or delay in
obtaining governmental approvals, permits, licerseslocations, and any other causes which arevitbin the reasonable control of the
party affected, whether or not of the kind speaificenumerated above: provided, however, sucH sbakxcuse a party or Buyer or Supplier
from paying any amounts due the other hereundey.panty affected by any such circumstances shalhpily give written notice thereof to
the other party. During any such period of Forcgddee affecting Supplier, Supplier shall allocatgoation of its available supply to Buyer
[***] . Performance of this Agreement shall be resumeglikly as reasonably possible after the partgaéd by any such circumstances
has notified the other party that the conditiong&re remedied. In the event raw material suppifeseduced by Supplier’'s vendors, Supplier
shall[***] . If Buyer purchases products similar to the Préslas a result of a force majeure circumstancetitfig Supplier, any such
purchases shall count towalft§s"] purchasing obligations of Buyer under this Agreetmen

10. PATENTS, TRADEMARKS, COPYRIGHTS, AND UNFAIR COMPETI TION
12
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Supplier warrants to Buyer that the Products martufad and the use thereof in the form furnishe@bpplier excluding any labels or
specifications supplied by Buyer will not infringay United States or Canadian patents, trademawkgrights or other rights of third parties.
In the event of a claim of any such infringemerd arovided that the Supplier is notified thereadmptly upon Buyer becoming aware of
such infringements and provided further that Sigopé given the complete defense of such actigis able cost and expense, Supplier agrees
to defend, indemnify, and hold the Buyer Indemuifitarties harmless from and against awards or slagainst any or all of the Buyer
Indemnified Parties as the result of such infringatmUpon the institution of any suit or actioregihg infringement against any or all of the
Buyer Indemnified Parties, Supplier may (i) pay #meounts claimed, provided that prior to such paynseipplier obtains a full and final
release of the claim in favour of the applicable/@&undemnified Parties, in form and substancestattory to Cott, or (ii) furnish non-
infringing Products, provided they are acceptabl€att, or (iii) at Supplier’'s sole option, contto supply the allegedly infringing Products,
provided that in such event Supplier shall indepyrdefend and hold harmless Buyer Indemnified Baiiti respect of any claims which any
Buyer Indemnified Party is subjected to on accadrmfringement if in such suit or action it is dehat the manufacture or use of such
Products did infringe a United States or Canadatemnt, trademark, copyright or other right.

11. CONFIDENTIALITY

Neither party (in this clause, tI‘Covenantor”) shall disclose to any third party firece, terms, conditions, purchasing patterngdast, or
provisions (other than the existence) of this Agrest or any information obtained from the otherty&n this clause, the “Covenantee”)
which would reasonably be considered confidentigdroprietary to the Covenantee without the exprestten consent of the Covenantee,
unless disclosure is required by law, regulati@cusities commission, or stock exchanges. If sustiasure is required, Cott and Crown shall
use their best commercial efforts to obtain conftig treatment and redaction of the pricing tephthis Agreement and related terfivs] .
Cott and Crown agree that the contents of this &gyent are extremely confidential. Accordin@{*] to all Buyers will be af***] agreed t
from time to time by Cott and Crown afid*] shall be kept strictly confidentiff**] and othef***] . Nothing in this Section 11 prohibits
either party from disclosing any information to mmers of the Cott Group or Crown Group, as the oaeg be, or to their respective
professional advisors.

12. NOTICES

Any notice or other communication required or dagito be given by this Agreement shall be in wgitamd delivered by electronic mail,
facsimile transmission, registered or certified Imraturn receipt requested, or by personal oromally recognized courier delivery. Any
notice or other communication transmitted by etmutr mail or facsimile shall be deemed to be rezsgiwhen sent so long as there is valid
written confirmation of receipt of the entire tramssion. If sent by registered or certified mdikhall be deemed received 3 business days
after the mailing thereof. If a notice or other gcommication is dispatched by personal or nationabgeized courier delivery, it shall be
deemed to have been received upon the
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delivery thereof to such address. Any notice oepttommunication shall be sent to the address diedéow of the party to be notified, unless
such party has previously notified the other ohange of address, in which case the notice or @itramunication shall be sent to such
changed address:

(@ Crown: Crown Cork & Seal USA, Inc
One Crown Way
Philadelphia, PA 1915
Attention: Vice President, Sales & Marketin
CROWN Beverage Packaging North Amer
Fax No.: (215) 85-5568
e-mail: thomas.fischer@crowncork.cc

with (in the case of default notices), a copy to:

Crown Holdings, Inc

One Crown Way

Philadelphia, PA 1915
Attention: General Counse

Fax No.: (215) 69-6061

e-mail: wgallagh@crowncork.col

(b) Buyer: Cott Corporatior
5519 Idlewild Ave
Tampa, FL 3363
Attention: VP, Global Procuremel
Fax No. : 81-881-1870
e-mail: rshepard@cott.col

with (in the case of default notices), a copy to:
Cott- Legal Departmer
5519 Idlewild Ave
Tampa, FL 3363
Attention: General Couns
Fax No.: 81-881-1923
e-mail: mpoe@cott.cor

If any notice or other communication is transmittedielivered or deemed received after 4:00 PM (E)J®bn any day or on a non-business
day in the jurisdiction of the recipient, it shb# deemed received on the next business day. Neeraftdefault or termination may be sent by
electronic mail, facsimile transmission alone.

13. INTERPRETATION
14
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When applicable, use of the singular form of anydshall mean or apply to the plural, and the nefiaten shall mean or apply to the
feminine, masculine or plural. The captions in thiggeement, including the heading to sections ardgraphs, are for convenience of
reference only and shall not affect its interpiietabr construction.

14. EXHIBITS

All exhibits and all schedules or attachments toilgits or schedules referenced in this Agreememinagxed hereto are incorporated herein
by reference and made a part hereof. From timien®, any exhibit, schedule or attachment may bende. Once amended, the restated
exhibit, schedule or attachment incorporating sartlendments shall be executed in accordance witio8eld hereof and then annexed to
this Agreement.

15. AMENDMENTS

This Agreement may not be amended except in angréxecuted by authorized officers of both partddksuch revisions shall as of their
effective date automatically become a part of &gseement.

16. GENERAL

If any provision of this Agreement, whether a pasgpp, sentence or portion thereof, is determinedrbgrbitrator or a court of competent
jurisdiction to be null and void or unenforcealdach provision shall be deemed to be severed,endemaining provisions of this Agreem
shall remain in full force and effect. Neither gashall be deemed to have waived any right, poprévilege, or remedy unless such waiver is
in writing and duly executed by it. No failure tregcise, delay in exercising or course of dealegpect to any right, power, privilege or
remedy shall operate as a waiver thereof by efihely or of any other right, power, privilege onredy. No exercise or partial exercise of .
right, power, privilege or remedy shall precludg ather of further exercise thereof by either pantyhe exercise of any other right, power,
privilege or remedy by either party.

17. PRIOR AGREEMENTS AND MERGER

This Agreement contains the entire agreement opénges and there are no agreements, represergatiainderstandings with respect to the
subject matter hereof other than those statedfemeel to herein or signed. This Agreement supeseatty and all other agreements,
representations or understandings, written or betlyeen the parties to this Agreement with respettte subject matter hereof made prior to
the date of execution of this Agreement, includimg supply agreement effective as of January 12.200

18. GOVERNING LAW AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

This Agreement shall be governed by and enforcedtaordance with the laws of the State of New Ywikhout regard to conflicts of laws
principles. The United Nations

15
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Convention on Contracts for the International S4il&oods shall not apply to this Agreement. Anypdig or controversy concerning the
interpretation, enforceability, termination or brthaof the Agreement shall be finally settled byfabential private arbitration held according
to the commercial arbitration rules of the Ameridabitration Association (“AAA”). The arbitrationhall be held in New York, NY, before a
single arbitrator. The arbitrator shall be seledigdgreement of the parties. In the event thapttées cannot agree on selection of the
arbitrator, then the AAA shall select the arbitrafthe arbitrator selected by the AAA shall be dge or shall be an attorney with substantial
experience either in commercial litigation involgimanufacturing companies or commercial transastiovwolving manufacturing companit
On application of the parties, the arbitrator sbadler discovery/production of documents and exjmad time limits not exceeding 30 days in
each case for responding to such orders to pemauit party to present its case to the arbitratatgdient upon the award of the arbitrator shall
be final and binding on both parties. Judgment uperaward rendered may be entered in any coumdgurisdiction, or application may be
made to such court for confirmation of the awarde Tees and costs of the arbitration shall be eplially by the parties, unless otherwise
determined by the arbitrator. Each party shalldsponsible for its own attorneyfees, costs and expenses, unless otherwise degerbyy the
arbitrator.

19. ASSIGNMENT

Neither this Agreement nor the rights or the oliliyes of any party under this Agreement shall lmged or otherwise disposed of by s
party, except to an affiliate of Cott Corporatiamthe case of Buyer) or Crown Holdings, Inc. (e tase of Supplier), without the prior
written consent of the other party, which conséatlsot be unreasonably withheld. An indirect edt change of control of any party in |;

or in fact shall be deemed an assignment of thizé&ment by such party. Subject to the foregoingipians of this Section 19, this
Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to thefiteof the parties hereto and their respectivaessors and assigns. All rights available
to one Buyer under this Agreement in respect giutchases shall be available to any other Buyezspect of such other Buyer’s purchases,
and all rights available to one Supplier under gseement in respect of its sales shall be avigiledany other Supplier in respect of such
other Supplier’s sales.

20. CURRENCY
Unless otherwise expressly indicated, all dollapants in this Agreement refer to lawful currencyJsfited States of America.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on thied2d/sof December, 2010, but with effect as oflbe
day of January, 2011.

CROWN CORK & SEAL USA, INC. COTT CORPORATION

By: /sl Thomas T. Fischel By: /s/ William Reis

Name: Thomas T. Fischer Name: William Reis

Title:  Vice President Title:  Chief Procurement Officer

By: /sl Jerry Fowden

Name: Jerry Fowden
Title:  Chief Executive Officer

17
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Schedule 1(g)
[***]
[***]
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Schedule 1(h)
2010 Actual Volume; 2011 Forecast Volume

[**] [Schedule redacted — 2 pages]
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Schedule 1(j)
Specifications
[***] [Schedule redacted — 27 pages]
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Schedule 3(a)

Prices

Prices throughout the Term of this Agreement dtalas set forth in this Schedule 3@J)bject only to those changes that are expressly
provided for in this Schedule 3(a).

. NORTH AMERICA AND MEXICO INITIAL PRICES

The initial prices for the cans and ends to be keghpy Supplier under this Agreement for North Aioa and Mexico (based gir*] ) shall
be:

[***]

During the Term, the Prices for Products shall djested to reflect [changes (increases or decrpge&s .

1. [***]

M. [***

V. [***]

V. [***]

VI . UK INITIAL PRICES

The initial prices for Cans and Ends to be supphg&upplier under this Agreement for the UK (baset**] ) shall be:
[***]

VI [7*¥]
VI [7*4]
IX.  [*¥]
X. [***]

XI.  PAYMENT TERMS

Buyer shall pay for all Products delivered pursuarthis Agreement withifr**] of invoice. Supplier shat**] and Buyer shall makg**]
payments.

XIl. MONTHLY RECONCILIATION
(4]
XI. [#4]
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XIV. EXAMPLES
See attached Exhibit 2 for examples of price chafigs.
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EXHIBIT 1 TO SCHEDULE 3(a)
[***]
[***] [Exhibit redacted — 7 pages]
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EXHIBIT 2 TO SCHEDULE 3(a)
[***]
[***]
[***] [Exhibit redacted — 15 pages]
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Schedule 4(a)
Designated Locations and Freight Rates
[***]
25



*** |Indicates a portion of the exhibit has been omited based on a request for confidential treatmensubmitted to the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The omitted portions have bedited separately with the Commission.

Schedule 6(c)
Six Sigma

GMP'’ s/Facility Maintenance— Supplier will comply with standard FDA recommedd&ood Manufacturing Practices, “GMP’s”, at all
production, warehousing and any intermediate looaticontrolled by the Supplier, handling materialbe supplied to Buyer. These
requirements include, but are not limited to, cleess of the locations, proper sanitation (as epiate), compliance with personal hygiene
and proper attire policies, hairnet policies, “ea¢lry” policies and “no loose items above the wa@icies”. Suppliers will maintain current
training and GMP review records for all employerd maintain appropriate documented pest contratiesland programs.

Locations and Location Changes- Supplier will inform Buyer of the address and tean persons of each location for which Buyer siggobl
materials are produced, warehoused, or otherwisetaized; and to which specific Buyer group faaht (including copackers) each of these
locations provides materials. Supplier will requegsproval from Buyer for any and all proposed clesngf production location, Warehousing,
etc., as related to the specific receiving Buyeilifees (including copackers), prior to effectthie change.

Site Inspections— Buyer reserves the right to periodically, anchwitt prior notice, inspect all facilities relatedSupplier Buyer supplied
materials for “GMP” and Quality compliance. Buyeserves the right to pre-inspect “new” or addedtions of Supplier production,
warehousing or locations associated with handlfngaterials to be supplied to Buyer.

Shipping of Out-of-Standard Materials — Supplier will inform and request approval fromyBu Corporate Purchasing and Buyer Technical
Services, in advance of shipping to Buyer, any kmowaterials with Quality and/or supply matters tediato Buyer supplied materials,
regardless of the Supplier interpreted severitthefMatter. Buyer reserves the right to inspect@nfuirther evaluate these materials prior to
Supplier shipping to a Buyer facility.

Can Body, Can End and Associated Packaging ChangesSupplier-supplied Cans, Can Ends and associaigdging and shipping
materials (i.e. pallets, tear sheets, strappirm) @ill be in accordance with previously agreedmgtandards. Where standards are not
established, the materials will be of acceptablal@®uy as determined by Buyer.

Any and all changes to Cans, Can Ends, associatddiging and/or shipping materials from those wgheed upon established parameters;
or in cases where parameters are not currentlplesttad, changes from those materials currentlpdetceived, must be reviewed and
approved via Buyer Corporate Purchasing. Such asangy include, but are not limited to, can
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or can end design or dimensional Changes, raw ratéor can or can end production, internal enatoelkings, et al.

Can and Can End Quality— Supplier will establish and maintain a procediueh that individual Supplier production facilitiedl provide
“conformance to specification” supporting test tedata to all specific Buyer receiving facilitiéacluding copackers) and Buyer Technical
Services, at an agreed upon frequency and to agpmddetail, initially established to be “weekl§¢y the following identified “Critical
parameters”: (Note: These test results should beteth with indications of the mean, specificatiangmeters, upper and lower control limits
of the process and standard deviations {or “Siglaagls}).

[***]

In addition to the above physically measurable p&tars, Buyer and Supplier (both acting reasonaiblyin good faith) will mutually
establish acceptability parameters for the follayéttribute data. Once parameters are establishgaplier must run all cans to the Buyer
approved standards. COTT PPG or a designated esqiadise of COTT PPG must sign off such standards.

Can Litho Graphics Clarity and Print Legibility
Can Litho Register
Can Litho Color(s)

Buyer also reserves the right to establish accépfmrameters for these physical attributes:

Can Dings
Can Dents

27



*** |Indicates a portion of the exhibit has been omited based on a request for confidential treatmensubmitted to the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The omitted portions have bedited separately with the Commission.

Can Scratches and
Can Creases

Buyer reserves the right to refuse and/or retur@upplier [***] Quality issues, either at the tinoé receipt of the materials, or as a result of
poor performance level of these materials. [***{;fuation of incoming Supplier supplied materiaifl tae at a frequency of Buyer’s
discretion. In a timely manner, Supplier may prevéipporting evaluation results for questioned radte

Commitment to Continuous Process Improvement/Six 8§ima— In keeping with Buyer’s internal Continuous Pregémprovement/Six

Sigma initiatives, Buyer is requiring all of its aliers to adopt similar initiatives of ContinuoBsocess Improvement in all aspects and areas
of their business relating to manufacturing andveey of supplied materials, services provided bodiness relations with Buyer. The target
reduction in variance for process standard deviatido attain a goal of “Six Sigma” with measuraplogress.

Note: Six Sigma variation is defined as “3.4 defectsmélion”. Buyer Suppliers will periodically be as#te¢o provide the current standard
deviation data or “Sigma status” of certain operai Responses to these requests must be suppBeger within a reasonable period of
time and backed-up by supporting data on the psp@ssnecessary.

Supplier will cooperate with efforts made by Buyreseeking to reduce variation in product qualitgl ervice to Six Sigma performance
levels. Supplier will have individuals participagiim the Buyer’s Six Sigma training sessions aiitiatives and will integrate Six Sigma
methodologies into Supplier’s problem solving pagatk.
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Schedule 6(e)

Service Personnel
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[***]
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TERMINATION OF SUPPLY AGREEMENT
AND RELEASE

THIS TERMINATION OF SUPPLY AGREEMENT AND RELEASEHis “Termination Agreement”) is made as of Decenfer
2010, by and between Crown Cork & Seal USA, In€r@wn”), and Cott Corporation (“Cott”).

BACKGROUND

A. Crown and Cott are parties to a certain Supmye®ment executed November 12, 2003 and effecsiwd danuary 1, 2002, as
amended (the “Agreement”), pursuant to which Crewpplies and Cott purchases aluminum beverage cans.

B. The parties desire to terminate the Agreemdfacttve December 31, 2010.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreemeatdorth below, intending to be legally bound, plaeties agree as follows:

1. Termination of AgreementThe Agreement is terminated as of December 310 Zthe “Termination Date”). The termination of the
Agreement shall not affect each party’s continuebtigations of confidentiality under the Agreemesttany other obligations that, by their
terms, are intended to survive termination of tlgge®ment.

2 . L***]

3. General Mutual Releas€rown, for itself, its affiliates, subsidiariesiccessors, and assigns, and their respectivaatiseofficers,
agents, attorneys and employees, hereby releaddsraner discharges Cott, its affiliates, subsid® [***] successors and assigns, and their
respective directors, officers, agents, attornegsemployees, from any and all claims, liabilitiesuses of action, demands, damages, and
remedies which Crown has, has had or may in thedutave against such parties arising from anyadlrattions, omissions, occurrences or
events of any kind and nature related to the Agesgnoccurring on or before the date hereof, exotudlaims against Cott for the payment
for product and breaches of any confidentiality ontments or other provisions intended to survive Supply Agreement.

Cott, for itself, its affiliates, subsidiariglg**], successors, and assigns, and their respectivaatseofficers, agents, attorneys and
employees, hereby releases and forever dischampeemCits affiliates, subsidiaries, successorsasgigns, and their respective directors,
officers, agents, attorneys and employees, fromaadyall claims, liabilities, causes of action, @eals, damages, and remedies which Cott
has, has had or may in the future have againstgaities arising from any and all actions, omissjatcurrences or events of any kind and
nature related to the Agreement, occurring o



before the date hereof, excluding warranty andrimagy claims for products and breaches of any dmnfiiality commitments or other
provisions intended to survive the Supply Agreement

4. Confidentiality: Crown and Cott mutually covenant and agree thetérms of this Termination Agreement shall bet lsgqictly
confidential and that neither they nor their ageaisployees, attorneys, officers or directors stiialtlose such information to any other
person without the prior written consent of theeotparty, except to the extent that such disclogirehall be required by law or court order,
including any SEC or other financial disclosurdax reporting obligation; or (b) is made upon thguest of a partg’accountant or auditor
insurer, who first agrees to maintain the confidgity of this Agreement. In the event that anytpas required by law or court order to
disclose this Agreement, it shall, prior to sucéctbisure, provide the other party with prior writtgotice and a reasonable opportunity to
challenge such disclosure by appropriate measpregided such notice and opportunity to challengert prohibited by law or court order.
Such notice shall set forth the information abbig Agreement that the party proposes to disclbseidentity of each person to whom the
information is to be disclosed, the statute or llegghority purportedly requiring the disclosuradahe circumstances pursuant to which
disclosure is proposed to be made.

5. Governing Law This Termination Agreement shall be governedy eonstrued in accordance with the laws of théeSiBNew
York. The parties hereby attorn to the non-excleigivisdiction of the courts of the State of Newrk.0

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused thdy duthorized representatives to execute this Teation Agreement as
of the date first written above.

CROWN CORK & SEAL USA, INC COTT CORPORATION

By: /sl Thomas T. Fische By:  /s/ William Reis

Name Thomas T. Fische Name William Reis

Title: Vice Presiden Title: Chief Procurement Office

By: /s/ Roger L. Shepat
Name Roger L. Shepar
Title: Vice Presiden- Global Procuremer




EXHIBIT 21.1
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF COTT CORPORATION

OCO~NOUIEWNE

Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Direct or Indirect

Name of Subsidiary Organization Percentage of Ownershi
Cott Holdings Inc Delaware 10C%
Cott USA Finance LLC Delaware 10C%
Cott USA Corp. Georgia 10C%
Cott Beverages In¢ Georgia 10C%
Northeast Retailer Brands LL Delaware 51%
Cott Vending Inc Delaware 10C%
CB Nevada Capital Inc Nevada 10C%
Interim BCB, LLC Delaware 10C%
Northeast Finco Inc Delaware 10C%
Cott NE Holdings Inc Delaware 10C%
Caroline LLC Delaware 10C%
Cliffstar LLC Delaware 10C%
Cott U.S. Acquisition LLC Delaware 10C%
Cott U.S. Holdings LLC Delaware 10C%
Star Real Property LL! Delaware 10C%
Cott IP Holdings Corp Delaware 10C%
BCB International Holding Cayman Island 10C%
BCB European Holding Cayman Island 10C%
Cott Acquisition Limited United Kingdom 10C%
Cott Acquisition LLC Delaware 10C%
Cott UK Acquisition Limited United Kingdom 10C%
Cott Retail Brands Limite United Kingdom 10C%
Cott Europe Trading Limite United Kingdom 10C%
Cott Beverages Limite United Kingdom 10C%
Cott Limited United Kingdom 10C%
Cott Nelson (Holdings) Limite: United Kingdom 10C%
Cott (Nelson) Limitec United Kingdom 10C%
Cott Private Label Limite: United Kingdom 10C%
Cott Retail Brands Netherlands E Netherland: 10C%
2011438 Ontario Ltc Ontario 10C%
804340 Ontario Ltd Ontario 10C%
Cott Embotelladores de Mexico, S.A. de C Mexico 90%
Mexico Bottling Services, S.A. de C.’ Mexico 10C%
Servicios Gerenciales de Mexico, S.A. de C Mexico 10C%
Cott do Brasil Industria, Comercio, Importaca Brazil 10C%
Exportacao de Bebidas e Concentrados

Cott International Trading, Lt Barbados 10C%
Cott International SR Barbados 10C%
Cott (Barbados) IBC Ltc Barbados 10C%
Cott Investment, L.L.C Delaware 100C%
967979 Ontario Limite Ontario 10C%
156775 Canada In Canade 10C%
Cott (Hong Kong) Limitec Hong Kong 10C%
Cott (Shanghai) Trading Co., Lt China 10C%
Cott Maquinaria y Equipo, S.A. de C. Mexico 10C%
AD Personales, S.A. de C. Mexico 10C%

This entity also does business as Cott Beveragés Q8tt International, Cott Concentrates and RCaGnternational, each of which is
a division of Cott Beverages Ir



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Filener 333-151812, 333-122974,
333-108128, 333-56980 and 333-166507) and FornfF8Number 333t59617) of our report dated March 15, 2011 relatnthe financia
statements, financial statement schedule and thetieeness of internal control over financial repay, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Tampa, Florid:
March 15, 201:




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jerry Fowden, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Cott Corporation

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatominy untrue statement of a material fact or don#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgding the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentgilsi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@ All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl Jerry Fowde!
Jerry Fowder

Chief Executive Office
Dated: March 15, 201




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Neal Cravens, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Cott Corporation

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatominy untrue statement of a material fact or don#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgding the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentgilsi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@ All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/s/ Neal Craven
Neal Craven:

Chief Financial Officel
Dated: March 15, 201




EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 ASADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION
906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

The undersigned, Jerry Fowden, Chief Executivec®ffof Cott Corporation (the “Company”), has exeduthis certification in

connection with the filing with the Securities aadchange Commission of the Company’s Annual Repoftorm 10-K for the year ended
January 1, 2011 (the “Report”).

The undersigned hereby certifies that to the bielsisctknowledge:

The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934; and

The information contained in the Report fairly gets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the
Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executisdctrtification as of the 1%  day of March, 2011.

/sl Jerry Fowde!
Jerry Fowder

Chief Executive Office
March 15, 201:




EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 ASADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION
906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

The undersigned, Neal Cravens, Chief Financialg®ffof Cott Corporation (the “Company”), has exeduhis certification in

connection with the filing with the Securities aadchange Commission of the Company’s Annual Repoftorm 10-K for the year ended
January 1, 2011 (the “Report”).

The undersigned hereby certifies that to the bielsisctknowledge:

The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934; and

The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of the
Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executisdctrtification as of the 1%  day of March, 2011.

/s/ Neal Craven
Neal Craven:

Chief Financial Officel
March 15, 201:




